TRI-CITY HEALTHCARE DISTRICT
AGENDA FOR A REGULAR MEETING

OF THE PROFESSIONAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
April 12, 2018, Thursday
12:00 Noon— Assembly Room 1

Tri-City Medical Center, 4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056

The Committee may make recommendations
to the Board on any of the items listed below,
unless the item is specifically labeled “Informational Only”

Page Time Requestor/
Agenda ltem Nos. Allotted | Presenter
Call To Order/Opening Remarks 2 min. | Chair
Approval of Agenda 1-3 2min. | Chair
Public Comments 5 min. | Standard
NOTE: During the Committee's consideration of any Agenda item,
members of the public also have the right to address the Committee
at that time regarding that item.
Ratification of Minutes of the March 2018 Meeting 4-10 2 min. | Committee
New Business
Consideration and Possible Approval of Policies and Procedures 11-13 Committee
Patient Care Services
1. Abbreviations, Use of 14-21
2. Automatic Stop Orders Policy 22-23
<l Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis Procedure — 24-27
tracked changes
Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis Procedure - 28-29
clean copy
4, Emergency Department Standardized Procedure 30-36
5. Fall Risk Procedure and Score Tool Procedure 37-48
6. Infusion Pump Syringe or PCA Module System with 49-51
Guardrails Procedure :
7. Infusion Pumps, Intravenous Therapy Policy 52-54 !
8. Point of Care Testing Competency Assessment 55-56
Procedure
9. Power Injection with Peripherally Inserted Central 57-58
Catheter (PICC) Procedure
Administrative
1. Non-Beneficial Treatment 399 59-61
Unit Specific
Behavioral Health Services
1. AMA Discharges 62-63
2. Managing the Medical Record for ED visits 64-65
3. Notification of MediCal Beneficiary of Denial of Benefits 66
4, Notification of Responsible Persons 67
) One to One Observation of Patients 68-70
6. One to One Patient Supervision 71
7. Orientation of New Patients 72-73




9. Patient Belongings

10. Patient Discharge Types

11. Patient Responsibilities

12. Patient Satisfaction Surveys
13. Psychiatric Advanced Directive
14, Release of Information

15. Role of Medical Staff Leadership in Behavioral Health

Services
16.  Scabies Lice Fleas in the BHU
17.  Scope of Service - Behavioral Health Unit
18. Smoking Guidelines for Behavioral Health Unit
19. Solicitation of Patients/Referrals to Self
20. Telephone Use
21. Treatment of Patients
22. Unit Staff Meetings
23. Utilization Management
24.  Visiting in Behavioral Health Unit
25, Vital Signs
26. Washer Dryer Use

Infection Control

1. Department Specific Infection Control Behavioral Health

Services-I1C 7

Women & Newborn Services

1. Breast Milk, Pumping, Handling and Storage of
2. Formula Feeding Procedure
3. Infant Feedings - tracked changes

Infant Feedings — clean copy
Formulary Requests

Albuterol/lpratropium inhaler
Bupropion

Combivir

Darunavir

Droperidol

Exparel

Fluticasone inhaler
Fluticasone/Salmeterol inhaler
Genvoya

[pratropium inhaler
Lansoprazole solu-tabs
Medium chain triglycerides
Mepivacaine

Nitroglycerin 0.3 mg and 0.6 mg sublingual tablets
Nitroglycerin 0.4 mg spray
Raitegravir

Salmeterol inhale

Tivicay

Verapamil SR

e
75-79
80-81
82-83
84
85
86-90
91-92

93-95
96-98
99-100
101
102-104
105-107
108-110

111-114 |
115-117

118

119-120

121-122

123-124 |
125-126 |

127-144

145-157 |

158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176

Motion to go into Closed Session

2 min.

Committee

CLOSED SESSION

a. Reports of the Hospital Medical Audit and/or Quality Assurance

30 min.

Chair




| ST NG \I 1ISain o \Jdlcl.y WIS JCLLIVI D& I\JJ}
' b. Conference with Legal Counsel - Significant exposure to
| litigation

(Government Code Section 54956.9(b))

8. Reports from the Committee Chairperson of any Action Taken in 10 min. | Chair
Closed Session (Government Code, Section 54957.1)
9. Comments from Members of the Committee 5 min. | Committee
10. The next meeting of the Professional Affairs Committee of the Board 1 min. | Chair
is on May 10, 2018 . ’
11. Adjournment 1 min. | Chair




sselD) J030all(]

-olqnd 8y} JO siaquisw WO SJUSLWILLIOD
Buipsebas ydeibesed ay) peas sseIS J0}oalI(]

‘wajl ayy

JO UONBISPISUOD S 3IULIOT

a10j0q 21iqnd ayy 0}

)sala)ul Jo way Aue uo 9ygqnd
2y} 10 siaquiawl Aq sjuawwo?)) ‘¢

YN

Jopang Aq papuoaas pue
320j|eyos 10103l Aq apew sem
epuabe ay) aacidde o0} uonop

sselo) 10jsalg

"SUONEDIIPOW IO SUOKIPPE OU S19M
alay) ‘epuabe ay) pamalnal SaRIWIIOD BY |

epusaby jo jeroiddy 'z

"1 wooy Alquiassy ul Wd €0:Z1
Je 1apio 0} Buneaw ay) pajjed sseis 1oy0aiQq

a|qisuodsay
(s)uosiad

suonepuswWIIOddY
juonoy dn-mojjo4

uogssnasig

oidoj

"puUOgG UBSNS PUB UI)3I(] BASIS JUISQY SIaquualy

ZUSH UaLey pue eusng enujed ‘opeyay Aor ‘1piey

23wy 'SelBd 2IpUB) '90USIMET BYSO 19|12 BIGa(] ‘UOS|BN |SUHN0Y) ‘UBJS0d uny ‘yoseoy uoT ‘Aaanpd esi)y ‘uglied aunsuyg Juasald sivyio

quawabeuep %siM 10} Jojanq IS ‘ybneuene)

BIOJBW PUE 122110 93uedwo) JaIy) ‘Zni) sope ' dA IS /AND 'ZInyos ucleys | 000 ‘suoisbuiat joog juasaid siaquay Gunop-uon

‘B

1] PUE uosuyor “Ic 'eznog “iq 'opJejuod ‘1q 'yoo|ieyos AleT Jojoalq ‘leUdun BineT Jojoanq ‘ssels) auuy YybiaT Jojoallq Juasald Sioquualy

8102 ‘8 Ydien
sajnui uoissag uadp

Bunasy 29111WILLI0Y SIIBLY [BUOISS3J01d

1ajuag |esipajy AND-11L

14dvdd




8180€0 SaINUIN Ovd

elancy eou)ed

‘reaoidde

pJeog Joj pemuo} Buinow satoijod
3y} anoidde o) uonow ay)
papuooas Bznog “i(] PUE panoLl
1Y Jojoaaq parcidde
alam sainpasoid pue saiod
ale) jusijied ay] NOILOV

‘lencadde

pieog Joj piemio} anow |im Aojjod ay)

puUEB pPa10ali0d aq |[IM SIY] "B UonI3s Q Way
U0 JOWID {edijewweld Joujw e sem siay |

Aoljod SIY] UO UOISSNISIP OU Sem Blay |

‘Aem awes ay} Ajjoexa

SHEYD 3y} Ul pajuswinaop st )i jey} pajejs
19||134 gaag—|e} ysauw [e1bins ayj ssop
foBajed Jeym uo pasiel sem uolsanb v

‘sasodind aoueljdwod Joy ase|d ul Aajod
sy} aAeY 0} paau am Jng ainpadsold siyy
sasn Ajaiel |ejidsoy ay) Jey) paiiield sem |

swiay| |eaibing

pauie}ay Jo uonuaald

-SJUNOY) JUBWINSU|
pue sdieys ‘sbuodg 4

19pualng ajes ‘g

Aaljod
Bunioday pue Bupjoely
10V 301Aa( |eSIpay 3jeS ¢

Koljog Jequispy Ajwie
B 0] paseaonaq JO 9ses|9y |
S2INPadsold
pue saloijod a1e) juaned

S2INPa20id pue S$aIv)|0d
jo [eaciddy a|qissod
puUE UOIEISPISUO) ‘B
ssauisng maN 'S

ZYaH uauey|

“‘Bugaw

s, Jjuow }se| ul yuasaid Jou sem
ays se BuljoA woJj UIBISqe SSeID)
J010811q ‘g1L0g Aensga{ wouy
sajnuiw ay; aaoldde 0} uonow
3} PapUOoIas ||PYIUN 1030341
pue panroidde )oo||eyas J012ang

‘gL0zZ ‘g Auenigad wol} sspnuiw ay} anoclidde

0} UolloW B 1o} Paj|ed SSelin) 1ojoai(

‘810z Aenugag
JO sanuiw Jo uoneoyney ‘v

a|qisuodsay
(s)uosiad

SUOJEpU3aLILIOIdY
juonoy dn-mojjo4

uoissnasiq

oido]




8180€0 SSINUIAN Dvd

elianc) enued

el1ang epuled

a|qisuodsay
(s)uosiad

‘lenoidde pieog

1o} pyemuo} Buinow Aaijod ay)
anoidde 0} uonow ay) papuodas
BZNOG "J(] PUB PaAOLL ||BYoHIA
lopang -panoidde siam saoijod
ujjeaH |eloiaeyag ayl :NOLILIV

‘lenosdde pieog

10} piemuo} Buiaow Adijod sy
anoidde 0} uonjow ay) papuooas
BZNOS “I(J pue pasow ||sYaN
1010341Q "panoidde sem Aojjod
SAlelISiuIWPY 9Y L INOILOV

‘MO|3q paioads se awos
jo uondaoxa ay) yym Auojeue|dxa-yas ae
11| Sy} W1 pauleuod salalod NHE 10 IS0,

‘S30UBISWNDND
uaasaloun Jaylo 10 Aejap ao1A1as

e 0} anp jasdn ale Ajwej /sluaned jey)
sjuapioul Lo Jayaq uonen)is ay} buew uj
$90UR)SUI SNoJawnu u padiay pey pue yels
ay} Ag Apuanbayy pasn Buiaq si weibosd siy)
1ey) Builes Ag papuodsal eiosely “esodind
SIY} 10j pasn Aay) sjunowe 3} pue weiboid
siY) op syuawpedsp ysiym umop Bupjoel)
ale am )1 uonsanb e pasod eznog "iQ

sayoleag bunonpuo) /
Bunasyy Ajlunwwo) g
JUSLLISSASSY |EDIUD °G

ue|d jusuneas |
Areuydiosipniny NHE ¥

Aanod Bumsin
nun ujesH |ejoineyag ‘¢

s|eaddy pue
S30UBABLIO) Ypm sjuaidioay

leDipanl Bunsissy g

sabueyn payoel|
-suonenalqqy panoiddy
Adon ues|)
-suoneIA2Iqqy panolddy |
S92IA19G Yj|eaH |elolAeyag

(ueid 20198 181G
Asunio) 4HSS -welboid
AISAQDDY 80IAIDG SS309NS 'L

$a12110d aAljeqysiuiuipy

ayivadg jun

SUCEPU3WILLO0D3Y
juonoy dn-mojjo

uoISSNISI]

ojdoj




14

8180E0 SANUIN Ovd ™

Ul 8NSS! UB 0] SPUSE aU0 JaYI0 3y} 3liym
nun siy} w sjuaijed Jo snjels ayy uo }osyo o)
Buipunos sAeme si uosiad auo jey) aInsus
M SIy] Jleyaq Jay/siy uo punol o} uossad
Jayjoue sajeubisap (MHIN) J93I0AA YlESH
[ejuay B ‘JuspIoul ue s 819y} aseo U] {(NSD
Ul saINLIW 09) NHE Ut sajnuiw G Alaaa yun
ay) ul Buipunos yejs st alsy| “ainpasoud
Buipunos yeys nHg aui pauleidxa Ajny Aor

‘syun ay} w pJezey buidduy e
st )l aouis NHg wl pabeinoosip aie sdoyy dij4

‘NHE 01 papiwpe aq o} jusied e
10} |B1IB)al 1031Ip B axew ueo ueisAyd ||es
-Uuo 3y} 1ey} epew uopesyue|s e sem a1ay |

‘Aamns D ise}

3y} 40 uolepuawiweoal o ped se Jno uaxe)
2JaM NHEG Woly sIoop ay) ‘alep UoIsIAa)

)se| ay) wo.y aosuis pajesldnp jou si Aaijod
siy} ‘os|y “Aoijod siy3 ur uoneosyueo Japaq
Joj jno pajjads aq pinoys NS pue NHG 8y}
18U} PapUBWILIOD3) SEM )i pue (NSO JO) Wis)

PIO) N0 UBXE} 89 PINOYS NDId Wi} ay)

suolnesald juswado|3 G|

sjuaned Joj spo?) ssaiq vi

Buuueld abieyosiq ¢l

NHQ 0} suoIssIWPY 19310 Z)
a|npayos Aeq L

spunoy Ajejeg
|ejuawuoaaug Ajeq ol

Sulepn?)

wioolyieg NSO /NHY
Jo Buibuey) pue Buluea|d ‘g

Ayjenuapyuod ‘g
sbuibuojag
jusijed Wooy jusied

ajqisuodsay
(s)uosiad

suollepuswwioday
juonay dn-mojjo4

uoissnasiqg

oido]




Bl18ng) epued

a|qisuodsay
(s)uosiad

‘leacidde pieog

1o} pseauoy Buinow saijod auy
anoidde 0} uonow ay} papuodas
UOSUYOr "I PUB PaAOW (YU
Jojoaaq "panoidde alam saioijod
UCHUINN pue pood syl ‘NOILIVY

S
spuodsail00 JI Se Uey} ssa| ABS pinoys uey} |
19)ea1b piom ay] 'JUSWSSSSSE |RUOKHLINU
10} BLIBJLID By} uc odA} Jousw sem siay |

‘Aayjo0d sI} UO UOISSNOSIP OU SEM 3JaY L

jun ayy

8180€0 seInUN Dyd *°

|000j01d Sjuaiied
oleLaL) JiNpY Joj 3UBD
PUB JUDWISSASSY UOHUINN 2
Buiers
ueilisiq uonuInN [eauy |
uoRUINN pue poo4

10IABY2g 2ANINESSY pUB
anissaibby Jo juawabeue ‘Gz

sjusijed p|oH Aejunjoaud] $2

BUAIID
uoIssIWpy Jun juanedu) gz

Auanoy
uapleo) Buung ssn 9soH 22

SpUNoy jusled :sjuaied
Jo uoisiARdNg |BIBURD) L7

JUaWIBAO JO Wopaalq (07
nun 8y} 10} pood ‘6L

juawneal |
Ul JUSLLIBAJOALY >__Em“_ 8l

elsiiD amco_mﬂ_oxw Ll

NHG us spiepuelg
A19jeg |BlUBWIUOIIAUT O]

m_._o_wm—u_._wEEOowm_
juonay dn-mojjo4

uoissnasig

oido]




BlIang emnujed

B112N0) BIDLEd

eliang enuied

9

8180€0 SaINUIN Dvd

‘|leacidde pieog Jo) piemio)
Buinow saioijod ay) anoidde

0] UONoLW BY} papuoIas |IBUIUIN
10}931i(] PUB PAAOW ¥20|[BYdS
lopang ‘pascidde asem
saloljod Aceuleyd ay| :NOILOV

‘lenoidde

pieogq Joj piemioy Bujaow

saioljod auy} anoidde o} uonow
3] papuoaas ¥o0|leyas Jojoaliq
pue paAow ||ayayp Jo3oa1Qg
‘pancidde sem Aoljod isa)n
uorsnju| JuanedinQ syl :NOILOY

‘leaocidde pieog

Jo} pienuo} Bunow sailjod ay
ancidde o} uonow ay) papuooas
B "I() pue paaow }oolieyos
10j081(Qq ‘panroidde alem
savtjod NDIN UL *NOILOY

"1abeuey jesiuyD

Jo/pue Joyoai(] Acewleyd ay) pejuod Aew
Yels ‘sIapio JNOYNIM SSPUISAO U0 8DUE)SISSE
annbai foeuwueyd ayj jl jey) pauLed sem )|

‘Ajeiowal auop
aq ueo (sulyoey Buisuadsiq pajewolny)
SINQV U0 uoned|yiou ayj jey) psjou sem }

‘Ao1jod S} UO UOISSNOSIP OU SEM 318y |

‘uopejsab yuow

auo jou Ajjenuassa si yoiym [enjdasuod jsod
SHO9M {7 9L} UO UOIIEDILIEID B SEM 818U}
pue pajoalod sem oidonoul jo Bulyads sy

‘(>) [oquAs 1021102 3y} 0)

apisinQ Aq paiedald
s||yay dwnd 202N
Buyoes | pue Buinedsy ¢
uoneledald uonedJpPal ‘g
spJepuels
|ELOISSAJOI4 pUe 2INSUBDIT 2
aulyoep
Buisuadsiq pajewolny |
Aseuwuseyd

SSNIANDY [0IU0D
pug uonuaAald uonoajuy |
i9jue9 uoisnyuj Juaneding

NOIN @y} ut {Anoy)
uoneayisse|D ualNed ‘v

NOIN
ul juswiubissy uaned ‘¢
uswdinb3g jesipapy
ajqeing jo Buuapip ‘g
sabueyn payoe.|
-NDIN 3yl Jo) BUSWID
abieyosiq pue uoissIWpy
Ado9 uean
-NIIN 3y} 10} eusjl)
abieyosiq pue uoissiwpy ‘|
NOIN

alqisuodsay
(s)uosiad

SUOIEPUIWIWIOITY
juogoy dn-mojjo4

uoissnasi(

aido])




8180€0 SaINUN Ovd 2

sSelIq) Jojoang

sselo) 10103

ssels) Jojoali(

JusluINOlpy ‘|

WdSZ:1 1e pawinolpe Buiaspy

'SIUSWILLOD ON

29pIwwo] sy}
JO SI8qWOIN WY} SjUBWIWOY) "0}

ssei) JojoanQ

SSEIL) 10)0all]d

‘INd 021 1B UOISSas paso|d
ojul o6 0} panosdde Ajsnowiueun

SEM ]| PUB PSPUODAS BZNOS
13 ‘POAOW ¥90]|BYdS 103031IQ

‘Uaye] suoljde ou alam alay |

uoISsag
paso|D Ul uaye] uonoy Auy
jo uosiadiey) ayy jo spoday ‘6

‘Wd Gl:¢
1e uoissag uad(Q 0} uInjaI SBRILIWOY BY |

uoissag uadp o} wn)ey ‘g

‘UOISSaS pasolD) o
06 o} uofjow e 10} payse |[BYouW J1010a1d

uoIssag pasoly "L

BlISNG) BloLled

18U 1010311 AQ papuodas
pue eznog ‘1 Aq paaow

se |eaosdde pieog o} pJemioy
anow o) panoidde sem adnoesd

Aoeaud jo aogou ay| :NOILOY

"Aoljod

sy} Ul pajoanos sem Jabeuew jo Buljjeds
ay| -"yieap jo sased ul Ajwey ayj GuAuou
10 Jo afi1eyo ul si suUoNoa1I0Y) JO Juswpedsg

yun

ay) ul auoAue Buimoj|e aiojaq aoueles|od

B Ulelqo SIO)ISIA 2INS ayeuwl 0} pasu ||ns
DIWDL 'SIONSIA 104 "NDd Ul 8jejol sjuspnis
Buisinu jey) pajeis A)janqg yoroy Lo

ajqisuodsay
(s)uosiad

SUOI}EPUSWWOIDY
juonoy dn-mojjod

uolissnasig

Jusijed paAjoau| aonsnfc
-paseadsa(] V¥ Jo ases|ay ‘€

Hoa0 ‘g 1ebuny
soullapINy
fojeg ssaualemy Apoisn) |
Jlun 81e) aaissalboay

SIOPUBA

aido ]




Ff 32 .

¢ Tri-City Medical Center

i o WGl s N i o D SO S o air S DRt s

PROFESSIONAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
April 12", 2018

CONTACT: Sharon Schultz, CNE

Policies and Procedures

Reason

Recommendations

Patient Care Services

1. Abbreviations, Use of

3 Year Review

Automatic Stop Orders Policy

3 Year Review, Practice
Change

Dialysis Procedure — tracked changes

Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal
Dialysis Procedure — clean copy

2.
3. Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal
4,

3 Year Review, Practice
Change

o

Emergency Depariment Standardized
Procedure

Practice Change

6. Fall Risk Procedure and Score Tool
Procedure

Practice Change

7. Infusion Pump Syringe or PCA Module
System with Guardrails Procedure

3 Year Review

8. Infusion Pumps, Intravenous Therapy
Policy

3 Year Review, Practlice
Change

9. Point of Care Testing Competency
Assessment Procedure

3 Year Review

10. Power Injection with Peripherally Inserted

3 Year Review, Practice

Central Catheter (PICC) Procedure Change

Administrative

1.  Non-Beneficial Treatment 399 NEW

| Unit Specific

Behavioral Health Services

1. AMA Discharges DELETE

2. Managing the Medical Record for ED 3 Year Review, Practice
visits Change

3. Notification of MediCal Beneficiary of
Denial of Benefits

3 Year Review

4. Notification of Responsible Persons

3 Year Review, Practice

Change
5. One to One Observation of Patients 3 Year Review, Practice
Change
6. One to One Patient Supervision DELETE
. . . 3 Year Review, Practice
7. Orientation of New Patients Change
8 Pastoral Care 3 Year Review, Practice
Change
. . 3 Year Review, Practice
9. Patient Belongings Change

10. Patient Discharge Types

3 Year Review

11. Patient Responsibilities

3 Year Review

12. Patient Satisfaction Surveys

3 Year Review, Practice
Change

13. Psychiatric Advanced Directive

3 Year Review

14. Release of Information

3 Year Review

1



Viedical Center " YOU

o TG iy A AR et

PROFESSIONAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
April 12, 2018
CONTACT: Sharon Schultz, CNE

Policies and Procedures Reason Recommendations
15. Role of Medical Staff Leadership in 3 Year Review, Practice |
Behavioral Health Services Change -
16. Scabies Lice Fleas in the BHU DELETE
17. Scope of Service - Behavioral Health Uit | Yo" feview, Fractice
18. Smoking Guidelines for Behavioral Health | 3 Year Review, Practice
Unit Change i)
19. Solicitation of Patients Referrals to self 3 Year Review
20. Telephone Use 3 Year Review
. 3 Year Review, Practice
21. Treatment of Patients Change )
. 3 Year Review, Practice
22. Treatment Planning Change )
. . 3 Year Review, Practice
23. Unit Staff Meetings Change
e 3 Year Review, Practice
24, Utilization Management Change
NP . . 3 Year Review, Practice
25. Visiting in Behavioral Health Unit Change o
. : 3 Year Review, Practice
26. Vital Signs Change
3 Year Review, Practice
27. Washer Dryer Use Change
Infection Control
1. Department Specific Infection Control 3 Year Review, Practice
Behavioral Health Services - IC 7 Change
Women & Newborn Services B
1. Breast Milk, Pumping, Handling and
Storage of DELETE
2. Formula Feeding Procedure DELETE
3. Infant Feedings — tracked changes 3 Year Review, Practice
Infant Feedings — clean copy Change
Formulary Requests
L Modification to Formulary
Albuterol/lpratropium inhaler Status
Bupropion Remove from Formulary
Combivir Remove from Formulary |
Darunavir Addition to Formulary
Droperidol Rermove from Formulary |
Modification to Formulary :
Exparel Status |
Fluticasone inhaler Remove from Formulary
Fluticasone/Salmeterol inhaler Remove from Formulary
Genvoya Addition to Formulary
Ipratropium inhaler Modification io Formulary

12



PROFESSIONAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
April 12", 2018

CONTACT: Sharon Schultz, CNE

Policies and Procedures

Reason

Recommendations

Status

Lansoprazole solu-tabs

Remove from Formulary

Medium chain triglycerides

Remove from Formulary

Mepivacaine

Remove from Formulary

Nitroglycerin 0.3 mg and 0.6 mg sublingual
tablets

Remove from Formulary

Nitroglycerin 0.4 mg spray

Remove from Formulary

Raltegravir

Remove from Formulary

Salmeterol inhale

Modification to Formulary
Status

Tivicay

Addition to Formulary

Verapamil SR

Remove from Formulary

13



@)Tri-City Health Care District
Oceanside, California

PATIENT CARE SERVICES

| ISSUE DATE: 03/97 SUBJECT: Use-efAbbreviations, Use of

REVISION DATE: 5/02, 12/02, 5/03, 12/03, 3/04, 4/06,
08/06, 07/09

Department Approval: 02118
Clinical Policies & Procedures Committee Approval: 04/503/18
Nurse Executive Committee Approval: 04/4503/18
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee Approval: n/a
| Medical Executive Committee Approval: 05/1503/18
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 06M5
Board of Directors Approval: 06/15
A. PURPOSE:
1. To provide optimal safety for patients and clear understanding of written medical communication

D.

by eliminating the use of potentially dangerous abbreviations and dose designations.

POLICY:
1. Tri-City Medical Center (TCMC) has adopted the Neil-Davis Med Abbreviations Neil-Bavis-Med
Abbrovial forabbroviations.
a. In addition, Pharmacy has adopted the Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP)'s
Error-Prone Abbreviations, Symbols, and Dose Designations for medication orders.
2. Abbreviations identified as “Do Not Use Abbreviations” by the Joint Commission are prohibited

for use in all orders and medication-related documentation that is handwritten (including free-
text computer entry) or on pre-printed orders.
3. Medication orders
a. If an unapproved abbreviation is used on a medication order or other written
communication for patient care, the ordering physician shall be contacted by the nurse
or pharmacist for clarification. The clarified order shall be documented in the medical

record.

b. Medication orders containing unapproved abbreviations shall not be dispensed by
pharmacy or administered by the nurse until clarified and the medication order re-
entered.

4. Changes to abbreviation references will be approved by the Pharmacy and Therapeutics

Commitiee (P&T), the Medical Executive Committee and the Board of Directors.

RELATED DOCUMENTS:

1. ISMP's List of Error-Prone Abbreviations, Symbols, and Dose Designations (20152043)
2. Joint Commission “Do Not Use” List (20172044)

EXTERNAL LINK(S):

1. Neil-Davis Medical Abbreviation - MedAbbrev.cem http://www.medabbrev.com/

REFERENCES:

1. The Joint Commission {June 20172044). Facts about the Official "Do Not Use" List. Retrieved
from www.jointcommission.org on March 7%, 2018Ap+i-8;
2045, https://www.jointcommission.org/facts about do not use list! hitp:Hwwwisintco

14



Patient Care Services
Use of Abbreviations
Page 2 of 8

Pl _.‘

he abbreviations, symbols, and dose designatiens found in

this table have been reported to ISMP through the ISMP
National Medication Errors Reporting Program (ISMP MERP) as
being frequently misinterpreted and involved in harmful
medication errors. They should NEVER be used when commu-

ISMP’s List of Error-P

demded Beaning

R
o™y
i
S
ot

- and Dose Designations

nicating medical tnformatien. This includes intemal communica-
tions, telephone/verbal prescriptions, computer-generated
labels, tabels for drug storage hins, medication administration
records, as well & pharmacy and prescriber computer arder
eniry screens.

Limperdinn

m || Micmgram Mistaken a5 “mp® e ‘mey® S
ABLAS, AU | Right el o, each ear | Mistalen as OD, 05, OU (ight eye, et eye, each eye) Tise “right ear,” “ieft ear” or "each ea”
[k 0m, 08; 06U Right eye, Teft eye/BAch eve | Mistaken as AD, AS, AU (right eax, |ef} ear, each emr) Lise: “right eye,” “lefl eye.” or “ench eye”
o BT Bedime Wistaken 25 “BI0" (twice dal} e Tedime®
& Tubie cenfimeters Mistaken as *u® (unls) llee Sl SRR
BiC™ Tescharge or ckconbnve Premature disconliowation of medieations f B/C {iotended to mean | s "discharge” and "discondinge”
"dzcharge”) has been misinlepreled & "decontnued” when
ST folowed by a st of discharge medications Bt |
W [ ibjedion Mistalen &z "IV or “mimjugubsr” tled heclios”
LW el Mtoon o w e el g "
i | RaF-ifiénglh’ Histakea 25 bediime e Tal-srength” or “hedtime”
| ks A bedtme, bous o zleg | Mitakes 25 bl sirenyl
1 n* Intemational unil Mistalen 2 Y (mtmvenmus) or 10 {len) lise "unik"
| od-or 2D Onee dafy Mistaken a5 “right mr'él]ﬂ-muhs deder), leading 1w oral fiquid lise "daly”
i s peﬁin_l;n__n' _ﬂfm'mide in'the gye
(iX] | Duange jokce | Wistaken #s 00 or 05 (right or left eye); dngs meam to be diuted | Lise "nemga juice”
| [k | in oronge juice may be given in The ey
o | By oot orally | The "os® ¢an be mislaken as el eye” (05-oculus sinister) Tze 7707 “by movth,” or “srly”
wd. or 00" | Erery gy | Hidaken s q.id, mpecially 7 the period after the “1° orihe tallof | Use “daily”
R k Tke *9" is misundersiood as an |
g ] Hightlydl bediime Wisizken a5 “qhr” o every buur (e wighty”
m | Kighilyorat bedtime Mistaken as “gh* {every hour} | Use Siably” or 21 bedtime”
q.ad.of DU By tther dy Wistaken as “q.d” {dail} or *q.id. (four Imes daib) ¥ the "% | Use "every other day® |
Py poocly wrillen | |
Y | Dady Mistaken s id. (four tines daiy) Use *dady”
EP e, | Every evening .6 PM Wistzhen a2z every 6 hous lise Sdady l § PA” or 5 PH doib”
: 3 SC mistaken a SL (cublingual); SO mistaken = *b every” the °q" » :
§C, 36, suh ¢ Substizneos in"szh ¢* kaslleeu(mi:tak:f}s " a(le.n.l: hepariz dose it ts Subcat” or Subautanepish”
ordered “sub g 2 bours before su misundersiood 25 every 2
R | heurs hefore surgery) :
! - ﬂ;ﬁm@ﬁihdﬁ) w¥% | Mataken az "55" §;| vt “s§ding seales” use "me-hal or
88? ﬁﬂm&rhwla Mistaken as selective-seralonin reuptake inhibitor Spell out sy scake (el
2 (1] | Stidiny seale tnsain Hictaken 2= Strong Sclution of lndine {Lugd's}
; 1] [ et dally: ! Hls_!__alﬂ 25 il lse "1 daiy”
TIW ot iw | 3 thmes a week | Hislaken o5 *3 times 2 day” or “Iwice in a week” lise "3 times weekdy” |
Uan* i Uit ! Misiaken 25 the numbey 0 or 4, cassing 2 10-fold overdose o e pui®
| | reater (e, 4Y seen & “A0° or du seen & W), mislaken
: g2 ¢ dose given In volume instead of units {eq., du seen s dee) |
3 ; Mistaken as und dasa kg, ditiszem 125 mg IV infusion "UD misin- | Use “6% direced® .
n: : kwc_‘ﬂ “"") : tmdsmmiul(w'm the eatire illlu?wa:uunl [hnh;li?a';e) :
deinled Meaning
T‘Imu Hitahen 25 10 my # the decimal point & not seen Do not use Irdling zers: fix dises
y expressed in whoie imbes
[ Bag | Wisiaken 2z 5 m ¥ e decimal pol £ 0ol ceen Ise zerg before a decinal poind when the
: __q_ﬂm_klcsﬁma'whduni
mg The pertod & unnecessary 2ad could be mstaken a Ahe number 1 # | Uise mg, md, ete. withowt a teminal
! : writlen poorly peried
] m kiig

rone Abbrev_igtions, Symbols, and Dose Designations (20152043)

L

4

i |

15



Patient Cara Services
Use of Abbreviations
Page 30f8

Place adequale space between the drip
name, dose, and urk of memore
Histaken 25 Tegretl 1300 mg
| The "m” & somelimes milaken 25 2 e o Ik 2oric, (kkinga | Place adequete space hetween th dute and
10 1o 100-fold overdose unl of measure
OO0 s becn miciaken 2 10,000 or 1000008 TO0BOOD s | Use commes or dosing unis 2 wr b |
been mistaken as 100,000 1,000, or use wurds suck = 100
Yiiogsand® or 1 "milin” te.improve
readabiiy
APAP i ggglgﬂnwhen Hol recognized as mdmhgphm Use complete ti_un un;
ARRA vidarhine Mistaken as cylambine (ARA C} lise complete driig name
AT zidmvudine {Refrovi) Mistaken s azathisprine or azireonam | lise complele drug namé
{174 Gempazine {prochiorperazine} | listzken 5 chibrpromazine | lise complele drug name P
OPT: Demerul-mnumﬂhume | Mitaken zs diphtheris-perlussis-telsnus (vaccing) hse complede dg fame
)1} Dikied (iclure of wiom, o7 | Mistaken s tiacture of opium \ise complele dug name
teodorized tincture of opivm
s {Pareguric) {
fict ydrochieric acid or Wistaden 2 polssiom chiaride lise compiete dun name unless expressed
ydrechloside (The " & misinterpreted s “i(") s asalt of a dna
| HET hydmcartisone. Mistaken ¢ hydrochlorathiaride Use complele tluu [ B
[[H14 hydrochiosothtaide. Mitaken 2t bydmeortiane (seen & HCT250 mg) Uise complete drup name el
MyS04™ i i_uanngnm _sulde Mitaken at mormhine sulfate Use complete drug name B
WS, MSer | morphine sulfate Eildm #s magnesium sufale lkf_ﬁmplde drup name
M I metholrexdle Hiiaken &z mitoxnione e complete drug name
HodL | Rovelinew wdl mllcmgaant | o anticangubant | lise enmplets drug name
l!.'._l_ﬂ_ precaiamide Mitaken 25 patient controlled snalgesia lise @glde dnig name
e ' propykbisuracd Wistaken 25 merapiopurine lse complele drug pame
T wu@ﬁlmh codeineHo 3 Miizken ac Eothymnine lse compiste drug name
| trisncookine Witaken as telmcaine, Mrendlin, cocaine lise complele drug name
| THK | THKase Wistaken as T'll?ﬁt lise camplele drug name
| ue pleminoqen aciwtor, | Wstaken as THRse (leneclegls), or less offen as anolfer
{ TPA o 1PA Acth %% tissue plasminngen a{dudnr davease (relaplose) Use complete g omnes |
J dncsufale Mistaken a5 mophine sulfate Ise complete drup name

bistaken as sedum nirprusside ||i:l|

Use complele drug name

| Mistaken a5 Horflex | lse complete drug name
| Wistaken as lvanz | lse complele drug
3 1 | Symbol for dram mistaken xs lise the melrc cystem
m Minlm | Symbe! for minim mistaken as “ml” a2
| xad For three doys Wistaken as *3 doses” Use or Jhree days”
>mi< Wiore than ad s than Wikt as mposie of Mended; molalenly e ncamec! Tise "more than” or “less than®
| symbol;"< 10" mistalen g “r
{ (el mesk) & iwadoses o Wistaken s The number 1 {e.0, 25 UNis/ 10 unts” meread as | Use ‘per” rather than o shh mask fo
cates “per’ *25 units and HI™ units) sepaale dies
2] N L Tebes T le ot” Er
1 { And [ Fedes T | e od”
TR | Pis orand Helaen o5 7 | Bse "mod”
T Howr Histaken as a 2em0 (e, q7° seen o q 20) lse ;" 'il,__tr_jwm’
Pos 2em, nall sign . Histaken as numersis 4, 6, 8, and 9 E:ﬁgcrie wtenl using whole words

“These ablrevistions are inchuded o The Join Comerissior’s *miimum ™ of dangesous abbreviations, acxnyme, and symboks that must be indded on an arganization’s

o Net Use® ket, eflective Jaruary 1, 2004, Visit vaww jgira commission.ong for more iné ormation abowt this Joint Comrmission requirement

© ISP 2015, Permissian is granted ts repreduce matesial with proper atuibutien for imernal tse vrilhin healtbcare smganizations. Other repredudtion i pratidited
witheut writen permissian frofn ISHP. Regrt actuat and patential madicatin emars ta the ISHP Hatienal Medfication Errars Repartiog Prsgram (BMPMERP) via the

Web a1 yrowismp ax) o by caling 1-800-FAIL-SARE).

Yrelsmpog

ASMP)

16



Patient Care Services
Use of Abbreviations
Page 40of 8

i "”T

he abbreviations, symbols, and dese designatiens found in

this teble have been reported to ISMP through the ISMP
National Medication Errors Reporting Program (ISMP MERP} as
being frequently misinterpreted and involved in harmful
medication errors. They should NEVER be used when commi-

: "
el Mpeamning

nicating medical information. This includes internal communica-
tions, telephone/verbal prescriptions, computer-genarated
\abals, labels for drug storage bins, medication administretion
records, as well as pharmacy and prescriber cemputer order
entry screens.

i | Microgrom Mistaken &5 “mp” lice Tmeg”
AD, 55, AU | [Baht eor, 1ef Zar, each ear | Misleken m OD, GS, OU {sight eve, lefl eye, each eye} Tise Tight ear,” "kt 201, or “each i
" 000500 | Right o 1 eye, cacheye | Mistoken o AD, AS, AU (nght ear, et e, ench ear) Tise “ight eye,” "Il &ve,” or "each oye” |
2 BT | Bedtime Hislaken @ "BID" (twice daly) e Dediime” 79
[ Cublc comfimelers { Mizlaken = “u* {unls} | ke "l £
Dit Disetgimge or disconinus | Premalure discontinustion of medicdun: ¥ I/ (intended to mean ["Dse “Gischarge” amd *Gecontine” |
; | *dnchage”) has been misiniemreled & "dscontined” whea
; fokowed by a kst of dicharge medicalions |
[ s ] Injedion Histaken 2 V" o “intigugulsr” lkce "injection”
7] [T Histaken a5 “TW" or "IV lise “ranasal” or “HAS®
s Hal-sirzaqth | Vitaen = bedtime e “ol-siengl or Dediine”
s At bedime, haws of skeep | Mistaien 15 haff-sirengh ch
i = nternafioal wmil Histaien a5 IV (irzvenous) ec 10 {ten) e Smits”
] od. or 0D Oeeadade | Hedaien o “riohd eue” (L oedue devios deordine in oeel fngd
53 E‘m" i AR e i
= DELETE T
od. o 00*
The § & METTasIong & an 1
o | Hightly a bedtime Histaken m “ohr” or every hour e “nighty”
R | Hightly or af bedtime Mistaken a5 "gh” {every hour} Use "nightly” or "t bedime”
ol arB00™ | Feery otber day Wislaken 2 " (dah) o “gid (fow limes daiy) Kéhe 0" & | Use "every ather day”
: poorl vrilen | it
i [T Wistaken 25 qdd. (Foar limes daily) ke “daly”
| wPMelc. [ Erryevening A6 PM | Wistaken m every 6 hous T iy 6 PR T PH
ety | Sintmes o bt s (ea. ey . Ol [P —
| ondared a‘sutl 0 2 howrs befare surgery” misundersiond as every 2
bouss before surgery) 4
= Siiding scae (osuln) w¥% | Hitaken &5 55" sE| o0l "sSding scake;” use “me-hal” or |
5 {apathecay) it
SSRt Stiding scale regularinsclin | Histaken & selecive-servlonm reuptake inhiilss Spall oot Shding seake (fosuin)”
58 Shling seade imsulin. Midaken x Strung Sulution of Indine (Lugal's) .
| i O daily T Miaken s W lse ™1 daiy”
W o fiw 13 times a weak [ Witaken 55 3 times 2 day” or “ice i 2 veek” Tk 7 limes weely”
Oora™ Ut Wistaken 2 the number 0 o1 4, rawsiog a 10-fokd vendoce or ke “unit”
it urm!er(e.g., 4 seon & 40" or du seen & Y4"); mistaken s
| “cc* s doze given in valume inslead of unds (e, 4u seen a5 der)
e A T
| Mistalen & 10 mg i the decima) point &s Aol seen Do ot wse triling zerss for dises
; expressed Jn whole numbére
05 mg Mictzien 2 5 mg i the decimal paint & nat seen Use zerg before  decimal o when the
4 : tese & bess than & whale unit
|\ mg The period i unnecessary &nd could be miloken 2 the cumber | | Use mg, mL, eic. withou a terminal
L wrilen poordy period

17



Patient Care Services
Use of Abbreviations
Page 5of 8

Indess) 48 g

| Togretal 30 mg

] kiktaken 2 Inderdd 140 map
Misiaken = Tegretof 1300 mg

Place adéquale space between the drig
| | pame, dose, and unk of maxsure

. 10my
_Himml

The “m" & zomelimes misiaken & & zem or Iwo zeros, risking a
10- 1o 100-fold overdose

| TR0 wniks
100000 mils

Place adequale guce hetween the dose md 1

unk of measure i

00 Fix Feen misiaken &s 10,000 or 1,000,000; 00000 Ex:
been mistaken as 100,000

bbreviale drug names when commuzicating medical Infmmdim. Enmahs of drug name abbrevistions involed in medwm emors include:

Tse commas for dosing units & er sbove
UIII!'nmmnhmdl & 10 "hogand”
o 1 "milion" tn impruve resdabifity

on’

APAP “ T acelamingghen Net recagnized & acetaminophen e complele drog rama
) | Wladne [ Mistelen a cylxahins (ARA C) ke complele drug reme |

AT loviding (Redrvir) Histalken = arthingrine or artreiam Use complele drig rame

| CPI Compayine (prochlorperaring} Mislaken 2 chicpromazine Lse complele drg rame o
[aa e DemirPhenesgan Thovzine | Wislaken 2 diphther-pertussi-teancs (acsine) llce complete drug rame |
{ ] Tiksted lingiure of opium, or | Mislaken ¢ tincture of ophum Use complete drug rame
i l!mﬂwimd)!mdm of tgfm
| (] ydrachiuric acid or | Mislaken & potassium chioride Lse complete drug rame unless sxpressed
| hydrochloride {The “H® is misinlerpreled as K"} maskofadug

DELETE

| Histaken s patient controlied analgesia { Lse complete drag rame
Histaken s mecaptepurine | lse complete drog mme |
n 'ﬁlend wnh codeine Nn. 3. | Histaken 2 lolyronine T Use camplele dug fame l
TG | wémciokne Histalen 2= lelracaine, Mrensin, cocaine lkse complele drug rame |
™K TR | Michen s CTPA Use complele drug Tame |
i Miistalen = morphine so¥ate Uise complete drug rame i
Mistaken 2 sodium nitepruess! tke complele drig nams
Mistaken & Norflex Uise complele drej name
Histaken 2 lavanz lise complete drup name
Symbol for dmm misisen a5
Minim Symbol for minim midtaken & *ml” i T
i JFor three g Mislalen 5 "3 dgses” | Dse or thres days”
Sand< | Geslerthonvandlersthan | Mislaken o opposie Inlnndul Tisiakeny ese incomect se “greater 1han™ o “less than”
symbaf; "< 107 mistaken a5 “4
" Floash ma) ml_s two doses o Wiiakea 25 the numbe | (ea. “25 unis/ID unils” mevead & | Use per’ relher (han o sEh markia.
sakes pir “25 unds and N oniks) separde dies 55 b
el ML Wistaken & *2° lse IR e
; A bt [ Wistake 2 *° e “and’
+ Plos o and | Mitaken o 4" lse ol
. Hour | Histaken e a zere (e.q, g2° seen as q 20) | Yee ",” "5," or “hour” |
Dorm 2em, na 18 | Mitaken = numenks 4, 6,8, nd 8 ;':‘;ggi?:-m |
4Ttese abbrasiatins are included on The Jaint Commission's *menimum §si™ of dangerous abbreviations, acrmns, and symbols thal mist be included o
n organization's “Clo Wit e list, etiecsive Janvary 1, 200. Vist www jgmoammissiongeg for more infortration about this Jaint Commission tequirement.
€ ISKP 113, Permixsion is granted to repreduce material with groper attribetian for intemal ise within healthcare amanizatisms. V'SM ;
Ovher szqneduction i prahibded witheet weitien perméssion frem (SMP. Repan actval and patential medication ermars b the ISHP SN ASCA
Hational Merication Errers Reparting Pragram (ISHP MERF) via the Web af www.snnerg o by caliing 1-500-FAIL-SAF{E). wwwsmp.arg

18



Patient Care Services
Use of Abbreviations
Page 6 of 8

Facts about the Official “Do Not Use” List of Abbreviations
June 9, 2017

The Joint Commission’s “Do Not Use” List is part of the Information Management standards. This
requirement does not apply to preprogrammed health information technology systems (for example,
electronic medical records or CPOE systems), but this application remains under consideration for the
future. Organizations contemplating introduction or upgrade of such systems should strive to
eliminate the use of dangerous abbreviations, acronyms, symbols and dose designations from the
software.

Official “Do Not Use” List'

DoNotUse | Potential Problem Use Instead |

U, u (unit) | Mistaken for “0” (zero), the Write "unit" i

| __number “4” (four) or “ec” | |

IU (International Unit)  [Mistaken for IV (intravenous) or| Write "International Unit" I

| the number 10 (ten)

Write "daily”

Q.D., QD, q.d., qd (daily) Mistaken for each other ‘ Write "every other day”

@.0.D., Qcc)’lt:)l;ec:.z.ad,)qod(every | Period after the Q mistaken for |
y i"l" and the "O" mistaken for "I"|

| "Decimal point is missed

Trailing zero (X.0 mg)* : ; Write X mg
Lack of leading zero (.X mg) | ' Write 0.X mg !
" M8 | Can mean morphine sulfate or | Write “morphine sulfate”
magnesium sulfate ':
MSO, andMgSO, | Confused for one another | Write "magnesium sulfate”

1 Applies to all orders and all medication-related documentation that is handwritten (including free-text
computer entry) or on pre-printed forms.

*Exception: A “trailing zero” may be used only where required to demonstrate the level of precision of
the value being reported, such as for laboratory results, imaging studies that report size of lesions, or
catheter/tube sizes. It may not be used in medication orders or other medication-related
documentation.

Development of the “Do Not Use” List

In 2001, The Joint Commission issued a Sentinel Event Alert on the subject of medical abbreviations. A
year later, its Board of Commissioners approved a National Patient Safety Goal requiring accredited
organizations to develop and implement a list of abbreviations not to use. In 2004, The Joint
Commission created its “Do Not Use” List to meet that goal. in 2010, NPSG.02.02.01 was integrated
into the Information Management standards as elements of performance 2 and 3 under IM.02.02.01.

For more information, contact the Standards Interpretation Group at 630-792-5900 or complete the
Standards Online Question Submission Form.

https://www.]ointcommission.org/facts about do not use list/
Retrieved March 7, 2018

19



Patient Care Services
Use of Abbreviations

Page 7 of 8

H H 1 £ 1]

4
WV i7 The Joint Commission

Facts about the Official “Do Not Use” List

In 2001, The Joint Commission issued a Sentine! Event Alert on the subject of medical abbreviations, and
Just one year later, its Board of Commissioners approved a National Patient Safety Goal requiring
accredited organizations to develop and implement a list of abbreviations not to use. In 2004, The Joint
Commission crealed its “da not use” list of abbreviations (see below) as part of the requirements for
mesting that goal. In 2010, NPSG.02.02.01 was integrated into the Information Management standards
as elements of performance 2 and 3 under IM,02.02.01.

Currently, this requirement does not apply to preprogrammed health information technology systems (for
example, electronic medical records or CPOE systems), but this application remains under consideration
for the fulure, Organizations contemplating introduction or upgrade of such systems should strive to
eliminate the use of dangerous abbreviations, acronyms, symbols, and dose designations from the

software.
Official “Do Not Use” List’
Do Not Use Polential Problem Use Instead
U, u {unit) Mistaken for 0" (zero), the Write "unit"

U (International

QD., D, qd, DELETE

QO0D,Q0D qo
(every other day) " and the "CF mistaken forf 1
Trailing zesa {X.0 mg)* Decimal point is missed Wirite X mg
Lack of leading zero (X mg) _ Write 0.X mg
MS GCan mean morphine sulfate or Write "morphine suliate"
magnesium suffale Write "magnesium sulfate”
MSQ, and MgSO, Confused for one another

L Applies to ali orders and all medication-related documentation that is handwritten (including free-text
computer entry) of on pre-ptinted forms.

*Exception: A “trailing zero" may be used only where required to demonstrate the level of precision of the
value being reported, such as for laboratory results, imaging studies that report size of lesions, or
catheterftube sizes. It may not be used in medication orders or other madication-related documentation.

The Natlonal Summit on Medical Abbreviations

Participants at the November 2004 National Summit ocn Medical Abbreviations supported the *do not use™
list. Surmmit conclusions were posted on the Joint Commission website for public comment. During the
four-week comment period, the Joint Commission received 5,227 responses, including 15,485 comments
Mare than 80 percert of the respondents supported the crealion and adoption of a *do not use” list This
spacial one-day Summit brought together representatives of more than 70 professional socletles and
assoclations and special interest groups to discuss medical errors related to the misuse and
misinterpretation of abbreviations, acronyms, and symbols. The objective of the Summit was to reach
congensus on the scope and implications of this serious and complex problem and to find reasonable
solutions using all of the avidence at hand and in the mos! dispassionate way possible,

The National Summit en Medical Abbreviations was hosted by The Joint Commission with ils co-
conveners American College of Physicians, American College of Surgeons, American Dental Association,

20



Patient Care Services
Use of Abbreviations

Page 8 of 8

American Hospital Association, American Medical Association, American Society of Health-System

Pharmnacists, Institute for Safe Medication Practices, and United States Pharmacopeia. Approximately 50

professional societies and associations and selected interest groups participated in the Summit
representing every perspeclive.

For more information
Contfacl the Standards Irterpretation Group at (830) 752-59800, or complete the Standards Online
Question Submission Form at http:/iwww. [ointcommission org/Standards/OnlineQuestionFormy/,

DELETE

@n4

21



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

PATIENT CARE SERVICES
ISSUE DATE: 01/03 SUBJECT: Automatic Stop Orders
REVISION DATE: 06/03, 07/09, 03/14 POLICY NUMBER:—N.L5
Department ReviewApproval: 0118
Clinical Policies & Procedures Committee Approval:  044402/18
Nurse Executive Council Approval: 0414403/18
Pharmacy and Therapeutic Committee 044403/18
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 021140318
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 03/14
Board of Directors Approval: 03/14

A. PURPOSE:

1. To provide guidelines for discontinuing narcotics, antibiotics, chemotherapeutic agents, and all
other drugs.
B. POLICY:
1. In the absence of a specific physician/Allied Healthcare Professional (AHP)'s order indicating
the desired duration of therapy, automatic medication expiration is as follows:
a. Narsotics-Opioids and benzodiazepines - seven (7) days
b. Antibiotics — seven (7} days
&:¢c. Intravenous (IV) acetaminophen- 24 hours (not to exceed 72 hours)
ed. Ketorolac- five (5) days
g-e. Paralytic agents (i.e. cisatracurium, rocuronium, pancuronium, vecuronium)- 48 hours
f. Albumin- 24 hours {exceptions: status post Gardias-Coronary Artery Bypass Graft,
hypotension during dialysis, hepatorenal syndrome, spontaneous bacterial peritonitis;
not to exceed 14 continuous days)
g. Mannitol — seven (7) days
h. Phytonadione (Vitamin K) — seven (7) days
i. Iron sucrose — maximum cumulative dose 1,000 mg within 14 day period
k.  All other medications — 30 days
k.  All medication written to be given for “duration of stay” shall be interpreted as the
physician requesting therapy for the entire inpatient stay unless otherwise stated.
2. The expiration date(s) of these medications shall be monitored via the Pharmnet Pharmacy
System.
3. The ordering physician/AHP will receive a renewal notice in their inbox to renew the medication

alda = afa sraoaocl i haun o

electronically via computerized physician order entry (CPOE).

= padapithin bun dave hataro tho modieadan o cionnagAod

22



Patient Care Services Policy-Marual
Automatic Stop Orders—HE

Page 2 of 2

Medications that are not renewed shall not be given after the renewal date noted on the renewal
form for each medication.

Any medications put on “hold” by the physician/AHP shall automatically be discontinued by the
nurse or pharmacist and must be recrdered by the physician/AHP if and when the medication is
resumed.

23



@) Tri-City Medical Center

Tracked Changes

Patient Care Services

PROCEDURE: CONTINUOUS AMBULATORY PERITONEAL DIALYSIS (CAPD)} EXCHANGE;
CONTINUOUS CYCLERGY¥CLIC PERITONEAL DIALYSIS (CCPD) EXCHANGE
Purpose: To outline nursing responsibilities in, trouble shooting and disconnecting a patient that

has a Liberty # Cycler (CCPD), and responsibilities in CAPD exchanges,
trouble shooting and dlsconnectlng a patlent that has a Fresenius Stay Safe CAPD

Supportive Data:

To maintain aseptic technique when disconnecting patients from a CAPD or CCPD
device in addition to maintaining the CAPD and CCPD treatment for the patient when
San Diego Dialysis, Inc nurses are not available within the facility.

Equipment:

Mask, Gloves, Del Clamps™, IV Pole (CAPD), Spring Scale (CAPD), Chux Pad, Blue
plastic hemostats

A POLICY:

1. Tr|-C|ty Medical-CenterHealthcare District (TCHD) has contracted San Diego Dialysis
Services, Inc. to administer peritoneal dialysishemedialysis-on-4-Ravilion-in-room 476

including set up and support for inpatients receiving peritoneal dialysis as needed-in-eur-main

2. The resnonsibility of the San Diego Dialysis Services, inc., per their contract, will be to:

a.

b.

Prep, connect, monitor and disconnect patients requiring hemedialysis-and-peritoneal
dialysis.

Administer medications as ordered by privileged TCMGHD physicians during
continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and automated peritoneal
dialysis (APD) treatments.

3. The CAPD and continuous cycler peritoneal dialysis (CCPD) trained nurses-whe-are
#amed—m—GAP-D—a—GGP—DandﬁAPD- wnll he responsnble for trouble shootlng alarmsand-elampmg

net on the leerty cycler ette-
4, Nurses-whe-are-trained-in-CAPD or CCPD trained nurses; may also be required to disconnect

pentoneal d1alysns patlents from the leerty Cycler@ Stay Safe ®APD-fer—the—l=rbe#y~GyeleF®

when the San Diego Dialysis Servuces
Inc.'s dialysis nurses are unable to disconnect patients due to immediate proceduressiaffing

shertagee or time constramts related to in house hemodialysis patients. Nurses-working-in-3

5. Emergency equipment shall be readily available at patient's bedside ir-sase-effor emergency
disconnection for both CAPDARD and CCPD patients includes:

a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

ef.

2 Masks (nurse and patient)
Gloves

Chux

1 Stay Safe® Cap

1 Stay Safe® Organlzer

Blue plastlc hemostats (n‘ patlent's catheter does not have a clamp)

B. PROCEDURE:
1. CCPDARD for the Liberty Cycler®:
Department Clinical Policies Nurse Exacutive F.}';;r::a:ly';:: ET::::]!:L Pmrﬁ"’:]:"a' Board of
Reviaw & Procedures Committes C oni?nitm Committes Committes Directors
04"’161;,2?’ 12, 07112, 02/18 08/12, 03118 nla 08/12, 03118 09/12 09112

24



Patient Care Services
CAPD, CCPD — Trouble-Shooting Procedure

Page 2 of 4

a.

Trouble-Shooting:

i. Refer to the Peritoneal Dialysis Manual lecated-in-3-Ravilien-to trouble shoot any
alarms on Libertythe-NewtonlQ® Cycler.

ii. If unable to trouble shoot alarms on the APD for the Liberty Cycler®: by using the
Peritoneal Dialysis Manual, contact the on call Dialysis nurse at 1-855-726-

or-to-disel _
Disconnecting with the Liberty CyclerNewioniQ-4-Lead-Set with Stay Safe® Patient
Connectors:

i. Place a new Stay Safe® Cap in the notch on the Organizer.

fi. Turn the blue end of the Patient Connector clockwise until it stops.

il Push in the biue end of the Patient connector until it stops.

iv. Close the clamp on the Extension Set.

V. Insert the Patient Connector into the Organizer.

vi. Remove the protective cover from the new Stay Safe® Cap.

vii. Unscrew the Extension Set from the Patient Connector.

viii.  Connect the Extension Set to the new Stay Safe® Cap and remove from
Organizer.

ix. Connect the protective cover on the used Patient Connector=.

o - = = - - -

X. Document the CCPD output,-Hocated-in-the-right-hand-corneref-the-NewioniQ®
Cyelersereen); color, and clarity of fluid using the 1&0 form in Cemner. All CCPD
patients must have the CCPD output recorded after every completed CCPD
exchange.

Xi. If patient is to be discharged after CCPD is completed, an assessment shall be
completed by the San Diego Dialysis Services, Inc.'s nurse prior to discharge.

C. PROCEDURE:
CAPD Stay Safe single exchange

21,

The following supplies are needed to perform the Fresenius Stay Safe CAPD
Exchange Procedure:

25



Patient Care Services
CAPD, CCPD - Trouble-Shooting Procedura

Page 3of 4

i. Bag of Stay Safe Delflex solution with appropriate dextrose percent (%), as
ordered by the physician

il Stay Safe® Organizer

iii. Stay Safe® Cap(s)

iv. Masks for everyone in the room

v, Personal protective equipment (PPE) for (Sstaff}, {Ppatient/Ccaregiver as
instructed by dialysisHT Nnurse}

vi. Liguid antimicrobial soap and/or alcohol based hand sanitizerge!l
vii.  Intravenous (IV) pole

vili.  Spring scale (optional)

ix. Organizer holder (optional)

.....

b. Apply masks to all persons in the room; staff applies remaining PPE except
gloves.
c. Wash hands with liquid antimicrobial soap and water per Infection Control

Procedure: Hand Hygiene - IC 8;-FMS-ES-1C-1-166-000C.
d. Apply non-sterile gloves (staff).
i. Place a new Stay Safe® Cap in the notch on the Organizer.

ii. Unelamp-patient's-catheteranrdTurn the blue end of the Patient Connector
clockwise until it stops.

jiii. Push in the blue end of the Patient connector until it stops.

iv. Close the clamp on the Extension Set.

kv.  Insert the Patient ConnectorRremiertubing-and-any-otherclamps-that-drain
directly into the Organizerdrainage-bag.

26



Patient Care Services
CAPD, CCPD - Trouble-Shooting Procedure

Page 4 of 4
the-seﬁ-paﬂ-ef-the—tebmg-)—ﬂaat—ﬁhe—mest—d&st&lRemove the protectlve cover
from the new Stay Safe® Cap.patient-{the-Snap-disconnect-axtensionsethas
bve-Srap-diccerpesis-

vii. UnscrewEnsure-that the Extension Set fromtubing-is-correstlypositionad-in the
Patient Connector.

iilviii. ConnectDel-Clamp™-closure-by-pressing the Extension Set totubing-firmly-inte
the new Stay Safe® Cap and remove from OrganizerBel-Glamp™-tubing
ameunt—ef—éalysate—that—was—éumg—theAP-D—ﬁll—Connect the protective cover
on used Patient Connector.
=000-e-the-tRlaulad

v-X. Document the CCPDARD output, color, and clarity of fluid using-thel&Oferm in
Germerthe medical record. All CCPDARD patients mustshalt have the
CCPDARD output recorded after every completed CCPDARD exchange.

Xi. If patient is to be discharged after CCPD is completed, an assessment shall be
completed by the San Dlego Dlaly5|s Serv:ces. Inc.' s nurse pnor to dlscharge

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1. Infection Control Procedure: Hand Hygiene -IC 8
G:E. REFERENCE(S):
1. Fresenius Liberty Cycler Termination of TreatmentSafe-Lock-Rremier-Rlus ARD-Exchange
Procedure FMS-CS-iiHi-1-530-110C4 18-DEC-2013245-045A-Jure-1,2007
2 Fresenius Stay Safe CAPD Exchange Procedure FMS-18-liGS-HI-1-530-082C 18 DEC-
201 22460408, Jupe 2007
3. Fresemus Pentoneal Dmlysns Procedure Manual-Clinical Services 1-200-0001-SD
4

27



(@) Tri-City Medical Center

Clean Copy

Patient Care Services

PROCEDURE:

CONTINUOUS AMBULATORY PERITONEAL DIALYSIS (CAPD) EXCHANGE;
CONTINUOUS CYCLER PERITONEAL DIALYSIS (CCPD) EXCHANGE

Purpose:

To outline nursing responsibilities in, trouble shooting and disconnecting a patient that
has a Liberty ® Cycler (CCPD), and responsibilities in CAPD exchanges, trouble
shooting and disconnecting a patient that has a Fresenius Stay Safe CAPD exChange
exchange

Supportive Data:

To maintain aseptic technique when disconnecting patients from a CAPD or CCPD
device in addition to maintaining the CAPD and CCPD treatment for the patient when
San Diego Dialysis, Inc nurses are not available within the facility.

Equipment:

Mask, Gloves, Del Clamps™, |V Pole (CAPD), Spring Scale (CAPD), Chux Pad, Blue

plastic hemostats

A. POLICY:

1.

Tri-City Healthcare District (TCHD) has contracted San Diego Dialysis Services, Inc. to
administer peritoneal dialysis including set up and support for inpatients receiving peritoneal
dialysis as needed.

The responsibility of the San Diego Dialysis Services, Inc., per their contract, will be to:

a. Prep, connect, monitor and disconnect patients requiring peritoneal dialysis.

b. Administer medications as ordered by privileged TCHD physicians during confinuous
ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and automated peritoneal dialysis (APD)
treatments.

The CAPD and continuous cycler peritoneal dialysis (CCPD) trained nurses will be responsible

for trouble shooting alarms on the Liberty cycier.

CAPD or CCPD trained nurses may also be required to disconnect peritoneal dialysis patients

from the Liberty Cycler® Stay Safe ® when the San Diego Dialysis Services, Inc.'s dialysis

nurses are unable to disconnect patients due to immediate procedures or time constraints
related to in house hemodialysis patients.

Emergency equipment shall be readily available at patient's bedside for emergency

disconnection for both CAPD and CCPD patients includes:

2 Masks (nurse and patient)

Gloves

Chux

1 Stay Safe® Cap

1 Stay Safe® Organizer

Blue plastic hemostats (if patient’s catheter does not have a clamp)

~ppoow

B. PROCEDURE:

1.

CCPD for the Liberty Cycler®:
a. Trouble-Shooting:
i. Refer to the Peritoneal Dialysis Manual to trouble shoot any alarms on Liberty®
Cycler.
ii. If unable to frouble shoot alarms on the APD for the Liberty Cycler®: by using the
Peritoneal Dialysis Manual, contact the on call Dialysis nurse at 1-855-726-9720
b. Disconnecting with the Liberty Cycler with Stay Safe® Patient Connectors:
i. Place a new Stay Safe® Cap in the notch on the Organizer.
ii. Turn the blue end of the Patient Connector clockwise until it stops.
iii. Push in the blue end of the Patient connector until it stops.
iv. Close the clamp on the Extension Set.
V. Insert the Patient Connector into the Organizer.
vi. Remove the protective cover from the new Stay Safe® Cap.
vii. Unscrew the Extension Set from the Patient Connector.
vii.  Connect the Extension Set to the new Stay Safe® Cap and remove from

Department
Review

Clinical Policies
& Procedures

Nurse Exscutive
Committes

Pharmacy and
Therapautics
Committee

Medical
Executive
Committee

' Professional

Affairs
Committee

Board of
Directors

04/06, 06/12,
1217

07/12, 02/18

08/12, 03/18

n/a

0812, 0318

09/12

09112

28



Patient Care Services

CAPD, CCPD - Trouble-Shooting Procedure

Page 2 of 2

Xi.

C. PROCEDURE:
1. CAPD Stay Safe single exchange
The following supplies are needed to perform the Fresenius Stay Safe CAPD Exchange

a.

=

Proced
i

ii.
iii.
iv.
V.

vi.
vii.
viil.
iX.

Organizer.

Connect the protective cover on the used Patient Connector.

Document the CCPD output, color, and clarity of fluid using the 1&Q0 form in
Cerner. All CCPD patients must have the CCPD output recorded after every
completed CCPD exchange.

If patient is to be discharged after CCPD is completed, an assessment shall be
completed by the San Diego Dialysis Services, Inc.'s nurse prior to discharge.

ure:

Bag of Stay Safe Delflex solution with appropriate dextrose percent (%), as
ordered by the physician

Stay Safe® Organizer

Stay Safe® Cap(s)

Masks for everyone in the room

Personal protective equipment (PPE) for staff, patient/caregiver as instructed by
dialysis nurse

Liquid antimicrobial soap and/or alcohol based hand sanitizer

Intravenous (IV) pole

Spring scale (optional)

Organizer holder (opticnal)

Apply masks to all persons in the room; staff applies remaining PPE except gloves.
Wash hands with liquid antimicrobial soap and water per Infection Control Procedure:
Hand Hygiene.

Apply non-sterile gloves (staff).

i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
V.
vi.
vii.
viii.

Xi.

Place a new Stay Safe® Cap in the notch on the Organizer.

Turn the blue end of the Patient Connector clockwise until it stops.

Push in the blue end of the Patient connector until it stops.

Close the clamp on the Extension Set.

Insert the Patient Connector into the Organizer.

Remove the protective cover from the new Stay Safe® Cap.

Unscrew the Extension Set from the Patient Connector.

Connect the Extension Set to the new Stay Safe® Cap and remove from
Organizer.

Connect the protective cover on used Patient Connector.

Document the CCPD output, color, and clarity of fluid in the medical record. All
CCPD patients must have the CCPD output recorded after every completed
CCPD exchange.

If patient is to be discharged after CCPD is completed, an assessment shall be
completed by the San Diego Dialysis Services, Inc.'s nurse prior to discharge.

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

1. Infection Control Procedure: Hand Hygiene - IC 8

E. REFERENCE(S):
1. Fresenius Liberty Cycler Termination of Treatment Procedure FMS-CS-ii-1-530-110C4 18-DEC-

2013

2. Fresenius Stay Safe CAPD Exchange Procedure FMS-15-11-1-530-082C 18 DEC-2013
3. Fresenius Peritoneal Dialysis Procedure Manual-Clinical Services 1-200-0001-SD

29



@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

PATIENT CARE SERVICESSTFANBARDIZED-RROCEDURES-MANUAL
Emergency
STANDARDIZED PROCEDURE: EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT

L POLICY:
A. Function: To define appropriate utilization of specific orders and order sets, otherwise referred
to as standardized procedures.
B. Circumstances:

1. Setting: Tri-City Medical Center, Emergency Depariment (ED)

2. Supervision: An Emergency Services Physician will be available for consultation.
Registered Nurses will immediately contact the physician for any patient who is critical in
nature or unstable. Physician contact will not be delayed in order to initiate or complete
Standardized Procedures.

3 Patient contraindications: None

C. Documentation:

1. The Registered Nurse (RN) will document all interventions performed into the electronic
health record (EHR).

2. The RN will enter all orders performed per the standardized procedure in the EHR.

Il. PROCEDURE:
A. Abdominal Pain between the ages of 10 - 25 :

1. In patients who present to the ED with abdominal pain, the RN shall order the following:
a. Labs:

i. CBCD

ii. Metabolic Panel, Comprehensive

ii. Jic Blue

iv. Serum HCG in females
b. Nurse Orders:

i. Routine urinalysis with reflex culture
c. Medications:

i Ondansetron (Zofran) 8 mg oral disintegrating tablet (ODT) times one (1),
prn for nausea in patients 16 years of age and older.

B. Abdominal Pain, ages 26 and older :

1. In patients who present to the ED with abdominal pain, the RN shall order the following:
a. Labs:
i. CBCD
ii. Metabolic Panel, Comprehensive
i, Jic Blue
iv. Serum HCG in females aged 26 to 55
b. Nurse Orders:
i Routine urinalysis with reflex culture
(X Medications:

i Ondansetron (Zofran) 8mg ODT times one (1), PRN for nausea, in
patients 16 years or older.

d. Additional orders if patient presents with upper abdominai pain (above umbilicus
or abdominal pain of unknown location) to rule out cardiac conditions:
i. Cardiology:
1) EKG STAT
a) Print old EKG if available
e B T e e e e [ o B e e
Procedures Commitiee Medicine Therapautics Commities Committes Committea
e | o oanae Qi 1S | oent,12na, | osit1, 1113, | oera 0214, | oe1, 02114, o615 06/11, 02114,
06117, OEM4 A Pt 05/17 0115077 | 06/15,1047 | 0615, 03/18 0715

30



Patient Care Services
Standardized Procedure: Emergency Depariment Admission

Page2of 7
b) STAT ED EKG's will be completed with a goal of 10
minutes of being ordered and delivered directly to ED
physician to rule out ST-elevation Myocardial Infarction
(STEMI)
| i Labs:
1) Creatine Kinase (CPK)
[ 2) CK, Mb Fraction (CKMB) if CK elevated
3) Cardiac Troponin (Troponin 1)
4) Lipase level
C. Asthma with Wheezing:
1. In patients who present to ED with wheezing and a stated history of asthma, the RN
shall order the following:
a. Nursing Orders:
i. Pulse oximetry monitoring
b. Medications:
i. Albutercl 5 mg nebulized times one (1) with |pratropium 0.5 mg nebulized
times one (1) per Respiratory Therapy, in patients who are greater than
11 years of age.
D. Chest Discomfort in Patients over 30 vears of age:

1. In patients who present to the ED with chest pain, pressure, squeezing, shortness of
breath, pain or discomfort in other parts of the body including one or both arms or
shoulders, upper back, neck, jaw, abdomen, or female, elderly or diabetic patients with
atypical symptom suspicious for acute coronary syndrome (ACS) such as diaphoresis,
nausea, dizziness, altered level of consciousness the Registered Nurse (RN) shall order
the following:

a. Cardiology:
i. EKG STAT
1) Print old EKG if available
2) STAT ED EKG's will be completed with the goal of 10 minutes of
being ordered and delivered directly to an ED physician to rule out
STEMI.
b. Labs:
i. CBCD
ii. Metabolic Panel, Comprehensive
ii. Creatine Kinase (CPK)}
iv. CK, Mb Fraction (CKMB) if CRK elevatedabeve-rermal
V. Cardiac Troponin (Troponin 1)
c. Nurse Orders:
i. Bring patient to first available bed
il Initiate at least one peripheral intravenous (V) saline lock
iii. Initiate cardiac monitor
iv. Initiate oxygen 2 liters per minute (LPM) per nasal cannula (NC) to
maintain oxygen saturation by pulse oximetry (SPO2) greater than 92%
d. Medications:
i Aspirin 325 mg one (1) tablet by mouth (PO) chewed times one (1) if not
already administered
ii. Nitroglycerin (NTG) 0.4 mg sublingually, every five (5) minutes times
three (3) doses for ongoing chest pain
e. Radiology:
i. X-Ray Chest 2 View
1) If patient is female and under 55, shield pelvis
E. Dysuria:

1. In patients who present to the ED with dysuria, hematuria, urgency, or frequency, the RN

shall order:

31



Patient Care Services

Standardized Procedure: Emargancy Department Admission

Page 3 of 7
a. MNurse Orders:
F. Exiremity Trauma:

1.
compromise.

2.
ribs.

38

i Routine urinalysis with reflex culture
ii. Urine HCG for females age 10-55

Notify physician STAT for open fractures, dislocations, or neurological or vascular

Consult physician for x-ray orders for back, skull, facial bones, chest, pelvis, hips, and

In patients who present to ED with injuries that are suspicious for fracture, the RN shall

order the following:

i. Acetaminophen

a. Medications:
1)
2)

b. Radiology:

For ages 3 months-11 years, acetaminophen 15mg/kg PO or PR

times one (1), round to nearest 5mg

a) Maximum 2600mg/day

b) Hold if the patient has received Acetaminophen or
Acetaminophen containing products in the past 4 hours.

For 12 years and older, acetaminophen 650mg PO or PR times

one

a) Maximum 3000mg/day

b) Hold if the patient has received Acetaminophen or
Acetaminophen containing products in the past 4 hours.

i Acromioclavicular Joints

ii. Ankle complete 4 views left
iii. Ankle complete 4 views right
iv. Heel left OS Calcis

A Heel right OS Calcis

vi. Clavicle left
vii. Clavicle right
viii. Elbow left

ix. Elbow right
X. Femur left
Xi, Femur right
Xii. Finger left

xiii. Finger right

xiv.  Foot 4 views left

XV, Foot 4 views right

xvi.  Forearm left

xvii.  Forearm right

xviii. Hand 4 views ieft

xix.  Hand 4 views right

XX. Hip Left, with AP Pelvis
xxi.  Hip Right with AP Pelvis
xxii. Humerus left

xxiii. Humerus right

xxiv. Knee left

xxv. Knee right

xxvi.  Shoulder left

xxvii. Shoulder right

xxviii. Tibia/Fibula left

xxix.  Tibia/Fibula right

xxx.  Wrist 4 views left

xxxi.  Wrist 4 views right

32



Patient Care Services

Standardized Procedure: Emergency Department Admission

Page4of 7
xxxil. X-ray extremity wound site if suspect foreign body
G. Fever in children under 3 months of age:
1. In patients who are under 3 months of age and who present to ED with rectal
temperature of 38°C (100.4°F) or greater, assign an emergency severity index (ESI) level
2 and arrange for immediate placement in the freatment area. The RN shall order the
following:
a. Labs:
i. CBCD
ii. Metabolic Panel, Basic
iii. C-Reactive Protein {(CRP)
iv. Blood Culture {(only one required for less than 3 months of age)
b. Nurse Orders:
i Routine urinalysis, catheter specimen
i, Urine culture
ifi. Pulse oximetry monitoring
iv. Initiate intravenous (IV) saline lock
c. Medications:
i Acetaminophen 15 mg/kg PO or PR times one (1)
1) Maximum 2600mg/day
2) Hold if the patient has received Acetaminophen or Acetaminophen
containing products in the past 4 hours.
d. Radiology:
i. X-Ray: Chest 2 View PA and LAT
H. Fever in patients older than 3 months of age:
1. In patients who present to the ED with fever, the RN shall order:
a. Medications:
i. Acetaminophen
1) For ages 3 months - 11 years, acetaminophen 15mg/kg PO or PR
times one (1), round to nearest Smg
a) Maximum 2600mg/day
b) Hold if the patient has received Acetaminophen or
Acetaminophen containing products in the past 4 hours.
2) For 12 years and older, acetaminophen 325mg PO or PR times
one {1)
a) Maximum 3000mg/day
b) Hold if the patient has received Acetaminophen or
Acetaminophen containing products in the past 4 hours.
ii. Ibuprofen
1) For ages 6 months to 11 years, ibuprofen 10mg/kg PO times one
(1), round to nearest 5mg
a) Maximum 40mg/kg/day
b) Hold if the patient has received ibuprofen or ibuprofen
containing products in the past 6 hours.
2) For 12 years and older, ibuprofen 400mg PO times one (1)

a) Maximum 3200mg/day
b) Hold if the patient has received ibuprofen or ibuprofen
containing products in the past 6 hours.

. Generalized Weakness, Syncope, Dizziness or Altered Mental Status
In patients who present to ED with generalized weakness, syncope, or dizziness, the RN

shall order the following:

1.

a.

Cardiology:
i. STAT EKG
1) Print old EKG if available

33



Patient Care Services

Standardized Procedure: Emergency Department Admission

Page 5of 7

2) STAT ED EKG's will be completed with a goal of 10 minutes of
being ordered and delivered directly to an ED physician to rule out
STEMI.
Labs:
i. CBCD
ii.. Metabolic Panel, Comprehensive
iii. Creatine Kinase (CPK)
iv. CK, Mb Fraction (CKMB) if CK elevated
V. Cardiac Troponin {Troponin |}
Nurse Orders:
i Routine urinalysis, clean catch
ii. Urine culture, clean catch
iii. Serum Yire-HCG if female and 10 — 55 years of age
Radiology:
i Chest X-ray 2 View PA and LAT
1) If patient female and under 50 years of age, shield pelvis

J. Gastro Intestinal (Gl) Bleed

1. In patients who present to ED with the'complaint of blood in the stool, vomiting of blood
or coffee ground emesis, and a systolic blood pressure (SBP) less than or equal to 90
mmHg, the RN shall order the following:

a.

b.

Nurse Orders:
i. Initiate two 16 gauge (if possible) peripheral IVs

Medications:

i Administer 500 m! 0.9 NaCl 1V fluid bolus times one (1), infuse over 30
minutes

Labs:

i. Type and Screen

ii. Check capillary bloodBedside glucose
iii. CBCD

iv. Metabolic Panel, Comprehensive

K. Psychiatric Evaluation
1. Patients who present to the ED with suicidal ideation, hallucinations, delusions, or who

are an immediate safety risk to self or others will be assigned an Emergency Severity
Index (ES1) Level 2 and moved to the treatment area as soon as possible. If immediate
bed placement is not possible for psychiatric patients at risk, security should be notified
for direct observation while bed placement is arranged.

2. In patients who present to the ED with the above complaints the RN shall order the
following:

a.

Labs:

i. CBCD

ii. Metabolic Panel, Comprehensive

iii. Ethanol, Serum (Blood Alcohol Level)

iv. Urine toxicology screen
V. Cannabinoid level
vi. TSH level

vii. Serum HCG if female age 10 to 55

b. Nurse Orders:
i Urinalysis, routine with reflex culture
L. Sepsis
1. If patient presents to triage with signs/symptoms of SEPSIS including:
a. Temperature >38.3 or <36 (or history of recent fever/ infection)
b. Plus heart rate above 90 and/or respiratory rate above 20 and or Systolic
Blood Pressure Below 90
2. The Nurse shall order the following:

34



Patient Care Services
Standardized Procedura: Emergency Department Admission

Page 6 of 7
a. Laboratory:
i CBCD
fii. Metabolic Panel, Comprehensive
iiil, Blood Cultures times 2
iv. Lactate with repeat lactate
V. JIiC Blooed Bank
vi. Urinalysis with reflex to culture

vii. Serum HCG if female and 10 to 55 years of age

b. Radiology: Chest Xray
c. Cardiology: Stat EKG
d. Nursing:

IR Start 18 gauge IV
Adi.  Fluid Bolus 500 mL Normal Saline

=M. Vaginal Bleeding, Know Pregnancy:

1. In patients who present to the ED with vaginal bleeding, and who are pregnant the RN
shall order the following:
a. Labs:
i. CBCD
ii. ABORhR Type
ii. Beta HCG, Quantitative
b. Nurse Orders:
i. If heart rate is greater than 120 BPM or the systolic blood pressure is less
than 90 mmHg:
1) Immediately notify physician of patient's condition
2) Initiate two 16 gauge (if possible) peripheral IV's
3) Set up for pelvic exam and natify physician
4) Routine urinalysis with reflux culture, catheter specimen
c. Medications:
i. Administer 500 ml 0.9 NaCl IV fluid bolus times one, infuse over 30
minutes
M-N. Vomiting, Diarrhea, Dehydration:
1. In patients who present to the ED with vomiting, diarrhea and or dehydration the RN
shall order the following:
a. Nurse orders:
i. Initiate peripheral IV for severe vomiting
b. Medications:
i Adults (16 years of age and older):
1) Ondansetron 8 mg ODT times one (1)
2) Ondansetron 4 mg IVP times one (1) for severe vomiting.
ii. Pediatrics (0 to 15 years of age):
1) Ondansetron 2 mg ODT times one (1) in patients less than 15 kg
2) Ondansetron 4 mg ODT times one (1) in patients greater than 15
kg
M. REQUIREMENTS FOR RN :
A Excellent customer service communication
B Education: Successful completion of Standardized Procedure training
C. Initial Evaluation: Demonstrated competency
D. Ongoing Evaluation: Annual skills lab.

v. DEVELOPMENT AND APPROVAL OF THE STANDARDIZED PROCEDURE:
A. Method: This Standardized Procedure was developed through collaboration with Nursing,
Medicine, and Administration. New standardized procedures or additions to existing

35



Patient Care Services
Standardized Procedure: Emergency Depariment Admission
Page 7 of 7

standardized procedures will be approved by the Department of Emergency Medicine,
Pharmacy and Therapeutics (if medications are involved) and the TCMC Board of Directors.
B. Review: Every two (2) years

V. CLINICIANS AUTHORIZED TO PERFORM THIS STANDARDIZED PROCEDURE:
A. All Registered Nurses who have successfully completed requirements as outlined above are
authorized to direct and perform the Emergency Department Standardized Procedure.

36



@% - .
Tri-City Medical Center

Patient Care Services

PROCEDURE: FALL RISK PROCEDURE AND SCORE TOOL

Purpose: To provide a comprehensive fall risk assessment on all patients each shift and implement
appropriate fall risk interventions based upon the patient's identified fall risk factors.

Supportive Data: Inclusive-ofalHinpatient-areas—Requires a Registered Nurse (RN) to evaluate and
identify risk factors for falls, develop an appropriate plan of care for prevention, perform a
comprehensive evaluation of falls that occur, and revise the plan of care as appropriate
for fall prevention.

Equipment: Fall Risk Score Tool

A. PROCEDURE:

1.

The registered nurse (RN) completes the Morse Fall Risk Assessment on every patient,
including visually assessing and interviewing the patient, to determine the patient’s fall risk
score and secondary risk factors:

a Upon admission to the hospital

b. Upon admission or transfer to another level of care-area

c Once a shift

d After any fall occurs

e. When there is a change in the patient’s status (physiclogical, functional, or cognitive)

2. Review the patient's medications for any that may alter the patient's ambulatory stability (see
Medication Fall Alert Reference Text).

38 All patients receive the following Universal Fall Precautions as appropriate:

a. Adeguate lighting

b. Assistive devices within easy reach

c. Bed in low position

d. Bed wheels and wheelchair brakes locked

e. Assure call light and possessions are within easy reach

f. Clean and dry surfaces

g. Hand rails and grab bars accessible

h. Hourly rounding

i. Non-skid slippers or footwear are worn during ambulation

i Orient patients to their bed area, unit facilities, and how to get assistance

k. Patient/family fall prevention education (uses the Patient and Family Guide and review
Fall Prevention section)-

. Review Partnering for Fall Prevention- My Safety Plan, with patient and their
family. This is not a permanent part of the chart and shall remain at bedside in
discharge folders.

i. Excluding patients in Behavioral Health Services, Progressive Care Unit
and Women and Newborn Services

Im. Rooms free of clutter

m:n. Side rails up times two (2)

4, The patient's primary RN shall implement an individual Interdisciplinary Plan of Care (IPOC) for
fall risks identified. Appropriate interventions based on the patient’s fall risk score shall be
selected and documented on the IPOCiaterdisciplinars-Rlan-of-Gare. These include but are not
limited to:

a. Low Risk Patients (equals = 0 - 35 total score):

i Reinforce use of grab bars near toilets.
ii. Reinforce possible medication side effects that could increase risk of falling.
jii. Limit administration of combinations of medications that may increase fall risk
when possible.
Sy Pharmacy & Medical Professional
Do | ‘aerocesuras | | Coumi . | Thempeuics | Execuive | Afrs | SE
6/06, /08, 6/08,
0911:!5’2;:12,9 ks R G nia e | anz.0me, 007 | 22, 116, 0117

37



Patient Care Services

Fall Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool

Page 2 of 10

iv. Select suitable chairs with armrests that are an appropriate height for rising and
sitting.

V. Encourage patient to move/change position slowly.

vi. Place patients with urgency near toilets or use commodes.

vii. Instruct male patients prone to dizziness to sit while voiding.

Moderate Risk Patients (equals =36 - 44 total score):

i. Implement Universal and Low Risk interventions.
ii. Ambulate patients with assistance.

iii. Re-orient confused patients.

iv. Move confused patients close to nurse’s station.

V. Encourage family members to sit with confused patients.

vi. Use bed exit alarms.

vii. Use chair alarms.

vii.  Teach activity limits to patient and family.

ix. Large fall risk sign shall be placed at the head of the bed for moderate risk
patients.

X. A fall risk magnet shall be placed on the patient's doorframe with the designated

bed indicated on the magnet.

¢. High Risk Patients (equals=.45 or mores total score) require:

i Implement Universal, Low, and Moderate Risk interventions.
i, Place fall risk wristband on patient.

a. High Risk Rounding: strongly encourage patient to use the bathroom or
Bedside Commode at least every four {4) to- six (6) hours while awake if
they have not gone when offered during hourly rounding (does not include
patients with indwelling urinary catheter such as Foleys).

fiil. Remain with patient while toileting or showering-if-appropriate.
b-a. Document if patient refuses.

fikiv. Ensure commode is available at bedside if patient is unable to ambulate to the
bathroom with assistance.

Responsibilities:

i. Fall Risk Armbands:

a. The RN or Pdesignee is responsible for placing the armbands on the
wrist of patients identified as high risk (45 or more+).
b. The RN or Bdesignee is responsible for removing the armband upon

change in Efall Rrisk 8score or upon discharge.
i, Large Fall Risk Laminates:

a. The RN or Ddesignee is responsible for placing, updating, and/or

removing the large Fall Risk laminates over the head of the patient’s bed.
iii. Fall risk magnets:

a. The RN or Designee is responsible for placing, updating, and/or removing
the fall risk magnet on the patient's doorframe with the designated bed
indicated on the magnet.

iv. The Assistant Nurse Manager {ANM)/charge nurse shall check for
appropriateness of signage during rounds.

The primary RN shall reassess the patient every shift for needs and change in status.

i. When patient is reassessed and has a change in risk level, interventions are
added or discontinued as indicated.

The primary RN shall note and document the availability of family/friends to stay with the

patient. The care plan shall be revised with any patient status change or the absence of

family.

38



Patient Care Services
Fail Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 3 of 10

B.

C.

The patient's fall risk status and family presence shall be reported during eemmunication

hand-offs communication.

If a patient falls, the ANM or designee shall conduct an immediate educational debriefing

for all staff involved.

i. An incident report-Quality Review-Reper-{QRR) and Post Fall Huddle shall be
completed by the Assistant-Nursing-MaragerANM or designee.

ii. The QRR-incident report and Post Fall Huddle shall be reviewed by the
Director/Manager and Risk Management.

Each outpatient care area and Emergency Department will assess the risk for falls

based on their own unit specific guidelines, and intervene as appropriate.

SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS:
1. Intensive Care Unit (ICU) Specific Fall Precautions:

a.

b.

Appropriate interventions shall be used based on the Patient Care Services Fall Risk

Procedure with the exception of the following:

i. Stoplight magnets and overhead laminates are not required.

ii. Due to patient and RN ratios for ICU, observation is ongeing and High Risk
Rounding is not required.

Moderate and/or high-risk patients require RN, Physical Therapist, or Lift Team

Technician assistance with getting out of bed (requires physician order).

2. Peri-Anesthesia Nursing Services (PANS) Spescific-Fall-Precautions-and Labor and Delivery
Unit specific fall precautions:

a.

b.

c.

All patients in PANS area and Labor and Delivery Unit are considered high fall risk due

to post anesthesia-/-sedation status.

Appropriate interventions shall be used based on the Patient Care Services Fall Risk

Procedure.

i. Placelnsluding call light within reach of bedside.

ii. Ratienis-shall-be-aAssisted patients to bathroom and ambulateg wearing shoes
or non-slip socks.

iii. RN, Advance Care Tech, Peri-Operative Aide or family member must be in
attendance behind curtain to assist out-patient while dressing prior to discharge.

Fall Risk magnets and overhead laminates are not required.

3. Emergency Department (ED) Sspecific Ffall Rprecautions:

a. Patients seen in the ED are scored for falls using KINDER1 Falls Scale, which is an
evidenced based best practice tool developed specifically for Emergenecy
BepartmontsED.

b. Fall risk assessment is performed by an RN upon initial assessment.

i. The patient is deemed not at risk.
ii. The patient is deemed at risk if there is a yes answer to any question.

c. Reassessments are performed with any change of condition.

d. If a patient falls in the ED the patient automatically becomes an at risk for falls patient.

e. The following interventions are instituted based on the patient’s risk value:

i Universal Falls precautions are initiated on all patients in the Emergensy
DeparmentED.

ii. At risk for falls precautions {include but not limited to):
a Encourage family to remain with patient
b. Encourage patient to change position slowly
c Increase intervals of nursing observation
d Patients shall be assisted to bathroom and with ambulation
e. Fall Risk armband placed on patient

4. Imaging Services:

a. See Imaging Services: General Safety Management 128 Policy for Unit Specific

Interventions
FORM(S):

39



Patient Cars Services
Fall Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 4 of 10

5:1. Morse Fall Scale - Sample
6-2. Partnering for Fall Prevention- My Safety Plan—Sample
Z3. Post Fall Huddle - Sample

| &-D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1. Administrative Policy: Incident Report — Quality Review Report (QRR) RL Solutions
2. Fall Risk Algorithm
3. Medication Fall Alert Reference Text

40



Patient Care Services
Fall Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 50of 10

Morse Fall Scale - Sample

Item Item Score Patient Score

1. History of falling (immediate or previous) No 0
Yes 25

2. Secondary diagnosis (> 2 medical diagnoses in chart) No 0
Yes 15

3. Ambulatory aid

None/bedrest/nurse assist Crutches/cane/walker 0

Furniture 15
30

4. Intravenous therapy/heparin lock No 0
Yes 20

5. Gait

Normal/bedrest/wheelchair 0

Weak* 10

ImpairedT 20

6. Mental status

Oriented to own ability 0

Overestimates/forgets limitations 15

Total Score®: Tally the patient score and record.

<25: Low risk

25-45: Moderate risk

>45; High risk

* Weak gait: Short steps (may shuffle), stooped but able to lift head while walking, may seek support from furniture while walking,
but with light touch (for reassurance).

¥ Impaired gait: Short steps with shuffle; may have difficulty arising from chair; head down; significantly impaired balance, requiring
furniture, support person, or walking aid to walk.

* Suggested scoring based on Morse JM, Black C, Oberle K, et al. A prospective study to identify the fall-prone patient. Soc Sci Med
1989; 28(1):81-6. However, note that Morse herself said that the appropriate cut-peints to distinguish risk should be determined by
cach institution based on the risk profile of its patients. For details, see Morse JM, , Morse RM, Tylko SJ. Development of a scale to
identify the fall-prone patient. Can J Aging 1989;8;366-7.

41



Patient Cara Services
Fali Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 6 of 10

| Partnering for Fall Prevention- My Safety Plan—Sample

Partnering for Fall Prevention — My Safety Plan

safe.

Directions: This is a locl to pariner with the patient and family for education of the
patient's fall risk factors and strategies to reduce sk of falls and keep the patient

| Partnering for Fall Prevention - QurMy Safety Plan for You
We care about you and your safety. We want to partner with you and your
| family to prevent falls. Your medical assessment shows you termay be at risk
for falls.

You are considered at risk for falls or injury for one or more of the
following itemsreasons because:

O

O0O00O0D0O0Oaon

O

a

You are unsteady when you walk.

You may bleed easily if you fall.

You are taking medications that may make you fall more easily.

Your medical history shows an increased risk for broken bones, due to:

Recent surgeries or procedures put you at risk for falling, such as:

Medical equipment (sequential devices, foot pumps, etc.)

Other:

You and your family can de-to-help us keep you safe by doing the following:

Show | know how to use my call light
O RN: Patient demonstrated correct use of call light to notify nursing staff

| will always use the call light to contact the nurse. | promise to stay in bed and call my nurse for help.
o Whenever | need to get up
o Whenever | need help reaching something that is out of my reach
o Whenever | am feeling dizzy or sleepy from medications

| will always call the nurse and not ask family for help getting out of bed
| will wear my skid-proof slipper socks and yellow wrist band

| have a bed alarm that is active at all times. It will alert nursing staff when | am out of bed. | will not turn
off the alarm.

| will not use the over-bed table to help me stand; it is on rollers and may cause me to fall if | lean on it.
O RN: Reviewed falls prevention plan with patient and family
] Patient unable to sign the form

O Patient refuses to sign the form

Patient Initials/Date/Time:

RN Signature/Date/Time:

42



Patient Care Services
Fail Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 7 of 10

Post Fall Huddle — Sample

Date:__[_ 1 Time:
Setting: FIN#; Entered By:

Raason far Audit: To imvolve front fine staff i identifying problems and solutions, and in creating changea in their work environment, Te pramole trust
and leam building among team members. To promola a pasilive Cullure of Salely without individual blame.

Instructions:

|1. Hold the Huddla a5 soon as possibla and after every fall.
i2. lnvolva the patient, statf invalved in the cara of patient or fail, and essistant nurse manager or manager
3 Mesting is organized by primary RN and is brief,

| *Indicales that an answer is required.

2013 Post Fall Huddlel After Action Re\new
12013 Post Fall Huddie, e " |Answer

1.* What was the lastest Falt Rlsk Score for the patient?

2.' How did you find out that this patient fell?

I saw the patient fall] [ ]
| Atarmwent off{ ]
] Patientwitness called} [}

Heard noiseffound patient on floor{ [ ]
Other|[]

3.* What was the patient doing at the time of the fall?
| don't know| []

Rolled out of bed| []

Gelting infout of bed to go to BR/commodelurinal| []
Trying to reach/pick up something| [ ]

Trying to get infout of bed for another reason| [ ]
Trying to get onloff toilet/bedside commodel [}
Trying to use the sink/shower| [1

Other] ]
4.* Prior to the patient fall, what was the activity level?
Upad lib| []
Ambulate with assistance| []
Bedrest| []
Up in chair with assistance| []
| Otherj [}
5." Prior to the fall, was the patient assisted by staff to the mechanism thatiedto ] Yes|No
the fall?
{Example-Did staff assist the patient to the toilet and then left the patient
aloned)

Page 10of 2



Patient Care Services
Fall Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 8 of 10

6. Why do you think the patient fell?

| do not know| []

Confusion| []

Catastrophic event (stroke, arrthythmia)| []

Arms or legs got weak| (]

Became lightheadeded, dizzy, or blacked out| []

Tried to it but missed| []

Secondary gain (seeking attention)| []

Guot tangled in equipment| []

Low blood sugar| []

Slipped or tripped {not in equipment){ []

Lost batance] []

Medication] []

Other| (]

7.* Prior to the fall, identify the ancillary walking aid the patient had available in the
room

Nonej[]

Cane} []

Walker| []

Wheelchairf []

Other| []

NA[[]

8.* Did you do hourly rounding? Yes | No

9. The last time you did hourly rounding, did you ask any questions pertaining to:

Pain| []
Potty| []
Position{ []
Possessions| []
10.* What could you have done to prevent this fall?
11.* What will you do differently in the future?
12.* Past Fall Checldist
RL Completed| []

IPOC Post Fall Initiated | []

Physician Notified| []

Documentation in the Medical Record {event, phys exam, intervention)| []

Morsa Fall Risk Score Updated | []

13." RN : Patient Ratio(1:__)

Please fill in the number of patients the RN was assigned to.

14.* Did you fee! as though your patient assignment was appropriate? Yes | No

Page 2 of 2



Patient Care Services
Fall Risk Procedurs & Scoring Tool
Page 9 of 10

Fahba

E|T|TiT

—

e

| |E|T

45



Patient Care Services
Fall Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 10 of 10

Fall Risk Procedure Algorithm

RN Assessment Using Morse Fall Risk Assessment

W
Is the patient:
lLow Risk (0-35)
Moderate Risk (36-44) or
High Risk (4544+)
r W ]/
Low Risk Moderate Risk High Risk

¢ Universal Precautions

e Follow Plan of Care
Interventions in the Fall
Risk Procedure

Universal Precautions and Low
Risk Interventions

Follow Plan of Care Interventions
in the Fall Risk Procedure

}

N

s 'l'eq “'s| af' t”ep”l' g-for !l ap" '.'e"le'"‘gl "

Place Fall Risk Magnet on
the Patient's Door Frame

\
Place LARGE Fall

Risk Sign at the
Head of the Bed

Universal Precautions,
Low and Moderate Risk
Interventions

Follow Plan of Care
Interventions in the Fall
Risk Procedure

Place Fall Risk
Wristband on Patient

High Risk Rounding

\

Remain with Patient
While Toileting or
Showering

\

Place Fall Risk Magnet on
the Patient's Door Frame

N

Place LARGE Fall
Risk Sign at the
Head of the Bed

46



Palient Care Services
Fall Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool

Page 11 of 10

Medication Fall Alert Reference Text

*Denotes individual drugs associated with highest risk of dizziness or falls in each category

Medication Fall Alert
Below are Medications That May Affect Patients’ Fall Risk Level

Category One
1. Antihistamines
a. Chilortrimeton (Chlorpheniramine Maleate)
b. *Benadryl (Diphenhydramine Hydrochloride)
C. Dramamine (Dimenhydrinate)
d. Vistaril (Hydroxyzine)
e. Antivert (Meclizine)
2. Cardiac Drugs
a. Tenormin (Atenclol)
b. Capoten (Captopril)
C. Cardizem (Diltiazem)
d. Vasotec (Enalapril)
e. Zestril (Lisinopril)
f. Lopressor (Metoprolol)
g. *Procardia (Nifedipine)
h. Inderal (Propranolol)
3. Hypotensive Agents
a. Catapres (Clonidine)
b. Apresoline (Hydralazine)
c. Trandate (Labetalol)
d. *Minipress (Prazosin) (Especially first dose syncope)
e. *Hytrin (Terazosin)
f. *Cardura (Doxazosin)
Category Two
1. Neurotoxic Chemotherapeutic Drugs
a. Ifex (lfosfamide)
b. Vincasar (Vincristine)
c Platinol (Cisplatin)
d Methotrexate
e. Cytosar-U (Cytarabine)
f. Adrucil (5-fluorouracil)
g. Taxol (Paclitaxel)
2. Vasodilating Agents
a. Isordil (Iscsorbide Dinitrate)
b. *Nitrostat (Nitroglycerin)
L Opiate Agonists
a. Codeine {Includes cough syrups and Tylenol #3)
b. Vicodin (Hydrocodone)
c. *Morphine
d. Percocet (Oxycodone)
4. Anticonvulsants
a. Phenobarbital
b. *Valium (Diazepam)
C. Dilantin (Phenytoin)
d. Tegretol (Carbamazepine)
Category Three

47



Patient Care Services
Fall Risk Procedure & Scoring Tool
Page 12 of 10

1. Psychotherapeutlc Agents
*Anafranil (Clomipramine)
* Elavil (Amitriptyline)
*Sinequan (Doxepin)
Zoloft (Sertraline)
Desyrel (Trazodone)
*Tofranil (Imipramine)
*Surmontil (Trimipramine)
ntlpsychotlc Agenis
*Serentil (Mesoridazine)
*Thorazine (Chlorpromazine)
*Clozaril (Clozapine)
*Mellaril {Thioridazine)
enzodiazepines
Xanax (Alprazolam)
*Librium (Chlordiazepoxide)
*Dalmane (Flurazepam)
Ativan (Lorazepam)
Restoril (Temazepam)
Halcion (Triazolam)
iuretics
Lasix Furesemide{Lasix Furosemide)
Bumex Bumetanide-(Bumex Bumetanide)
Demadex Torsemide-(Pemadex Torsemide)
5. Miscellaneous Anxiolytics, Sedatives & Hypnotics
a. Equanil (Meprobamate)

w99¢9>@ﬂ@99?m

-oopgrePaoTe

48



‘@9 Tri-City Medical Center

Patient Care Services

PROCEDURE: INFUSION PUMP - SYRINGE OR PATIENT CONTROLLED ANALGESIC (PCA)
MODULE INFUSION SYSTEM WITH GUARDRAILS

Purpose: To regulate intravenous (IV) infusion using an electronic control device.

Supporive Data: The Alaris Intravenous Infusion Pump with Guardrails System provides medication error
prevention software to protect patients at the point of infusion delivery.

Equipment: . Alaris administration set

1
2. Primary IV solution

3. Pump programmer point of care (POC)

4. Pump Syringe Module or Patient Controlled Analgesic (PCA) Module

A. PROCEDURE:
1. Syringe Module:

a.

Prior to the start of an infusion program, confirm syringe type and size. The system will

provide a prompt for the programmer to select both the syringe type and size.

i. Selecting the incorrect syringe type and size may cause under-infusion or over-
infusion of solutions or medications to patient.

Priming the Alaris Syringe Module:

i. Prime tubing prior to attaching system to patient with normal saline.

ii. Attach administration set to syringe and prime tubing with the medication that is
ordered.

ii. Once set is primed, close slide clamp.

Loadlng the Alaris Syrlnge Module:

i. Prior to loading syringe, close roller tubing clamp to prevent uncontrolled flow.

ii. Open syringe barrel clamp unti! it clears syringe chamber.

iii. Twist gripper control clockwise and raise device head to fully extended position.

iv. Insert syringe barrel flange between barrel flange grippers.
v. Lock syringe in place by closing barrel clamp.

vi. Twist gripper control clockwise then lower drive head.

vii. Lock plunger in place with plunger grippers.

Programming Guardrails:

di. -sSee Patient Care Services Procedure: Infusion Pump:— Infusion System with
Guardrails-Rrecedurs

Removing the Alaris Syringe Module:

i. Silence alarm.

ii. Close rolier tubing clamp.

ifi. Open plunger grippers and syringe barrel clamp.

iv. Remove syringe by applying downward pressure to remove disc.

Near End of Infusion;

i. The system will alternate between Near End and remaining volume to be infused
(VTBI).

ii. The audio prompt requires being silenced just once and will not reoccur following
initial silencing.

2. PCA Syringe Module:

a.
b.

Select syringe type and size.
Prime tubing prior to attaching tubing to patient:
i. Option One: Manually express air from the administration tubing set by;
1) Prime tubing prior to attaching system to patient with normal saline.
2) Attach administration set to syringe and prime tubing with the medication
that is ordered.

: ; ‘Nursing Pharmacy & Medical Professional
Revision Dates c:'gg:i:;‘g:s Executive Therapeutics Executive Affairs gio a:‘door;
: Council Committee Committee Committee b
04108, 04/09, 07/11, 03115, 10/11, 06/15,
01118 02118 08/11,03/15 05/15, 03/18 03/18 1111, 07115 114/11, 07/15




Patient Care Services

| Infusion Pump: - Syringe or Patient Controlled Analgesic (PCA) Module Infusion System with Guardrails

Page 2 of 3

c.

3) Once set is primed, close slide clamp.
i, Option Two: Prime tubing using Alaris PCA Module.
ii. The tubing may be primed from the Infusion Mode Screen prior to programming
the PCA Module:
1) Select Options key.
2) Press Prime Set with Syringe.
3) Press and hold Prime key to prime tubing.
4} Press Exit when prime is complete.
After priming tubing, close slide clamp.

3. Initial Set-Up:

a.

—~T@mponyT

mewEIITET

Label syringe per the Patient Care Services Policy: Patient Controlled Analgesia

(PCA)-Rolicy.

Load syringe with administration set attached.

Press System On key.

Select Yes or No to New Patient.

Select appropriate profile.

Press Channel Select key.

Set key to Program position.

Press Confirm time setting.

Choose correct syringe type and size.

i. Selecting the incorrect syringe type and size may cause under-infusion or over-
infusion of solutions or medications to patient.

Select correct medication and concentration.

Enter the dose and time limits.

Enter the total dosage patient may receive as ordered.

Responds to appropriate clinical advisory.

Close and lock door.

Attach administration set tubing set to patient.

Verify entered prescription with a second Registered Nurse (RN).

Press Start to begin PCA Module.

Document in the medical record per the Patient Care Services Policy: Patient

Controlled Anzlgesia (PCA)Rslicy.

4, Changlng Syringe:

3-FT oSOt poe T

~Pa0To P>

Press Pause.

Close rofler tubing clamp.

Unlock door and remove old syringe.

Press Silence.

Date and time new syringe and attach to tubing.
Load new syringe.

Set key to Program position, close door.

Press Channel Select.

Select correct syringe type and size.

Press Confirm.

Press Restore.

Verify entered drug, concentration, and settings.
Lock door and open roller tubing clamp.

Press Start.

dmlnlstenng a Bolus:

Press Channel Select.

Set key to Program position and enter authorization code.
Enter bolus dose amount and lock door,

Press Confirm.

Confirm settings and press Start.

Document bolus in the medical record.

50



Patient Care Services
] Infusion Pump: - Syringe or Patiant Cantrolled Analgesic {PCA) Module Infusion Systam with Guardrails
Page 30f3

6. Reviewing History:
Review patient history at the beginning of the shift and every four hours.
Press Channel Select Key.
Press Options.
Press Patient History.
Review drug totals.
Press Zoom key to review time intervals.
Press Detail to collect average dose per hour.
Press Main History.
To clear patient history, press Clear History and select Yes.
i. Clear patient history every four hours and prior to transferring a patient to another
nursing unit.
To view 24 hours totals, select 24 h Totals.
Press Exit after viewing history.
Press Start to return to program.
Document patient history every four {4) hours in the patient’s electronic medical record
(EMR).
7. Documentation:
a. Document the start and change of syringes in the medisal-reserdEMR.
b. A second RN must verify for accuracy the initiation, change in dosage or any boluses
and document it in the electronic medication administration record (eMARY).

—Te@me a0 o

3 ._‘.7\".—'

B. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1. Patient Care Services Policy: Patient Controlled Analgesia (PCA)
2, Patient Care Services Procedure: Infusion Pump- Infusion System with Guardrails

| 8. REFERENCE(S):
1. Cardinal Health. (2010-2014). Alaris syringe module v8: Quick reference guide. Retrieved

from hitp://www.cardinal.com/alaris/brochure/spodfuAlarisSystemv8DEU.pdf
2. Cardinal Health. (2010-2014). Alaris pca module v8: Quick reference guide. Retrieved

from hitp://www.cardinal.com/alaris/brochure/spodfuAlarisSystemv8DFU.pdf

o1



o)
@ Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

PATIENT CARE SERVICES
ISSUE DATE: 06/05 SUBJECT: Infusion Pumps, Intravenous {lV)
Therapy
| REVISION DATE: 04/07, 03/11 PO D2 ER PER
Department Approval: 01/18
Clinical Policies & Procedures Committee Approval: 83/4602/18
Nursing Executive Committee Approval: 03/4503/18
Pharmacy & Therapeutics Committee Approval: 05/4603/18
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 06/1603/18
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 07115
Board of Directors Approval: 07115
A PURPOSE:
1. To establish standards at Tri-City Medical-GenterHealthcare District (TCHD) for the

| B.

management of intravenous {IV) administration sets, solutions, and medications in order to
decrease the incidence of infections, complications, and errors.

DEFINITION(S):

1.

Back flushing — A means to prime a secondary administration set in order to flush the secondary

set of residual medication and/or to flush secondary tubing between the deliveries of

incompatible medications.

Channel — The module attached to the programming module for the delivery of IV fluids or

medications.

Channe! Labels — Provides a hospital- defined list of labels, which can be displayed in the

channel message display allowing the user to identify the channel with the solution being

infused (i.e., blood or chemotherapy), or the catheter location (i.e., pulmonary artery or

intraperitoneal).

Drug Library — A drug dataset defines a list of up to 1500 drugs and concentrations appropriate

for each Profile™, Programming via the drug dataset automates programming steps, including

the drug name, drug amount and diluent volume, and represents established best practice

Guardrails™ limit checking.

Epidural — Analgesia infusion delivered via the epidural space.

Flush solution — A solution used to provide a flush between or at the end of IV medications. The

fiush solution shall be compatible with the medications delivered.

Guardrails™ — The programming software within the Alaris Medley infusion system designed to

help prevent programming errors by:

a. Providing an advisory prompt if an out-of-limit entry is made at the time the device is
programmed to infuse medications defined in the drug library

b. Comparing user programming with the hospital-defined best practice guidelines

c. Customizing device configurable settings to meet the need of the selected patient
population

Intrathecal — Analgesia infusion delivered through the intrathecal space.

Point of Care {POC)/Programming Module — The module of the Alaris Medley medication safety

system that contains the drug library and pump configurations. This module controls all of the

solutions and medications delivered through the pumping modules. The programming module

cannot deliver any medication without a pumping module. Each programming module has the

ability to control four pumping modules.

62



Patient Care Services-Relisy
Infusion Pumps, Intravenous (IV) Therapy

Page 2 of 3
10.
1.
|
C.

Priming Volume — The amount of fluid used to clear the administration set of air. The amount of
priming volume varies by administration set. The amount of priming volume can be found on the
administration set package.

Profile™ — Represents a specific patient population. Each profile contains drugs and instrument
configurations that are appropriate for that patient population.

INTRAVENOUS (IV) INFUSIONS:

1.

Ali solutions and medications administered via an #V route shall be administered using an IV

infusion device except in the following situations:

IV push administration.

b Surgery, under the direct supervision of an anesthesiologist.

c Emergent situations, under the direct supervision of the Registered Nurse (RN).

d. Identified research studies when the research RN is present to monitor the infusion.

e High census, if there is a shortage of infusion pumps; plain solutions (without additives)
at rates less than or equal to 75 mLIhour may be infused without an infusion pump.

Staff must utilize both the appropriate Profile™ with Guardrails™ features and the channel

labels when programming the Alaris infusion system to enhance the safe delivery of intraveneus

IV medications and solutions.

a. Intensive Care Unit {ICU)/Emergency Department (ERD)/Operating Room (OR) shall
be used by ICU, Post Anesthesia Care Unit (PACU), Cardiac Catheterization Lab,
Interventional Radiology, and Emergency-Department{ED], Surgery.

b. IMC4/Telemetry shall be used by Telemetry and Progressive Care UnitForensics.

C. Acute Care shall be used by 1North, Acute Rehab, 2Pavilion, 3Pavilion, 4Pavilion, and
the Forensic Unit.

d. Neonata! Intensive Care Unit (NICU) shall be used by MNeenataliniensive-Gare-Unit
{NICU) and ED.

e. Peds+ shall be used for pediatric patientsby;-EB;-and-R2AGY.

f. WNS-{formery-WCS) shall be used by Labor &and Delivery and Mother Baby.

g. Oncology

Profiles and Channel Labels shall be checked by the licensed nurse at the beginning of each

shift.

Profiles ™ shall be checked and changed as needed when a patient is transferred to another

patient care unit. The receiving unit RN shall be responsible to check and change the patient

profile.

Channel labels shall be utilized for medications and/or solutions that are not a part of the drug

data set.

o

PRIMING AND FLUSHING:

1.

The priming volume shall be subtracted from the volume to be infused in order to ensure the
medication and/or solution is infused over the prescribed rate as appropriate in NICU and
Pediatrics.

To clear residual medication volume from the IV administration set, the back flushing technique
shall be utilized. Approximately 20 mL of medication shall be flushed back into the empty bag or
bottle. The flush solution is then infused at the same rate as the original rate of the medication.

SMART SITE PORTS:

1.

Smart Site injection sites on the IV tubing are accessed only with a luer lock syringe.
1a. Note: Using a needle or blunt tip syringe will damage the valve and result in leaking. The
valve may be secured by attaching a Smart Site valve cap.

CARE AND CLEANING:

1.

One POC and channel shall be left in the patient's room at discharge and cleaned by
Environmental Services (EVS). Extra POCs and channels shall be stored in a designated area
on the unit or in the Sterile Processing Department (SPD).

53



Patient Care ServicesRslicy
Infusion Pumps, Intravenous {IV) Therapy

Page 3 of 3

a. The tubing and IV bag shall be removed and discarded by the unit's RN prior to EVS
cleaning pump.

b. EVS shall not clean pump if tubing and/or IV bag have not been removed.

c. EVS shall attempt to locate the Assistant Nurse Manager (ANM) shift
supervisor/designee and request the tubing and 1V bag be removed. If the ANM, shift
supervisor/designee cannot be located, or the tubing/IV bag is not removed in a timely
manner, cleaning the pump shall be nursing's responsibility.

Cleaned infusion pumps shall be covered with a plastic bag.

Cleaning needs of the Infusion Pump during patient care shall be the responsibility of the RN

caring for the patient.

a. They shall be wiped down with a hospital- approved disinfectant weekly and when visibly
soiled. (Refer to Infection Control Policy-Maruat+4G-8¢: Cleaning and Disinfection; - IC 9)

b. To avoid damage to the connectivity points never spray cleaning solutions directly onto
the pump.

o Spray cleaning solution onto a cloth and wipe the pump with the moistened cloth.

Greater than 70% alcohol solutions are damaging to equipment surface, and shall not be used.

Infusion pumps shall be kept plugged into an electrical outlet at all times.

a. Cleaned infusion pumps not in use shall be stored in the patient's room or designated
storage area.

b. Sterile-Rresessing{SPD} shall make rounds (Monday-Friday) to maintain a minimum
supply in SPD.
bi.  (Exception: Forensic Unit}

G. RELATED DOCUMENTS

1.

Infection Control Policy:-Manual-lG-9r Cleaning and Disinfection IC 9

04



L) . )
(@J) Tri-City Medical Center Patient Care Services

PROCEDURE: POINT OF CARE TESTING COMPETENCY ASSESSMENT
Purpose: To outline the mandatory Point of Care testing personnel competency requirements.
Supportive Data: To meet regulatory requirements, to include but not limited to College of American

Pathology and Joint Commission

A, POLICY:

1. Point of Care Testing (POCT) includes analytical patient tests performed outside the clinical
facilities of the main laboratory. All POCT is covered under the Laboratory's Clinical Lab
Improvements Amendments license, and is subject to the same regulations. The College of
American Pathologist (CAP) personnel competency requirements for POCT includes:

a. Evidence testing personnel have adequate, specific fraining to ensure competence.
b. A list delineating the specific tests each POCT personnel is authorized fo perform.
c. A documented program ensuring each person performing POCT maintains satisfactory
levels of competence.
2. Joint Commission requires competency to be assessed using at least two (2) of the following
methods per person per test:
a. Performance of a test on a blind specimen.
b. Periodic observation of routine work by the supervisor or qualified designee.
c. Monitoring of each user's quality control performance.
d. Use of written test specific to the test assessed.
3. Competency for waived testing shall be evaluated upon hire and annually thereafter.

Competency for non-waived testing shall be evaluated upon hire, semi-annually during the first
year, and annually thereafter. Competency shall be reassessed at any time when problems are
identified with employee performance.

4, The records must make it possible for the inspector to determine what skills were assessed and
how those skills were measured. Some elements of competency include, but are not limited to:
a. Direct observations of routine patient test performance, including, as applicable, patient
identification and preparation; and specimen collection, handling, processing and testing.
b. Monitoring the recording and reporting of test results, including, as applicable, reporting
critical results.
c. Review of intermediate {est results or worksheets, quality control records, proficiency
testing results, and preventative maintenance records.
d. Direct observation of performance of instrument maintenance and function checks, as
applicable.
e. Assessment of test performance through testing previously analyzed specimens, internal
blind testing samples or external proficiency testing samples.
f. Evaluation of problem solving skills.
5. For non-waived {moderate-complexity) tests, all of the above six (6) elements must be assessed

annually. For waived tests, it is not necessary to assess all elements at each assessment.
Ongoing supervisory review is an acceptable method of assessing competency.

6. Personnel will not be allowed to perform POC testing without completion of the competency
requirements. e

| B. PROCEDURE:

1. The Laboratory Medical Director authorizes personnel to perform testing. Authorization is
determined by job description and is specific to nursing unit and job title. Refer to the Laboratory
Point of Care Coordinator and Quality Management Manual for any clarification.

ke Clinical Nursing Pharmacy and Medicat Professional
Deg ar::‘l:_nt Policies & Executive Da;:{:;:"t of Therapeutics Exacutive Aftairs gl:;itdo:;
o Procedures Council 8y Committes Committee Committee
06/10, 06111, 04/11, 06114, 05/11, 06/14,
06/14, 10117 117 12117 08/14 n/a nfa 0611, 1014 06/11, 11/14

55



| Patient Care Services-Procedurs-Manual
Point of Care Testing Competency Assessment

| Page2of2
2. Evidence of training and competency shall be documented and records shail be maintained in
the Employee file,
3. Management is responsible to ensure all testing personnel within their department have
completed the required competencies.
4, If an individual fails to complete competency assessment by the due date, they will not be
aliowed to perform POC testing until the competency is completed.
5. Return all completed competencies to the Education department.
a. Blank forms are found on the TCMC Intranet.
C. FORM(S):
b-1. Point of Care Competency Form
G:D. REFERENCE(S):

1. College of American Pathology. (2014) Point of Care Testing Checklist.

12, e-dition.jcrinc.com WT.03.01.01. Retrieved on May 11, 2011.

2:3. The Joint Commission (2017). Hospital Accreditation Standards. lllinois: Joint
Commission Resources.

56



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Patient Care Services

PROCEDURE:

POWER INJECTION PROCEDURE FOR PERIPHERALLY INSERTED CENTRAL
CATHETER (PICC)

Purpose:

To outline the Registered Nurse’s (RNs) responsibility when attaching and
disconnecting a Power Injectable Peripherally Inserted Central Catheter with the Contrast
Power Injector. Maintain compliance with state and manufacturers guidelines.

Supportive Data:

The Power Injectable computerized tomography (CT) peripherally inserted central
catheter (PICC) is indicated for short or long term peripheral access to the central
venous system for intravenous therapy and power injection of contrast media. For blood
sampling, infusion, or therapy use a 5 French or larger catheter. The maximum
recommended infusion rate is 4 milliliter/sec for power injection of contrast media. The
maximum pressure of power injectors used with the Power Injectable CT PICC may not
exceed 250 psi.

Equipment:

Power Injectable CT PICC, Power Injector, Computerized Axial Tomography Scanner-/
magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) Scanner.

Non-sterile gloves.

3 alcohol swabs.

Sterile field (may use 4x4 sterile gauze).

10mL or more Sterile Normal Saline filled syringe.

1 Anti-reflux valve for each lumen.

aORrwN=

1.

POLICY:

Use only lumens marked “Power Injectable® for power injection of contrast media.

a. Warning: Use of lumens not marked “Power Injectable” for power injection of contrast
media may cause failure of the catheter.

Confirm injection flow rate does not exceed capacity of 5 French double lumen peripherally

inserted central catheter (PICC) line with technologist.

a. Warning: Exceeding the maximum flow rate of 4 mL/sec may result in catheter failure
and/or catheter tip displacement.

B. PROCEDURE PERFORMED BY A REGISTERED NURSE:

1. Perform hand hygiene.

2. Don clean non-sterile gloves.

3. Clamp both PICC ports and suspend all Intravenous (IV) meds and Total Parenteral Nutrition
(TPN).

4 Select port to be used and ensure patency.
a. Warning: Failure to ensure patency of the catheter prior to power injection studies may

result in catheter failure.
b. Cleanse catheter tip thoroughly with three (3) alcohol swabs and allow to air dry.
c. Attach a 10 mL or larger syringe filled with sterile normal saline.
d. Unclamp and aspirate for adequate blood return and flush the catheter with the full 10
mL or more of sterile normal saline.

58 Detach syringe.

6. Attach the IV tubing from the power injector syringe directly to the PICC with the anti-reflux
valve attached.

7. Keep PICC to be used for power injection unclamped while keeping secondary catheter lumen
not connected to power injection system clamped.

8. Notify technologist that the system is connected.

g. Monitor PICC and injection site while the injection is under way. Immediately notify technologist
if of any abnormal infiltration, leaking or catheter failure.

; S Exé TE Madical Professional i
Reiw™" | Aprocedures’ | ' Commiise | ‘Thecapeitics || [Cxecutive SR Dirsctors
Py e 11108, 215, 12108, 03115, 0515, 03/18 06/15, 03/18 02110, 0715 02/10, 07/15

57



Patient Care Services
Power Injection Procedure for Peripherally inserted Central Catheter (PICC)
Page 2 of 2

| c.

| D.

10.  Exit the room upon request of the technologist to avoid any exposure to radiation. Technologist
will give a 10 second warning announcement.

11.  After imaging is complete, disconnect the power injection tubing.

12.  Flush the Power PICC with 10 mL of sterile normal saline, using a 10 mL or larger syringe.

13.  Resume previous |V fluids or clamp unused port.

RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1. Infection Control Policy 1C8 Hand Hygiene

2. Patient Care Services Central Venous Access Procedure

REFERENCE(S):
1. Angiodynamics, Inc. Morpheus CT PICC Insertion Kit,

http:/fwww.angiodynamics.com/products/morpheus-smart-picc2014.
2. Bard Access Systems Power PICC. Polyurethane Radiology Catheters with Microintroducer
Set, Instructions for Use. http://powerpicc.com/clinician-info.php 2014

58



(@) Tri-City Medical Center

QOceanside, California

Administrative Policy
Patient Care

ISSUE DATE: NEW SUBJECT: Non-Beneficial Treatment
REVISION DATE(S): POLICY NUMBER: 8610-399
Department Approval: 02/18

Administrative Policies and Procedures Committee Approval: 02/18

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 03118

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:

1. The purpose of this policy is to outline a process for physicians to follow when a patient or
his/her designated decision maker has requested treatment that in the best judgment of the
patient’s physician is non-beneficial in compliance with the relevant California statutes regarding
health care decisions.

B. POLICY:

1. Tri-City Medical-CenterHealthcare District and physicians of the Fri-Gity-Medical
CenterTCHD's Medical Staff are not obligated to provide a patient with medical treatment that,
in the physician's best judgment, will not be beneficial. This policy applies to all patients
regardless of race, color, national origin, religion, disability, age, sex, marital/familial status,
socioeconomic status or sexual orientation. Disagreements concerning this issue between
doctors, patients, family members, surrogates, conservators, nurses and other health care
personnel will be addressed in the following manner:

a. Preempt conflict. Attempt to promote understanding among the involved parties in
advance.

b. Negotiate solutions to disagreements using available hospital resources including the
Ethics Committee, palliative care services, and chaplaincy services.

c. An effort should be made to contact the patient's outpatient primary care physician if
available.

d. If disagreement persists, seek consultation from another physician.

e. If the consulting physician disagrees with the attending physician, consider transfer of
the patient’s care to another physician.

f. If both physicians agree, but there is still disagreement with the patient, family,
conservator, or surrogate, consultation from the hospital Ethics Committee should be
requested.

g. If the Ethics Committee review disagrees with the recommendation of the two

physicians, help with transfer of the patient to another physician or institution should be
provided. Until such transfer can occur, the current physician remains ethically and
legally responsible for the care of the patient.

h. If the Ethics Committee review concludes that the proposed treatments are non-
beneficial but there is still failure to reach consensus with the patient, family,
conservator, or surrogate, the following steps should be taken:

i. Risk Management and Administration of the hospital must be notified.
1) Inform the patient or designated decision maker of the decision of the
medical team. Document this discussion in the patient's health record.

59



Administrative Policy — Patient Care
Non-Beneficial Treatment
Page 2of 3

2) The patient or the designated health care decision maker for the patient
should be promptly notified in writing that the non-beneficial treatment will
not be provided. A letter must be issued to the patient or designated
health care decision maker on hospital stationery and signed by the
patient's Attending Physician and the hospital's Chief Medical Executive,
or their designees, documenting this decision. The letter will be hand
delivered, if possible.-2

ii. Discuss the option of transfer to an appropriate care setting. It is the
responsibility of the patient, family, conservator, or surrogate to find an
acceptable medical practitioner or institution and arrange the transfer of the
patient. Reasonable efforts will be made to assist in the transfer of the patient.

ii. Recognize the opportunity of the patient or designated decision maker to seek a
judicial mandate to continue the treatments in question. Continuing care will be
provided to the patient until a transfer can be accomplished or it appears that
transfer cannot be accomplished. No new treatment, which has been determined
to be non-beneficial, will be initiated unless court ordered.

i. If the patient has not been transferred or a judicial mandate has not been issued within a
| reasonable period of time, not to exceed ten (10) days from the issuance of the letter,
the treatment in question may be withheld or withdrawn.

C. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

1. Non-Beneficial Treatment Patient Letter

| &D. REFERENCE(S):
1. California Probate Code sections 4735, 4736 and 4740

60



Administrative Policy — Patient Care
Non-Beneficial Treatmeant

Page 30f 3
S
Tri-City Medical Center
ADVANCED HeaLTH CARE..FOR Y@U
To:
[Name of patient/surrogate]
[Address]
[Date]

Re: Medical care of patient, [Name and MRN] at Tri-City Healthcare District

Dear [Name of patient/Surrogate],

We have been caring for your [relationship to patient], [Patient's Name], during his/her current hospitalization at
Tri-City Healthcare District. We have been asked by you to provide treatiments for [Patient's Name] which
includes treatments like [Name each treatment deemed to be non-beneficial]. We understand why you are
requesting this care and have carefully considered your reasons for requesting this care.

Our goal in caring for our patients is to provide them with medical treatments most appropriate for their
condition. We have consulted with our colleagues and we have evaluated the potential outcomes of the
treatment requested. We have alsc consulted our hospital ethics commitiee and they agree that the treatments
mentioned above would not be beneficial to [Patient's Name] and would not be appropriate. After careful
review and discussion, we do not believe that the requested treatments would be beneficial under the
circumstances.

We are providing you with this written notice of our decision in compliance with the hospital's policy and the
California Probate Code that addresses requests for medical treatments which physicians believe are non-
beneficial. We have also asked our Chief Medical Executive to sign this letter. He has reviewed this matter and
his signature indicates the hospital’s support of our decision.

We recognize that making treatment decisions for gravely ill persons is challenging for everyone involved. If
you disagree with our decision, you may seek out another physician and institution willing to accept [Patient's
Name} for transfer and provide the care you are seeking. Although you are responsible for locating alternative
providers, we will make reasonable efforts to assist you. You may also seek a court order that directs our
hospital to continue the treatment in question. You must carry out these alternatives within 1 - 10 days of this
notice. After that time, we will not continue to provide the non-beneficial treatments.

We do recognize how difficult this time is for the patient, clinicians, and family. We will continue to provide the
current medical treatment to [Patient's Name), and continue to work with you to develop a mutually acceptable
plan of care.

Sincerely,

[Name], MD [Name], MD Attending Physician Chief Medical Executive

Tri-City Medical Center | 4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 | 760.724.8411 | www.tricitymed.org

61



@) Tri-City Medical Center | DELETE ~ incorporated into
Oceanside, California Patient Care Services Policy:

Discharge of Patients and

Behavioral Health Services Discharge Against Medical Advice

Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit{ (AMA)

Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: AMA Discharges

POLICY NUMBER: 100

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/4603/18
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nfa
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: nia
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nia

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:




Behavioral Health Services
AMA Discharges
Page 2 of 2

| AMA-Discharges

63



@) Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Managing the Medical Record When-afor BHU Patient Gees-tein the Emergency

Department-for Freatment-While Hospitalized
POLICY NUMBER: 303

ISSUE DATE: 03/08
REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

| Department Approval: 06/1609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A PURPOSE:

1. To provide continuity in the medical record.
B. POLICY:
1. Patients who require emergency medical interventions while hospitalized on the Inpatient

Behavioral Health Unit (BHU) will not be discharged from the unit.

| C.  PROCEDURE:
1. When a nurse is concerned about the condition of a patient or feels that a patient needs
immediate intervention, they will contact the operator by dialing “66.” The operator will announce
“Rapid Response Team to Room..."” three (3) times overhead. Once notified, the Rapid
Response Team (RRT) member wnll snmultaneously respond to that roomllocatlon Wllhll"l f‘ ive
(5) minutes. 2 zas-s A=Fapid-+ 2RF-E

ConditionHelp-(H}]

2, When an individual who is being treated on the inpatient-Behaviera-Health-UnitBHU develops a
medical symptom or complaint the nurse will assess the need for immediacy in addressing that
symptom or complaint and will report the results of that assessment to the attending psychiatrist
and hospitalist.

a. If possible, a consultation wil! be initiated for the physician/Allied Health Professional
(AHP) specialty that addresses the presenting complaint or to the internist who
performed the initial history and physical examination.

b. When the condition is emergent or potentially emergent, the nurse will ensure that the
patient is transported to the Emergency Department (ED) for immediate intervention.

i The attending psychiatrist and hospitalist will be notified.

ii. The Emergency-deparmentED will be notified and given clinical information.

iii. A staff member from the BHU will accompany the patient by either wheelchair or
stretcher as the condition warrants.

iv. A Security staff member may accompany the patient and staff member if it is
clinically indicated.

V. The BHU record will be sent with the patient.

3. The patient will not be discharged from the Behavieral-Health-UnitBHU.

4, The patient will be issued a new encounter for the emergerey-departmentED visit to allow that
patient to be entered into the Firstnet system.

64



Behaviecral Health Services Inpatient
Managing the Medical Record for BHU Patient in the Emergency Depariment
Page 2 of 2

5. When the patient returns to the BHU, the original encounter remains intact and the Emergeney
BepartmentED encounter wili be discharged. The patient's BHU medical record will be returned
to the BHU with the patient.

6. The accounts will be combined at the time of patient discharge.

1. If the patient is sent; from the Emergency-DepartmenrtED: to a medical or surgical unit for
treatment of the complaint, the patient will be discharged from the BHU.

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

81. Patient Care Services Policy: Rapid Response Team and Condition Help

65



& ri-city Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Notification of Medi-Cal Beneficiary of Denial of Benefits
POLICY NUMBER: 103

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/4609/17

Division of Psychiatry Approval: nfa

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: nia

Medical Executive Committee Approval: nfa

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

D.

PURPOSE:

1.

To ensure that all Medi-Cal beneficiaries are notified in a manner consistent with CCR, Title 9,
Chapter 11, Section 1850.210 when the Point of Authorization (United Behavioral Health: UBH)
denies continued inpatient hospitalization services to the beneficiary by the Mental Health
Provider (MHP), i.e. Tri-City Medical-GenterHealth Care District {TCHD) Behavioral Health
Services (BHS).

POLICY:

1.

When it becomes known, through the continued stay utilization review process, that payment for
continued stay on the Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit (BHU), known herein as the Menrtal-Health
Rrovider-{MHP) has been denied, the Utilization Review Manager will notify the Medi-Cal
beneficiary of the action and of his/her right to appeal the payment decision and will discuss the
beneficiary’s rights to appeal.

PROCEDURE:

1.

A fax will be sent from UBH to the MHP indicating that further treatment days will be denied.

2. The Utilization Review Manager will discuss the faxed information with the patient. The Notice of

Action includes:

a. The reason the mental necessity criteria was not met.

b. The beneficiary's options for obtaining care outside of the MHP, if applicable.

c. The beneficiary's right to request a second opinion on the determination.

d. The beneficiary’s right to file 2 complaint or grievance with the MHP.

e. The beneficiary’s right to a fair hearing including the method by which a hearing may be
obtained and information that describes that the beneficiary may be either sel
roprosentedself-represented or be represented by an authorized third party such as legal
counsel, relative, friend or another person, as well as the time limits for requesting a fair
hearing.

REFERENCE(S):
£1. CCR, Title 9, Chapter 11, Section 1850.210

66



&)
(@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabhilization Unit

SUBJECT: Notification of Responsible Persons

POLICY NUMBER: 710

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06H1609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nla
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A PURPOSE:
1. To ensure that appropriate notification will occur if/iwhen a patient experiences a significant
change in physical or mental status while hospitalized ines the Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
(BHU); or the Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU).

B. POLICY:
1. In the event that a patient experiences a significant change in either physical or mental status,
appropriate notification will occur in accordance with patient consent and all HIPAA regulatory
standards.

C. PROCEDURE:
1. When a patient experiences an acute or serious change in physical status the following
individuals will be notified:
a. The attending Psychiatrist
b. Attending medical desterphysician/Allied Health Professional (AHP) if one has been

identified
c. Immediate family or legal conservator
d. Program Manager
2. When a patient experiences an acute or serious change in mental status the following

individuals will be notified:
a. The attending Psychiatrist

b. Immediate family or legal conservator
c. Program Manager
3. In the event that the patient is relocated to another unit within the hospital or to another facility,

the patient's family and or legal conservator is notified.

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S}:

1. Behavioral Health Services Policy: Confidentiality
42, Behavioral Health Services Policy: Family Involvement in Treatment



@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: One to One Observation of Patients

POLICY NUMBER: 711

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 9614609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: ni/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nia

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A

PURPOSE:

1. To provide guidelines for intensive patient monitoring to assure the safety of the patient and the
environment.

POLICY:

1. When a patient displays behavior that places his safety, the safety of others, or the safety of the
environment in immediate risk, the patient will be closely observed by a clinical staff member
who will be assigned specifically to provide that monitoring.

PROCEDURE:
1. Criteria for assigning one-to-one supervision:
a. The patient has expressed intent to inflict serious injury to him/herself in the immediate

future, is unable to contract for safety, and is unable to adequately control impulses to
carry out the intent such that every 15 minutes (Q-15)-mirute checks do not assure his
or her safety.

b. The patient has displayed behavior either immediately prior to admission or while on the
unit that is indicative of his or her intent to inflict serious injury to self.
(e The patient has expressed intent to inflict serious injury on another or others in the milieu

and may not be able to control impulses to carry out the intent such that Q-15 mirute
checks to do assure his or her safety.

d The patient has displayed behavior, either immediately prior to admission or while on the
unit, that is indicative of intent to harm others and/or the patient has displayed or is
reported to have recently displayed poor control of impulses to act on this intent.

e. The patient's reality testing or level of symptoms is such that he or she has been
determined to be at risk for acting out in a manner that puts the environment at serious
risk.

f. The patient has a medical condition that puts him or her at immediate high risk for falls
such that it is not safe to leave the patient unattended.

a. The patient has a medica! condition (such as dressings, open wounds, etc.) that would

put that patient or others in the environment at risk if the patient was unable to comply
with treatment, and it has been determined that Q-15 mirute-checks do not assure his or
her safety or protection.

h. The patient placed is-ion four-limb restraints.

68



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
One to One Observation of Patients

Page 2 of 3

2.

45,

6-7.

&9,

a-10.

211.

1012,

When it becomes necessary to assign the patient to one-to-one supervision the registered

nurse (RN) and/or Psychiatrist will explain the nature and purpose of this level of observation to

the patient/family and answer questions as indicated.

When a patient is placed on one-to-one supervision, the patient will be restricted to the

Behavioral Health Unit (BHU) except to receive emergency medical care.

3-a. [f the patient must leave the unit, a member of the BHU clinical staff and a Security
Officer will escort the patient.

The patient will continue to exercise all patient rights (i.e. clothing, visitors, telephone) while on

one-to-one supervision unless there are indications specific to each right to impose a limitation.

A registered-nurseRN may initiate one-to one observation when, in his or her judgment, it is

clinically warranted to assure the safety of the patient or the environment. After doing so, the RN

will obtain a written physician order for this level of observation as soon as is practicable.

The Psychiatrist will be responsible for writing an order to discontinue one-to-one observation

when, in his or her clinical judgment, the reason for initiating this level of supervision no longer

exists. A registered-nurseRN may not discontinue one-to-one supervision without a physician

order.

The staff member who is assigned to provide one-to-one supervision will not have an additional

clinical assngnment and will be expected to provnde observatlon and care to only one patlent

contact the Assnsted Nurse Manager (ANM)ICharge RN en the unit so proper
coverage can be obtained during your absence.

b. The staff member will not leave the assignment until a relief person presents him or
herself to take over.
c. All clinical staff who provide one-to-one cbservation will possess the necessary

competencies to adequately provide this level of care inciuding but not limited to:
i Knowledge of indicators for suicidal risk

i Knowledge of indicators for elopement risk

ii. Knowledge of indicators of escalation of aggression

iv. Verbal de-escalation skills
v, Restraint and seclusion
vi. Therapeutic communication skills

The staff member who is assigned to provide one-to-one observation will remain at close
proximity (arm's length) to the patient at all times. This includes:
a. Bathing and toileting

b. Meals
C. Smoking breaks
d. Sleep

The assigned staff member wull deeement—glve report of mgnlf cant observatlons about the

pursesato assngned RN

Information may include approaches that have been helpful, triggers, patient preferences,
patient concerns, and observations that will assist others to better understand and treat the
patient.

The staff member who is assigned to provide one-to-one observation will interact with the
patient in a therapeutic manner and will refrain from engaging in personal conversation, reading,
use of cellular phones, watching television, or other activities that might provide a distraction
from the intent of the assignment-.

The Registered-NurseRN assigned to the patient’s care will assess the patient's condition
throughout the shift and provide professional nursing care as indicated.

69



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
One to One Observation of Patients

Page 30of 3

H=13,

1214,

The Registered-NurseRN assigned to the patient's care will include documentation in the clinical
record that addresses the patient's behavior as it relates to the need for one-to-one supervision,
the patient's response to this level of supervision, and other available clinical data that supports
the need for continued supervision at this level or indicates the patient's safety may be assured
at a less restrictive level of supervision, i.e. Q-15-minute checks.

One-to-one observation, because of its restrictive nature, will be discontinued as soon as the
attending psychiatrist, with input from clinical staff, determines that the patient's safety can be
assured with Q-15-miaute monitoring. Once discontinued, one-to-one supervision may be
resumed if clinical justification exists. If it is resumed by the RN, he or she will obtain a new
physician order for this level of observation as soon as is practicable.

70



o
@) Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES

DELETE- Duplicate Policy
of Inpatient Behavioral
Health Services: One-to-
One Observation of
Patients

SUBJECT: One to One Patient Supervision
POLICY NUMBER: 6340-015

ISSUE DATE: 5/83
REVISION DATE(S): 7/85, 4/87, 5/91, 8/94, 5/97 6/99, 3/00,
4/03, 12/04, 4/05, 3/13

Department Approval: 097
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

71



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Orientation of New Patients

POLICY NUMBER: 712

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/4609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A PURPOSE:

1. To identify the process of patient orientation to the linpatient psyehiatris-Behavioral Health

uUnit (BHU).
B. POLICY:

1. Each patient will receive an orientation to the Inpatient Behavieral-Health-UnitBHU by the
admitting Registered Nurse (RN) or designee. Orientation information will be presented in a
manner that maximizes the patient’s understanding of the information.

2. Orientation information will be presented in both verbal and written formats.

C. PROCEDURE:

1. Each patient who is admitted to the-unitBHU will be given a copy of the Unit Rules with the
instruction that they are expected to read them and ask for clarification if there are items they do
not understand. Rules will be briefly reviewed with the patient.

2. Patients will be given a tour of the unit including smeking-areas;-their room, day room, dining
room and other common areas. They will be oriented to the use of the laundry, telephone, and
shown where information is located regarding patient rights, patient grievances, interpreters,
daily therapy schedule, nurse assignment and community resource information.

3. Patients will be informed of visiting hours,-ard where visitors may and may not visit, and what
visitors may and may not bring.

4, Patients will be shown where their belongings will be kept and how they are to request access
to them. They will be told what items they may and may not keep with them.

5. Patients will be informed about how and where to procure clean linen and to dispose of used
linens.

6. Patients will be informed of their rights and responsibilities and voluntary patients will be asked
to sign consent forms at the time of admission.

7. Patients will be introduced to other staff and to other patients.

8. Each patient's orientation will be adapted to the patient’s clinical presentation. When the

patient’'s symptoms are of such severity that it is deemed either unsafe or impractical to orient
the patient, the orientation will be given as soon as the patient's condition is such that it is
deemed safe and practical.

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

1.

Behavioral Health Services Policy: Patient Belongings

72



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient

Orientation of New Patients
Page 2 of 2
2. Behavioral Health Services Policy Patient Responsibilities

8:3. Behavioral Health Services Policy: Patient Rights
18:4. Behavioral Health Services Policy: Consent Related to Mental Health Treatment

| Orientation-of-New-Ratients

73



-
(G’) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Pastoral Care

POLICY NUMBER: 713

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 064809/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval; n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A PURPOSE:

1.

To define availability of pastoral care, religious consultation and education to patients.

B. POLICY:

1.

Recognizing that spiritual values and issues may affect patient response to treatment, patients
will have access to clergy while they are hospitalized on the linpatient Behavioral Health Unit
(BHU) or Crisis Stabilization Unit {CSU).

C. PROCEDURE:

1.
2.

3.

Patients’ spiritual needs are assessed as part of the Psychosocial Assessment.

Identified problems are discussed in the Interdisciplinary Treatment Planning meeting and a
plan is developed to address identified problems.

When a patient requests pastoral assistance or consultation the program staff will contact the
Chaplain’s office to arrange for such consultation.

The patient may contact a clergy person of his or her choice to visit during the hospitalization.
If clergy visits the patient, private space will be provided to accommodate the consultation. The
patient may visit with clergy outside of regularly scheduled visiting hours with prior approval by
the attending psychiatrist.

Staff will maintain a supportive and unbiased relationship with patients regarding religious
issues and patients’ secular needs will be referred to clergy.

74



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Patient Belongings
POLICY NUMBER: 402
ISSUE DATE: 03/08
REVISION DATE(S): 06/11, 03/13
Department Approval: 061460917
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nfa
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
| Medical Executive Committee Approval: nfa

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

I A PURPOSE:

1. In order to provide and maintain a safe and secure environment for all patients and hospital
personnel, a patient's personal belongings/room may be searched for dangerous objects and/or
drugs. Patients are requested to be present during the search of their personal
belongings/room.

B. DEFINITION(S):

1. Contraband: for the purpose of this policy, contraband is defined as materials or articles not
authorized to remain in the possession of patients while admitted to Tri-City Healthcare
District (TCMGHD). Contraband includes, but may not be limited to:

a. Weapons (firearms, knives or other objects that are easily used or adapted to cause
personal injury, including any item identified as a weapon in the Galifornia-Cal. Penal
Code § 12276 that might be used as weapons).

b. Recording devices, cell phones, and cameras.

a:c. Alcohol, cigarettes and other tobacco products, illicit drugs or Food and Drug
Administration (FDA)- approved drugs, and any other unauthorized substances meant
to be inhaled, ingested or taken into the body and not prescribed or permitted by the
patient's physician{s)/Allied Health Professional {AHP) for use while the patient is
under the care of the facility
i. Nete:-Medication permitted under policy Patient Care Services Policy:-NM-DB—

“Medications Brought in by the Patient= are not contraband when handled in

accordance with that policy.

1)  Patients will be encouraged to send all medications home with a family
member.

ii2)  Other medications will be sent to pharmacy for safe-keeping. A list will be
kept in the patient's medical record and the medications will be returned
to the patient at the time of discharge from the unit.

] ii-3) Patients will be informed that illicit drugs will not be returned to them upon

discharge if taken into possession by the hospital. Security will be notified

for proper disposal

75



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
Patient Belongings

Paga20of 5

34,

e-d. Drug paraphernalia as defined in §Section 863 of Title 21 of the United States Code,
which includes equipments or materials of any kind meant for use in planting, growing,
harvesting, manufacturing, compounding, producing, processing, preparing, packaging,
storing, containing, concealing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing
into the human body a controlled substance.

lllegal Contraband: for the purposes of this policy, illegal contraband is defined as that subset of

materials or articles that meet the definition of contraband, above, and addition, are normally

illegal for individuals to possess or use in public places under the laws of the United States
and/or California.

Restricted Items: restricted items or other items in addition to contraband which could be used

for injury to self or others and are, therefore, not allowed to be in the possession of patients on a

locked unit. Some examples include: scissors, glass items, drug paraphernalia, blades or safety

razors, aerosol cans, mirrors, ropes, shoe laces, soda cans, model glue, plastic bags,
unpackaged food and silverware. Other items may be considered restricted at the discretion of
the staff.

Safety Assessment: a procedure, not involving a search of the person by which an attempt is

made to find potentially harmful objects and restrict them from the unit milieu.

C. POLICY:

1.

Patients are entitled to receive, possess, and use personal property while hospitalized, under
the conditions and exceptions set forth in this policy. TCMGHD Behavioral Health Unit {(BHU}) is
committed to maintaining a safe and therapeutic environment for patients, visitors, and staff.
Possession of contraband, as defined above, by patients, and visitors is not authorized while on
TCMGHD In-patient BHU premises.

On the BHU, patients and visitors will be informed through some combination of verbal
instruction, written materials and posted signs of unit rules regarding articles which may not be
held in their possession.

If contraband is noted anywhere on the BHU, employees are authorized to take appropriate
action to secure the items. Security is available to assist as necessary with materials or articles
suspected to be lllegal Contraband. Security will secure the items and will be responsible for
seeing that items of lllegal Contraband are turned over to local law enforcement authorities.
Articles of contraband that are not lllegal contraband will be retained by TCMEHD security

pursuant to Security Policy: 232 Property CustodyTGCME-pelisies-applicable-to-patient
valuables-(Administrative-Rolicy-Manual-Rolicy 8640-2173,

D. PROCEDURE:

1.

Clothing and Personal ltems:

-a. On admission, all patients will be informed of the reason and rationale for inspecting
personal property, and the prohibition of specific items that are not allowed on the
RICUBHU-and-main-unit{both-locked).

izb.  On admission each patient’s belongings will be searched and inventoried; in the
presence of the patient or witnessed by another staff member if the patient is unable to
be present.

fi=c,  All patients will be transported from the Emergency Department (ED) to the BHU in a
hospital gown and will have their clothing searched in the ED for contraband or restricted
items, prior to entering the BHU.

id. All patients who are admitted directly to the-unitBHU and who arrive in street clothing will
be asked to change into a hospital gown in a private room, and will have their clothing
searched for contraband or restricted items.

v.e. Staff will check patient luggage, bags, billfolds and/or purses for contraband or restricted
itemsrestricted items.

vif.  Each patient will have a closet/locker in his or her room for the storage of clothing and
some personal belongings.



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
Patient Belongings

Page 3of 5

Certain personal property will not be kept in patient rooms because of their potential for
inducing injury. Secure storage will be provided for each patient with his/her name on it
for the safe keeping of belongings that are not permitied in patient rooms. Contents will
include items that will be collected after their use and those for which the patient may
require one to one supervision during their use.

Patients will have access to the times at 0800 hours each day

Patients may use the articles from their storage with supervision or independently as is
clinically indicated.

The patient will be permitted to inspect personal property at reasonable times.
Examples of items kept in secured storage include the following:

4i.  All glass items including, but not limited to, mirrors, perfume, and make-up

bottles.

ii. Any clothing with drawstrings: sweatpants, running shorts, hoodies,
pajamas, etc.

fii. Tobacco items, lighters, or matches.

Ziv. Razor blades and non-electric razors. (Disposable razors are supplied by the unit
and thelr-use is supervised)

3.v. Battery operated or cordless electric razors.

4vi. Belts, neckties, scarves, long jewelry, pins.

&.vii. Nail files, metal combs, metal hair picks, necklaces.

6-viii. Needlework equipment, long strands of yarn, needles, knitting needles, crochet
hooks.

Fix. Certain projects made in craft's groups.

&x. Spray cans (hairspray).

&:xi. Toxic substances such as hair dye or permanent wave solutions.

43-xti. Pencil and make up sharpeners.

H-xtiii. Plastic bags.

J2xiv. Recording devices, pagers, cell phones, cameras.

43-xv. Money in excess of ten dollar ($10), checkbooks, credit cards.

A4-xvi. Walkman, earphones, headphones (with supervision)

35 xvii. Other items that, in the nurse’s judgment, should not be kept in the
patient's room.

When personal items are taken into possession by the hospital, the patient and a designated

individual are provided a copy of the “Receipt-{orBelongings-taken-into-Rossession“Property

Custody Record form that IIStS these items. A copy of this form is to be placed on the medlcal

The items will all be returned to the patient at the time of discharge.
Whenever possible, items that will not be used during the hospital stay will be sent home
with the patient’s family.

Food items will not be allowed in patient rooms due to the possibility of insect infestation.
Dietary trays will be permitted in the dining room and patio. Dietary trays are to contain
plastic-ware only, excluding plastic knives. Plastic forks will be given out, upon request,
and collected by staff after meals

No beverages with caffeine will be permitted erthe-unit-except with a wntten order by
the physicianfAHP.

The kitchen will be kept locked when not in use.

Snacks will be available between meals and-in-the-evening-at scheduled times.

No cans will be permitted on the unit.



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
Patient Belongings
Page 4 of §

4, If the patient refuses {o have contraband or restricted items placed in secure storage-perFGMG
BHU-pelicy, the Registered Nurse (RN) will implement a denial of rights per the Behavioral
health Servicespatientrights Policy:-(BHU-6340-614) Patient Rights.

4:5. The MBphysician/AHP or RN will write an order in the patient’'s medical record documenting
the item removed from the patient and the circumstance requiring removal of the item, i.e.
patient may not have belt on the unit due to active suicidal ideation.

8-6. The denial of right order to remove patient’s clothing or belongings must be reviewed on a daily
basis by the RN and the treatment team and will be removed when the circumstances that
justified the denial of right cease to exist.

6-7. In accordance with Cal.iferria Code Title 9 § 865.1 the notification of the removal of rights must
address the following:

.2, Date and time the right was denied

sb. Specific right denied

sC. Good cause for the denial of right

od. Date of review if denial was extended beyond 30 days

e, Signature of the professional person in charge of the facility or his designee authorizing
the denial of right

8. The notification can be done at admission by MBphysician/AHP or RN, as designated by the
professional person in charge of the facility.

8:9. The RN will document the denial of right in the patient’s electronic medical record (Cerner ad
hoc form}, and on the Patients’ Rights Denial- Monthly Tally hard copy form placed in the back
of the medical record.

8:10. The following items must be inventoried and checked in by staff, but may be retained by the
patient with complete responsibility for safeguarding his or her valuables:

-a.  Toothbrushes, toothpaste tubes, and other non-medication tubes of similar kind.

iizb. Combs, hairbrushes, rollers

iic. Emery boards, lipstick, mascara and eye shadow that are not in containers with glass
mirrors

b=d. Wallets, and personal papers

ve. Jewelry except long or heavy necklaces or pins

vi-f.  Eyeglasses and saline solution for contact lenses

g. Other items that, in the nurse’s judgment will not be injurious to the patient or to other
patients on the unit.

E. FORM(S):
viiz1. Property Custody Record

F. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1. Administrative Policy: 217 Disposal of Drugs and Drug Paraphernalia

viii-2. Behavioral health Services Policy: Patient Rights
3. Patient Care Services Policy: Medications Brought in by the Patient
4. Security Policy: 232 Property Custody

E-G. REFERENCE S):
21. Cal. Code Reg. Title 9 § 865.1
2. Cal. Penal Code § 12276
3. Consent Manual: The Industry Resource for Consent and Related Health Care Law, 38" Ed.,
2011.
4, Drug Paraphernalia Title 21 U.S. Code § 863

74



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
Patient Belongings

Page Sof 5
Property Custody Record
Tri-City Medical Center
Security Department
Property Custody Record

Notice to Property Owner: Upon release from the Tri-City Medical Center it will be your

responsibility to make amangements to pick up the hereon-isted items from the Security
Department. Any items not picked up within thirty(30) days will be destroyed.

Officer Receiving Property. Dete Received: Time Received:
Property Received from: Location / Reason Property Obtained:
q Owner:
¢ Other:
¢ Property Received for Safekeeping
tem# | Qfy | Description / Condition: SN/ Tag#
Property Disposition:

q Property Relurned to Owner

g Property Returned to Other Reason:
g Property Destroyed After Thirty(30) Days

q Property Destroyed Before Thirty(30) Days Reason:

Property Returned By: Property Received By:
Officer: Badge: Date: Signature; Dete:
White: Security Department - Yellow: Persen Receiving Property - Pink: Receipt

T



F"
‘C‘D Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Patient Discharge Types

POLICY NUMBER: 704

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/4609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nfa
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A

PURPOSE:

1.

To establish guidelines for the determination of discharge criteria and their application to the
discharge process.

POLICY:

1.

Each individual receiving treatment will be evaluated by applying established severity of illness
criteria and in accordance with standards for clinical pertinence. Discharges from the inpatient
unit may be of either a clinical or administrative nature. All administrative discharges must be
approved by the attending psychiatrist and will be reviewed by the program director.

PROCEDURE:

1.

A patient may be discharged from treatment when it is determined that those goals defined in
the treatment plan have been successfully achieved and the patient no longer meets the
severity of illness continued stay criteria for the inpatient level of service.

a. The treatment team will meet daily to discuss the patient’s progress toward goal
achievement. Each specific patient’s treatment plan will be reviewed at least once every
week and more frequently as is clinically indicated.

b. The discharge planners will actively work with patients and their support systems to
formulate a viable discharge plan that will be enacted when treatment goals in the
inpatient level of service have been met.

A patient may be discharged from treatment when, based upon clinical presentation, it is

determined that another level of service would better meet the patient's needs.

A voluntary patient may be discharged if they are unable or unwilling to continue in treatment.

a. When a patient requests a discharge against medical advice the clinical staff will attempt
to ascertain the patient’s reason for wanting to leave the program and will encourage the
patient to complete his or her course of treatment.

b. The attending psychiatrist will be notified when a patient requests to leave the program
against medical advice.

c. When a patient requests an Against Medical Advice (AMA) discharge, the clinical staff
will continue to work with the patient to assure the best possible discharge plan that
includes medications and an appointment for follow-up treatment.

d. When a voluntary patient asks to leave the program and, in the opinion of the clinical
staff, that patient is assessed to be either a danger to self or others, or unable to provide
for basic needs, {(gravely disabled); the patient may be placed on a 72-hour hold for



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient

Patient Discharge Types
Page 2 of 2
e.
4.

D.

further assessment. When this occurs, all applicable forms and advisements will be
completed in accordance to the Patient Care Services Policy: =72~ Hour Holds,
Evaluation and Treatment of the Involuntary Patient.”

In the event a patient is placed on a 72-hour hold, the patient will be informed of the
reason(s) he/she will not be permitted to leave the unit.

A patient may be discharged or transferred to another unit or facility if, during the course of
treatment they meet exclusionary criteria and therefore present a great health risk to self, other
patients, or staff by their continued presence.

a.

When a patient develops an acute medical or surgical condition while on the inpatient
psychiatric unit, a medical consult will be completed and the patient may be discharged
from the program and admitted to an appropriate medical/surgical unit within the
hospital.

When an emergent medical or surgical condition occurs, the patient may be transported

to the Emergency Department (ED) for immediate evaluation, treatment, and/or

disposition.

i In this event, the BHU medical record is kept active until such time as it is
ascertained that the patient will not immediately return to the Inpatient psyehiatrie
uritBHU.

iii. {If a BHU patient is taken to the Emergercy-PeparmentED for assessment, is
treated, and returns to the BHU, the original BHU record is continued since it is
not necessary that the patient is discharged and readmitted to the unit.}

RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1.

Patient Care Services Policy: 72 Hour Hold, Evaluation and Treatment of the Involuntary
Patient



@ Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Patient Responsibilities

POLICY NUMBER: 513

ISSUE DATE: 3/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 09/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nfa
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 03/13
Board of Directors Approval: 0313

A PURPOSE:
In order to provide safe delivery of care, treatment, and services, the Behavioral Health Unit
{(BHU) is entitled to reasonable behavior on the part of patients, within their capabilities, and

1.
their families.
B. POLICY:
1.
2.

It is the policy of BHU to assure each patient is a partner in the health care process as
appropriate to his or her abilities.

Upon admission, each patient will be given a copy of the Unit Rules and Patient
Responsibilities. The Patient Responsibilities are listed below:

a. As a patient of the BHU, you have the responsibility to:

vil.

viil.

Provide accurate information. To the best of your knowledge, accurate and
complete information about present complaints, past illnesses, hospitalizations,
medications must be provided. You also must report perceived risks in your care
and unexpected changes in your condition.

Ask questions. When you do not understand your care, treatment, and service, or
what you are expected to do, you must ask questions.

Follow instructions. You must follow the care, treatment, and service developed.
Express any concems about your ability to follow the proposed care plan.
Accept consequences. You are responsible for the outcomes if you do nof follow
the plan of care, treatment, or service.

Follow the rules.

Participate to the best of your ability in the unit groups and activities. Becoming
involved in the therapeutic milieu and mingling with your peers is part of
recovery.

Report to a staff member immediately if you feel unsafe or if you feel you might
harm yourself, another patient, or a staff member.

Show respect and consideration. You must be considerate of the BHU staff and
property, as well as other patients and their property.

Meet your financial commitments. You should promptly meet any financial
obligation agreed to with the hospital.



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
Patient Responsibilities

Page 2 of 2
| C.  PROCEDURE:
1. The Clinical Staff will be responsible for interpreting patients’ responsibilities to them and for
assisting patients to meet their responsibilities to the best of their ability.
2. Additional information on patient rights and patient responsibilities will be made available to

patients upon request.



@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Patient Satisfaction Surveys
POLICY NUMBER: 106

| ISSUE DATE: 03/08, 03/13
REVISION DATE(S):
Department Approval: 06/1609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: nfa
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nfa

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:
1. To maintain high quality and consumer responsive care for patients through the application of
feedback obtained through the use of patient satisfaction surveys.

B. POLICY:
1. Patient satisfaction surveys will be conducted at the time of the patient discharge using valid
sampling standards.

C. PROCEDURE:
1. A written satisfaction survey will be made available to all patients ai-the-tirme-efprior to their

discharge from the inpatientBehavioral Health Unit (BHU) or Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU).

2. Surveys will be deposited and kept in a secured locked box such that patient confidentiality is
maintained.

3. Results of the survey process will be aggregated monthly and shared at monthly staff
meetings.

4, The Clinical Nurse Manager will review patlent satisfaction survey results and |dent|fy
areas for |mprovement thatand the he-m : anda

smplement a performance |mprovernent mitlatlve that addresses the area(s) of concern.

8:



~
(@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Psychiatric Advance Directive

POLICY NUMBER: 719

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/1609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: ni/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nia

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A

PURPOSE:

1. To provide opportunities for patients to have input into the treatment they will receive if they
require emergency psychiatric interventions related to out-of-control or aggressive behaviors.

2. To ensure that patients’ physical disability and history of abuse are considered when
interventions are enacted in response to aggressive behaviors.

POLICY:

1. Upon admission, or as soon thereafter as possible, each patient will be asked to provide

information about situations that may cause their behavior to escalate, their preferences for
intervention shouid escalation occur and any factors that may help the clinical staff determine
the safest and most humane manner in which to respond to problematic behaviors.

PROCEDURE:

1. All clinical staff will be required to attend an eight (8) hour course on Nron-vViolent physisal
eCrisis lintervention for tthe purpose of gaining an understanding of the cycle of aggression,
verbal de-escalation interventions, and the team approach for managing out of control
aggressive or destructive patient behaviors. The class must be completed upon hire, and every
year for a four (4) hour renewal course, thereafter. In alternate years the clinical staff will
complete a NetLearning module to independently review the course material.

2. Upon admission, as part of the Initial Nursing Assessment, the patient will be asked questions to

ascertain the following information:

a. History of physical or sexual abuse or trauma

b. Physical or medical limitations or co-morbidities

c. Events or situations that have caused him or her to become angry, agitated, or violent in
the past (triggers)

d. De-escalation technigues that have been successful in reestablishing control and calm in
the past

e. Preferences for interventions, e.g. quiet time in patient’s room, space to pace outside,

early use of prn (as needed) medication, use of the quiet room for brief periods, shower,
phone call to family member, etc.
g8 The information obtained in this assessment will become part of the patient's treatment plan and
preferences will be taken into consideration in the event the patient experiences an escalation of
aggression.

8!



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Release of information

POLICY NUMBER: 500

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 0614609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval;
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:

1.
2.

To identify those circumstances that necessitate a consent for release of information.
To identify how a patient consents to the release of information.

B. POLICY:

1.

A separate and individual Patient Consent Visitation and/or Phone Calls FormGensentier
Release-of-information will be used to obtain copies of clinical records from any of the patient's
previous treatment providers. A Patient Consent Visitation and/or Phone Calls FormGensent
for-Release-cfH-nrformation will also be used with each significant individual involved in continuity
of care with whom staff members have verbal contact unless information is being shared
between two caregivers engaged in the ongoing treatment of the patient. Although obtaining
records is not the goal in this instance, consent for the purpose of open communication
regarding different aspects of the patient’s care is necessary. Patient Consent Visitation
and/or Phone Calls FormPRatient Gonsentfor Release-of- Informatien does not deny the patient
his or her right to confidentiality.

C. PROCEDURE:

1.

The patient will be told what information will be requested and to whom it will be released. The
patient will be afforded an opportunity to discuss the release. The decision fo consent must be
voluntary.

The patient will be informed that they have the right to revoke the release with a written request.
If the patient is under conservatorship, the signature of the conservator will be obtained for the
purpose of the Consent to Freat-and-for-the-administration-efReceive Psychotropic Medications.
The patient will be told that provision of treatment is not based on the consent to release
information unless the physician/Allied Health Professional (AHP) indicates that it is
necessary for treatment.

The patient will be asked to read the authorization form or will have the form read to him or her
and asked if there are questions. The staff member will make a good-faith effort to answer all
questions.

On each form the specific record(s) to be released will be indicated and the specific purpose of
the disclosure will also be provided.

The patient will be asked te sign the form and date it indicating the release’s expiration date.

A witness will sign name, date, and indicate title.

8



Behavioral Health Services Inpalient
Release cf Information

Page 2 of 5
9, The signed form(s) will be placed in the Legal Section of the patient’'s medical record.
D. FORM(S):

18-1. Patient Consent Visitation and/or Phone Calls
41:2. Consent to Receive Psychotropic Medication 6340-1001



Behaviorat Health Services Inpatient
Release of Information
Page 3 of 5

Patient Consent Visitation and/or Phone Calls

Your presence here is confidential and cannot be disclosed by staff without your permission. Please list the people you do
nol want to hear from or see while on the unit.

Do you wish ta receive phone calls andfor have visitors?  {J Yes [ No
Do we have permission to lalk to your family, friends or significant other? (] Yes [ No

Please indicate whom we have permission to lalk to regarding your care,

Date | Patient Name
Inifial
1. 2 3.
1. 2 3.
1. 2 3.
1 2. 3.
1 2. 3.
1. 2. 3.
1 2. 3.
1. 2 <5
| DO NOT wish to have my presence here known or receive telephone calls andlor visitation from the following people:
Date | Palient Name
Inifial
1 2 3
1 2 3
1 2 3
1 2 3
1 2. 3
1 2 3
1 2 3
1 2 3
— I ! A AMIPM
Name: PatientRepresentaive Slgneture: PalenVRepresentative Date Time

if signed by & person other than the patient, indicate relationship to patient:

Examples: Spouse, Pariner, Legal Guardian

if patient is unable to sign, slale reason:
! ! : AWPM
Witness — TCHD Representative (print name) Signature Date Tima
INTERPRETATION / INTERPRETER'S STATEMENT
Interpretation provided in preferred language: (O Telephonic QVRI
[ Face-to-face: [ | have accuralely and completely reviewed this document in patient/patien{'s legal represenlative preferred
language with: {J Patient {7) Patient's legal representative

{ ! A AMIPIM
Inferpreter ID number or Name Interpreter Signature (if present) Dale Time

(O Patient refuses TCHD's interpretation services and selecls as inlempreler.

Name and relationship to patient
Note: Changes can be made fo the above list adding or crossing out names. Please sign and date each change.

® ity Medical Center WLM

4002 Vista Way » Oceanside « CA+» 92056
PATIENT CONSENT

Wm  vsTanonavoio

(Rev. 317}




Behavioral Health Services Inpatient
Release of Information
Page 4 of 5

Consent to Receive Psychotropic Medication 6340-1001
CONSENT TO RECEIVE PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION

INSTRUCTIONS TO PATIENT: The form describes information your physician will provide to you regarding
your treatment with Artipsychotic, Psychotropic or Neuroleptic medications. Please read the form thoroughly
before you sign it and if you have any questions, ask your physician. This is a two-sided form.

My physician has advised me that psychotropic medications are necessary for my treaiment and has
discussed the following information with me:

Category of Medication and Name of Medication:

1 Anti-Depressant O Mood-Stabilizer

) Anti-Anxiety (3 Anti-Psychotic
] Hypnotic (3 Other
1. My physician discussed the nature of my medical condition with me.

2. My physician has given me the reason for taking such medications including the likelihood of
improving or not improving without such medications and has informed me that my consent can be
withdrawn at any time by telling either my physician or member of my treatment team.

3. My physician has told me of any reasonable alternative treatments available, if there are any.

4. My physician has informed me of the type of medications he/she wili prescribed for me; how often, in
what amount, for how long and by what route (by mouth or injection).

5. My physician has told me of common side effects that may occur when taking these medications, and
especially those that | may have because of factors personal to me.

6. My physician has discussed with me any possible side effects, which may occur to patients taking
certain categories of medications, Such side effects may include persistent involuntary movement of
the face of mouth and might at times, include similar movements of the hands and feet, and that these
symptoms are potentially irreversible and may appear after the medications have been discontinued.
These medications may also cause restlessness, increased muscle tone, elevated blood sugar, lipids,
and weight gain.

7. The general side effect profile(s) of the above medications have been reviewed with me and could
include some specifically from the list below. This is not a complete list of all the possible side effects.
| consent to the use of the prescribed medication (s). | understand that | can withdraw this consent at
any time by informing my physician.

Cardiac conduction ¢changes Elevated cholesterol/triglycerides [Motor changes/EPS
Changes in blood count Glaucoma Nausea/vomiting
Confusion Headaches Renal impairment
Diabetes/elevated glucose Hypothyroidism Sedation/stimulation
Diarrhea/constipation Insomnia Seizures
Elevated blood pressure Liver inflammation Strake

Weight gain/loss

While | have a right as a patient to refuse to accept these medications, my physician may, in an emergency,
order that | be given these medications without my consent. Such an emergency is defined when there

is a sudden marked change in my condition leading to a need to protect my life or prevent serious bodily
harm to me or to others.

© Ticity Medical Center I

4002 Vista Way » Oceanside « CA » 82058

CONSENT TO RECEIVE
PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION

Page 10of 2

6340-1001

iRev 9M35)

8



Behavioral Health Services Inpatient
Release of Information
Page Sof 5

I. Having been advised and informed of all of the above by my physician, | consent to receiving these
medications as my physician prescribes them.

PATIENT'S SIGNATURE DATEMTIME PHYSICIAN'S SIGNATURE DATE/TIME

ll. Patient has been advised of, and understands, ALL the above information and consents to receiving
these medications as | prescribe them. However, the patient chooses not to sign this consent form.

PHYSICIAN'S SIGNATURE DATETINME RN WITNESS DATETIME

{ll. Patient willing to take medications, however, patients cognitive functioning limits the ability to
understand and sign.

PHYSICIAN'S SIGNATURE DATEITIME RN WITNESS DATEITIME

Afitx Patiend Labe)

@) Tri-Gity Medical Center

4002 Vista Way ¢ Oceansids « CA + 92056

CONSENT TO RECEIVE
PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION

HE A
6340-1001

{Ram M)

9



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Role of Medical Staff Leadership in Behavioral Health Services
POLICY NUMBER: 003

ISSUE DATE: 07/85
REVISION DATE(S): 02/87, 05/91, 06/94, 06/97, 07/00, 04/02,
07/03, 04/05, 03/13

Department Approval: 061609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:

Board of Directors Approval:

A. POLICY:

1. In the Behavioral Health Urit-Service (BHS)--ire, the Medical Director and Psychiatric Division
Chief will provide medical leadership and care of psychiatric patients.

| B. PSYCHIATRIC DIVISION CHIEF:
1. Availability
a. The Division Chief is available to the Clinical Nurse Manager and nursing staff via direct
communication or an as needed basis.
2. Responsibility
a. The Division Chief shall have responsibility in assisting with standards
development/approval, problem identification/solving in patient care issues and in
conflict resolution with specific physicians.

C. MEDICAL DIRECTOR:
1. Existence/Availability
a. The Behavioral Health Unit {BHU) Medical Director has an annually negotiated contract

for services with Tri-City Medieal-GenterHealthcare District (TCHD). The Medical

Director’s responsibilities include:

i Providing psychiatric medical leadership for attending/consulting
physicians/Allied Health Professionals (AHP) and the multi-disciplinary staff.

ii. Conflict resolution that is intradeparimental or interdepartmental.

iii. Working collaboratively with the Clinical Nurse Manager to insure all necessary
compliance with Lanterman-Petris-Short Act (LPS}, Joint Commission
{JCHAD), Title 22, and State of California/[+i-City-Medical-CenterTCHD

regulations.
iv. Monitoring bed utilization.
V. Staff development.
vi. Participating in Quality Assurance/Performance Improvement activities, including

standards of development/approval.
vii. Policy implementation.



Behavioral Health Services Inpatient
Role of Medical Staff Leadership in Behavioral Health Services
Page 2 0f 2

D. HOSPITALIST:
1. Availability
a. The Medical Director is responsible for oversight of the hospitalist and is available to the
nursing staff as needed. They provide medical care to the supervising physician's/AHP’s
patients under the direction of the physician/AHP.
2. Responsibility
a. The responsibilities of the hospitalist include:

i. Make daily rounds.

ii. Record initial history and physical and pertinent progress of the patient on the
chart.

iii. Schedule diagnostic procedures, laboratory studies, x-rays, electrocardiograms,
consultations, and transmit verbal orders of the supervising physician (to be
countersigned by the physician/AHP within 24 hours).

b. Questions on any orders are to be confirmed by the nurse directly with the
physician/AHP.



@) — . ~ .
‘ ) Tri-City Medical Center | DELETE - incorporated into
Oceanside, California Infection Control Policy: Scabies

and Lice
Behavioral Health Services

Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

Crisis Stabilization Unit

| SUBJECT: Scabies, Lice, and Fleas in the BHU/CSU
POLICY NUMBER: 404
ISSUE DATE: 03/08
REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13
| Department Approval: 06/1608/1703/18
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:




Behavioral Heallh Services Inpatient
Scabies, Lice, and Fleas in the BHU/CSU
Page2of 3

9.



Behavioral Health Services Inpatient
Scabies, Lice, and Fleas in the BHU/CSU
Page 3of 3

9

.



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

| SUBJECT: Scope of Service — Behavioral Health Unit
ISSUE DATE: 10/11
REVISION DATE(S): 11/13, 03/13
Department Approval: 068H609M17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nia
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nfa

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

| A

OAL(S):
To provide individualized quality patient care in a safe environment.
To reduce complications and unexpected outcomes.
To continuously evaluate and improve the service provided.
To participate in multi-disciplinary care by working closely with other disciplines.
To provide individualized treatment to promote mental health and substance use recovery.
Patients will be given the opportunity to increase their involvement in the therapeutic milieu and
to discuss their issues and concerns in a daily meeting that includes other patients and
members of the treatment team.

L e i i (1)

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE:

1. The inpatient service offers psychiatric treatment for a variety of acute states of mental illness
with 24 hour care. An eighteen (18)-28 bed intensive care unit accommodate patients with an
immediate need for acute psychiatric services. Admission to the unit is typically via-the-Medical
GenaterTri-City Healthcare District's (TCHD)} Emergency Department (ED) or by
physician/Allied Health Professional (AHP) referral. The Behavioral Health Unit (BHU) staff
includes a multi-disciplinary team of psychiatrists, psychologists, licensed marriage and family
therapists (MFT), licensed clinical social workers, registered nurses, recreational therapists,
licensed psychiatric technicians, mental health workers, and supervised MFT interns and
trainees who collaborate to help individuals achieve recovery goals.

METHODS USED TO ASSESS PATIENTS’ NEEDS:

1. Treatment is planned, implemented and evaluated by an interdisciplinary team comprised of
mental health clinicians, the patient, and the patient's family or legal representative. All patients
will receive whatever treatment and care his or her condition requires for the full period that he
or she is hospitalized. Patients receive treatment in the least restrictive environment based on
assessment of the clinical needs. The program maintains mechanisms by which patients move
between the available levels of service within the department and in the community.

a. All patients who are admitted to the program will routinely have an admission psychiatric
assessment, physical assessment, nursing assessment, psychosocial assessment, and
activity therapy assessment.

b, Patients are considered members of the treatment team and will be asked to provide
information regarding their concerns, needs, limitations, physical health needs, pre-
existing conditions and preferences as part of the assessment process.



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
| Scope of Service — Behavioral Health Unit

Page 2 of 3

C. Information from all assessments, including input from the patient, will be used in the
formulation of the patient's individualized treatment plan that includes provision for
ensuring the patient's safety when there are co-morbid medical conditions, physical
limitations, or other safety issues.

d. The interdisciplinary treatment plan is formulated and altered based on the assessment
data collected by each member of the treatment team.
e, The clinician will use all available clinical resources to gather assessment data including

but not limited to the patient’s subjective report, objective observations, written
information from laboratory and diagnostic testing, past medical record information, and
information from family and significant others.

D. SCOPE AND COMPLEXITY OF SERVICES:

1.

Mental health practitioners who are licensed and registered in accordance with their discipline
specific requirements will provide clinical treatment. The Behavioral-Health-DepartmentBHU will
develop and implement competency standards to insure that clinicians have the requisite skill,
knowledge, experience and education to provide services. The department will maintain a
description of its scope of care, services provided, type of individuals served and the important
aspects of care. Patients will be treated in the least restrictive environment; treatment intensity
will be determined on the basis of the severity of the patient's symptoms and the assessment of
the patient’s treatment needs.

An interdisciplinary team led by the psychiatrist and comprised of members of other disciplines
including but not limited to psychologists, registered nurses, licensed psychiatric technician,
recreational therapists, licensed clinical social workers, marriage-and-family-therapists{MFT),
mental health workers, and supervised MFT interns and trainees will deliver services. The
patient and his or her family, conservator, significant other and or primary care giver will be
considered vital members of the team and will be included in the assessment, treatment
planning and evaluation processes.

Treatment will occur within the context of a therapeutic milieu in which activities are purposefully
planned and executed to meet the needs of patients. Biweekly clinical collaboration meetings
reflect one form of information exchange between disciplines and interdisciplinary care. Team
conferences are also scheduled on an individual basis as needed. Types of ireatment available
include but are not limited to:

a. individual Psychotherapy

b. Group Psychotherapy

c. Family Psychotherapy

d. Psychopharmacology

E. ADMISSION CRITERIA-TYPE AND AGES OF PATIENTS SERVICED:

1.

Adults who are referred for admission to the Inpatient Behavieral-Health-unitBHU must meet
DSM V-BLR Severity of lliness criteria, have a primary psychiatric diagnosis, and be able 1o
derive benefit from the therapeutic milieu. Patients will be considered inappropriate for
admission if they meet any of the following exclusionary criteria:
Under age eighteen (18).
Primary Substance abuse diagnosis.
Primary dementia diagnoses.
Co-existing medical condition(s) requiring care by nursing staff with specific medical
surgical nursing competencies including but not limited to:
i Intravenous (1V) Medication
ii. Indwelling Catheter
. Tracheostomy
e. tndividuals with developmental disabilities of such a degree that they are unable to
participate in daily unit activities.
i. Unstable medical condition, i.e. chest pain, acute infectious disease, uncontrolled
hypertension or blood glucose levels.

apow



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
Scope of Service — Behavioral Health Unit
Page 3of 3

F.

G.

STAFFING AND THE AVAILABILITY OF STAFF:

1. The-unitBHU is staffed with a clinical nurse manager, two assistant nurse managers (ANM),
registered nurses (RN), a licensed psychiatric technician, licensed clinical social workers,
marriage-family-therapistsMFTs, recreation therapists, and mental health workers. The clinical
nurse manager has 24-hour responsibility for patient care and unit management Staff work 8-
hour and 12-hour shifts.

SCOPE OF SERVICE:

1. The Assistant-Nurse-Manager{ANM} or Charge RN will make staff assignments according to
patient acuity, staff availability, individual staff competencies, and the amount of supervision
needed by staff members in accordance with Title 22 Regulations. Patient acuity and specific
patient needs are determined for each patient by the nurse for each shift, and then used for
staffing. The staffing matrix provides information about staff/staff mix requirements based on
acuity and minimum staffing requirements. Minimum staffing requirements provide a
nurse/patient ratio of 1 RN for every 6 patients .The Clinical Nurse Manager/ANM will confer if
additional staff is needed based on acuity.

a. BLS, Non Violent Crisis Intervention or equivalent managing aggressive behavior
(MAB) training are required of all nursing personnel working on the unit. Initial and
annual competency requirements for staff are defined and updated on a yearly basis at
Skills Lab and unit based training. Competency requirements for 5150 designee or face-
to-face one hour assessment for the specially trained RN is done annually at Skills Lab
and unit based training.

ASSESSING DEPARTMENT SERVICES:

1. The unit is a 24-hour, 7-day-a-week service. If a patient needs a higher level of care,
physicians/AHPs and nursing staff coordinate the transfer to an appropriate facility with
assistance of case management as appropriate.

THE EXTENT TO WHICH THE DEPARTMENT’S LEVEL OF CARE/SERVICE MEET PATIENT

NEEDS:

1. The level of care provided by the Acute Inpatient Behavioral-Health-UnitBHU meets the needs
of both inpatients and outpatients through availability of staff who are competent to provide
service for the current patient population and the coordination of nursing services with services
of other disciplines.

PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT:

1. In order to improve patient care, the inpatient behavieralhealth-unitBHU has implemented a
performance improvement (Pl) committee that will address high risk indicators and research
quality measures to improve overall safety and patient care outcomes.

STANDARDS USED BY THE DEPARTMENT IN THE CARE OF PATIENTS:

1. The nursing service abides by regulations by California Title XXl Standards: Psychiatric Unit
General Requirements, Comprehensive Accreditation Manual for Psychiatric Health Care, The
Joint Commission, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (HGFACMS) Regulations,
CMS-Welfare and Institutions Code § 5150, and California Board of Registered Nurses
(BRN).

MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION STANDARDS RELATED TO CARE OF THE PATIENT:

1. Medications, general and narcotics, are dispensed via the Pyxis system. Daily patient doses are
stored and dispensed from the locked profile machine. Medications requiring refrigeration are
stored at the appropriate temperatures. Nurses assess and document the
administration/effectiveness/side effects of medication.




o
@ Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT:

Non-Smoking Environment

POLICY NUMBER: 406

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 02114609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nia

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:

1.

To communicate the prohibition of smoking, offer Nicotine Replacement Therapy for patients to
decrease or stop nicotine intake, and implement a smoke free environment at Tri-City
Healthcare District (TCHD) Behavioral Health Unit (BHU) and Crisis Stabilization Unit
(CSU). All patients, work associates, families and visitors are expected to comply with the
smoking regulations.

B. DEFINITION(S}:

1.

Smoking: any product containing tobacco intended to be lit, burned, or heated to produce
smoke as well as any device used to smoke the tobacco, including but not limited to a pipe,
cigar, cigarette, chewing tobacco, snuff, electronic cigarettes, in any form.

C. POLICY:

1.

As part of Fi-GityTCHD's commitment to provide a healthy environment for patients and work
associates, smoking is prohibited indoors and on the Behavioral Health Services (BHS) patios
owned or operated by F#-GityTCHD Behavieral-Health-ServisesBHS for all persons, including
patients, staff, and visitors.

Adherence to this policy is the responsibility of all individuals working, visiting, or receiving care
within the BHU or CSUlnpationt-BehavierHealth-Unit. Compliance with this policy is mandatory
and will be strictly enforced. Findings will be reported as needed to clinical managers, Assistant
Nurse Managers (ANMs), charge nurse, or the hospital safety committee to develop strategies
to eliminate the incidence of policy violations.

As part of each patient's individual assessment by the attending provider, the various options for
helping that patient avoid the distraction and discomfort of smoking cessation will be addressed.
This will allow the patient to better focus on the primary psychiatric reason for their
hospitalization.

When each patient is admitted, the patient should be educated by the admitting nurse on the
Administrative Policy: 205 re-Smokirge-Free Environmentpelisy, the Nicotine Replacement
Therapy, and health information about smoking.

All patients will be requested to turn in their smoking materials upon admission; these are
considered contraband and will be returned at discharge. Any materials found on the unit will be
confiscated by staff and returned to the patient at discharge.

g



Behavicral Health Unit Inpatient
Non-Smoking Environment
Page 2 of 2

b-E.

6. Visitors are not to bring in cigarettes or other tobacco products. Patients, visitors, and any other
guests who fail to comply with this policy may result in termination of visiting privileges and will
be reminded that Inpatient BHU is a smoke-free department and will be advised of resources
available to assist with compliance while they are on the unit.

7. Smoke breaks are being replaced with healthy breaks, outdoor scheduled activities per unit
schedule under direct staff supervision.

RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

1. Administrative Policy: 205 Smoke-Free Environment

2. Administrative Policy: 234 Security Department Incident Notification

3. Administrative Policy: 424 Coaching and Counseling for Work Performance

REFERENCE-LIS¥(S):
™ A deinictrative-Policy-8640-205: Smoke-Eree-Envi

4-1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Healthy Workforce Initiative: Implementing a
Tobacco-Free Campus Initiative — United States 2004. Available at:
www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/hwiftoolkits/tobaccofindex.htm

101



@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Solicitation of Patients/Referrals to Self
POLICY NUMBER: 518

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/4609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nfa
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: nfa
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nia

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:
1. To specify parameters with respect to the solicitation of patients or referrals to self.

B. POLICY:

1. Tri-City Medical-CenterHealthcare District (TCHD) employees and contracted employees will
not refer patients, directly or indirectly to their private practices.

2. Te-City-Medical-CenterTCHD employees and contracted employees will not, directly or
indirectly, approach, solicit or suggest to any patient or patient’s representative that the patient
should or must see such employee on any basis outside the program for additional care or
therapy, with the exception of those patients who were seen in a therapist's private practice
prior to the patient's admission. In such cases, referrals back to the therapist’s private practice
are acceptable, if deemed clinically appropriate.

10



-
(&’) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Telephone Use

POLICY NUMBER: 519

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 0614609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nia
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:
1. To provide guidelines that describes patient access to the telephone during inpatient
hospitalization or admission to the Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU).

B. POLICY:
1. Patients are entitled to unimpeded private and uncensored communication with others by
telephone. Telephone communication may be restricted if warranted by documented
circumstances.

C. PROCEDURE:
1. Patients will be informed of all rights related to telephone use upon their admission to the unit.
2. Telephones will be available for patient use. Patient telephones are cordless, rechargeable
phones. Posted times for telephone calls will be in all telephone areas and on bulletin boards.
Patients may use the telephone outside of these times with the permission of the treatment
team, depending upon the prevailing circumstances.

3. Patients will have unlimited access to the telephone within the posted hours.

4. Upon request from a patient in seclusion or restraint, staff may make at least two (2) telephone
calls a day on behalf of the patient.

5. The clinical staff will insure that the use of the telephone does not interfere with a patient’s

treatment. Problems observed will be directed first to the patient’s assigned nurse and then to
the assistant nurse manager (ANM) for resolution.

6. The patient’s right to communicate by telephone will not be limited except as authorized in the
patient’s treatment plan. The rationale for any limitation will be documented. A limitation on
telephone use may be imposed as follows:

a. To prevent violation of the law.
b. To prevent substantial and/or serious physical or mental harm to the patient or others.
c. To prevent reasonably expected future telephone harassment by a patient or an

individual previousily harassed and who has complained. A limitation to prevent
harassment will require a written request from the victim of the harassment to limit the
patient's telephone use. The written request will also describe the frequency or content
of past calls that were considered harassment.

d. When excessive use of the telephone prevents the patient from participating in
therapeutic programming.

10:



Behavioral Health Services Inpatient

Telephone Use

Page 2 of 3

7. A patient will be promptly informed of any telephone use limitation and a limitation of rights form
will be completed in the Denial-ofRightsRight of Behavioral Health Patients Form {per
Behavioral Health Services Policy: 6340-644-Patient Rights}. On request, the patient will be
informed of the purpose a limitation is intended to achieve, the persons or entities involved and
additional information as deemed appropriate.

8. The treatment team will review limitations on a daily basis.

9. A limitation on telephone rights will not apply between a patient and an attorney or a court or
between a patient and other individuals if the communication involves matters that are or may
be the subject of legal inquiry.

10. The patient may appeal any limitation to the Patient Advocate's office.

D. FORM(S):
341. Right of Behavioral Health Patients 8340-1007

E. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

2.

Behavioral Health Services Policy: Patient Rights

10:



Behavioral Health Services [npatient
Telephone Use
Pagedof 3

Right of Behavioral Health Patients 8340-1007

Each patient, resident or client in this facility has the foliowing rights:
() To wear his own clothes; to keep and use his own personal possessions including his toilet articles; and to keep and
be allowed to spend a reasonable sum of his own money for canteen expenses and small purchases.
{b) To have access to individual storage space for his private use.
{c) To see visitors each day.
{d) To have reasonable access to telephonss, both to make and receive confidential calls,
{e) To have ready access to letter writing materials, including stamps, and to mail and receive unopened
correspondance,
{0 To refuse convulsion treatment including, but not limited to, any elsctroconvulsive treatment, any treatment of the
mental condition which depends on induction of a convulsion by any means, and insulin coma treatment.
{g) To refuse psychosurgery.
() To refuse antipsychotic medication.
(i) Other rights as specified by regulation. (Section 5325, W & | Code)
The professional person in charge of the facility or his designee may, for good causs, deny any of the rights under (g} to (g}, inclusive.
It you believe that one of your rights was denied without a geod reason, you may call the Patients' Advocats who must
respond to your complaint within two working days.

Patient Advocacy Program (619) 282-1134 or 1 (800) 4738-2233 24 hours
Name Phone Hours

You may call collect from North County.

it is his responsibility fo investigate and resolve your complaint to your satisfaction. If he is unable o do so, the complaint
must be referred by him to the local mental health director. Aftar that, if the problem is still not resolved, it must be referred to
the Patients' Rights Spacialist, State Dapartment of Health, Sacramento. If you are unable to locate a Patients’ Advocals, you

may contact: California Office of Patients' Rights

1831 K Sireet « Sacramento, CA 95811
Telephone: 916-575-1610 « Fax: 916-575-1613
COPRinforequest@disabilityrightsca.ora

(This notice must be posted, as well as distributed to each mental patient admitted in stale hospilals, health facililies and community
care facilities.)

No person may be presumed incompetent because he or she has been evaluated or treated for mental disorder or chronic
alcoholism, regardiess of whether voluntarily or involuntarily recsived. (5331 W. | Cods}. | understand the Patient's Rights as
stated above.

Patient Signature Printed Name Date Time

Witness Signature Printed Name Date Time
Affix Patient Labal

@ Tri-City Medical Center

4002 Vista Way + Oceensida « CA » 92058

||||"M||||| RIGHT OF BEHAVIORAL HEALTH PATIENTS

s TH4) Whita - Chart  Yellow - Patiant



@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Treatment of Patients

POLICY NUMBER: 721

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13, 06/16

Department Approval: 06/4609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: nfa
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: nfa
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:

1.

To ensure that the treatment of patients is conducted in compliance with all applicable
guidelines and standards.

B. POLICY:

1.

Treatment is planned, implemented, and evaluated by an interdisciplinary team comprised of
mental health clinicians, the patient, and the patient's family or legal representative. All patients
will receive whatever treatment and care his or her condition requires for the full period that he
or she is hospitalized. Patients receive treatment in the least restrictive environment based on
assessment of the clinical needs. The program maintains mechanisms by which patients move
between the available levels of service within the department and in the community.

C. PROCEDURE:

1.

2.

Mental health practitioners who are licensed and registered in accordance with their discipline
specific requirements will provide clinical treatment.

The Behavioral Health DepartmentUnit (BHU) will develop and implement competency
standards to insure that clinicians have the requisite skill, knowledge, experience, and education
to provide services.

Fhe-departmentBHU will maintain a description of its scope of care, services provided, types of
individuals served, and the important aspects of care.

Patients will be treated in the least restrictive environment; treatment intensity will be
determined on the basis of the severity of the patient's symptoms and the assessment of the
patient’s treatment needs.

An interdisciplinary team led by the psychiatrist and comprised of members of other disciplines
will deliver services. The patient and his or her family, conservator, significant other and or
primary care giver will be considered vital members of the team and will be included in the
assessment, treatment planning, and evaluation processes.

Treatment will occur within the context of a therapeutic milieu in which activities are purposefully
planned and executed to meet the needs of patients.

Types of treatment available include but are not limited to:

a. Individual Psychotherapy

b. Group Psychotherapy

C. Family Psychotherapy

d. Psychopharmacology

10!



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient

Trealment of Palients

Page 2 of 3
e. Diagnostic Evaluation
f. Milieu Therapy
g. Psychoeducation
h. Activity Therapy
i. Life Skills Management

8. The clinical team includes but is not limited to:

10.

1.

Psychiatrists

Psychologists

Nurse Practitioners

Social Workers

Marriage and Family Therapists (MFT)

MFT Interns and Trainees

Registered Nurses (RN)

Recreational Therapist

Psychiatric Liaisons

3. Mental Heaith Workers

Patients may make transitions from one level of care to another based on the severity of their
symptoms and clinical needs. When an internal transfer occurs between the inpatient unit and
the intensive outpatient program:

AT

I

a. The decision will be made collaboratively by the treatment team and will include the
patient and significant other in the decision making process.

b. Clinical information will be shared between the sending and receiving program by:
i. Telephonic Report

ii. Faxed Assessments and Most Recent Treatment Data
iii. Completed Transfer Packet with Pertinent Information

iv. Completed Problem List
V. Medication Reconciliation Reports
c. In some instances the patient will be more formally referred to another service. In these

instances a designated staff member from the receiving program will meet with the
patient and significant other and review clinical data before making a decision about
acceptance. The decision will be made on the basis of program admission criteria
{including exclusion criteria) and the patient’s willingness/desire to participate in the

program

d. Documentation in the medical record will include the clinical justification for the
transition.

Patients may be discharged to an outside agency based upon clinical need.

a. At the time of discharge the patient and/or significant other will be given referral
information including appointment times and contact persons.

b. Patients will be discharged or transferred to other agencies in keeping with established

policy addressing such items as transportation arrangements, completion of transfer
summaries, and notifications to receiving agency, medication reconciliation, insurance
information, and authorization information.

Staff members will maintain therapeutic boundaries in all relationships with patients.

a, Relationships will be patient-centered and based upon the identified needs of the
patient.

b. Staff members will not engage in personal, social, or sexual relationships with patients
who are on the unit.

c Staff members will be discouraged from establishing personal, social, or sexual
relationships with patients after their discharge from the unit.

d. Staif members will not share information with patients about their personal problems,

seek advice from patients, or otherwise engage in interactions that are focused on the
needs of the staff member rather than the needs of the patient.

e. In the event that a patient with whom a staff member currently has or has had a
personal, social or sexual relationship is admitied to the unit, the staff member will be

10



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient

Trealment of Patients
Page 3of 3

responsible for disclosing the existence of that relationship to his or her immediate

supervisor as soon as it is discovered.

i The staff member may be floated to another area of the hospital for the duration
of the patient's hospitalization to preserve the patient’s right to privacy and
confidentiality and to avoid real or perceived conflicts of interest.

ii. This will include but is not limited to spouses/ significant others, children, siblings,
other relatives, friends or acquaintances.

iii. This will not include patients with whom the staff member has had a therapeutic
relationship with in another treatment setting.

100



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Unit Staff Meetings

POLICY NUMBER: 104

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/10, 03/13, 06/16

Department Approval:-p/a 06/14609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nfa

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:
1. To establish guidelines for the program staff meetings

B. POLICY:
1. The Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit (BHU), Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU), and Psychiatric
Liaison Team will have staff meetings and clinical problem solving meetings at least every two
(2) months; or semimonthly-menthly, and more frequently as are indicated.

C. GUIDELINES:

1. The Clinical Nurse Manager of Behavioral Health Services {(BHS) will conduct general staff
meetings once per month. All staff members are expected to attend or call in to the
conference telephone.

a. The purposes of the general staff meetings are:
i. To give staff the opportunity to discuss program administrative issues and day-to-
day operations.
ii. To encourage staff to participate in decision-making.
iii. To provide information.

Iv. To provide educational updates and roll-outs.
bd=v. To keep communication lines open between clinical staff and administration.
vi. To discuss ongoing program performance, improvements,-ard safety issues, and

quality improvement measures.
wvii. To invite guest speakers and in-service training related to new
medications, community resources, or other related services.

b. Staff will be encouraged to submit agenda items prior to the meeting.

c. BHU Safety representative will submit agenda items and share applicable info from
hospital safety meetings.

d. Minutes will be taken and circulated to those who were unable to aftend within ten {10)

days of staff meeting. Past minutes will be kept on file, in a binder in the administrative
assistant office. Monthly minutes will be posted in the staff lounge.
2. The Clinical Nurse Manager will facilitate Assistant Nurse Manager (ANM) meetings biweekly.

a. The purposes of the Assistant-Nurse-ManragerANM meetings are:
i. To provide encouragement and support to Assistart-Nurse-MaragersANM.

i To encourage team-building, information sharing and communication.



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient

Unit Staff Meetings
Page 2 0f 3

ii. To encourage consistency between shifts and within shifts.

iv. To develop leadership and management skills.

V. To review employee/patientrounding.-and-stoplight-repod-progress related
issues.

vi. To review patient related issues.

vii. To review RL Solutions.

AII Aeereteet—b&rme—ManagerANMs are encouraged to attend each rneetlng

Manager—and—Assistant—Nurse—MaeageF&

The Assistant-Nurse-ManagerANM will meet prior to the monthly general staff meeting to
preview the agenda and make suggestions. The administrative assistant will coordinate
the agenda items between the Clinical Nurse Manager, the Psychiatric Liaison
Supervisor, AssistantNurse-ManagerANMs, and the Clinical Educator via email.

3. Shared-Governance-CommitteeProfessional Nursing Governance Committee (PNGC):

a.

Professional Practice and Development Council (PPDC):

i The purposes of this meeting are to maintain BHU educational standards that
promote nursing professional development and ongoing clinical competency and
quality.

il To establish and promote relationships and partnerships among all types of
community organizations, such as NAMI Walk, Meeting of the Minds and
Depression screenings.

i, To encourage communication of best practices, improvement, and evidence-
based nursing practice (EBP) by participating and attending educational activities
and Joumal Club.

iv. To act as a resource for other communities of practice.

V. To encourage and provide educational advancement to all staff including mental
health workers {MHW), recreational therapists (RT), social workers (SW), and
marriage family therapists (MFT).

vi. Promote continuous improvement in the quality of patient care

vii.  Develop, implement, and evaluate BHU and service performance
improvement efforts.

viii. To ensure evidence-based practice (EBP)

vix. To communicate performance improvement findings, recommendatrons,
and collaborate with the other councils to ensure dissemination of
comprehensive quality data to direct-care staff personnel.

Nursing Leadership/Quality Council (NLQC)::

i The purposes of this meeting are to encourage the professional development of
nurses at all levels to empower them to contribute to the decision-making
process related to practice in strategic planning, advocacy and influence,
visibility, and communication.

ii. To facilitate excellence and promote positive patient outcomes.

i To support and guide changes in work environment and patient care based on
input and coliaboration with nurses at every level.

Neperng-Praetree-(-NFL)-Praehee-cemmrﬁeeNursmg Informatics Council (NIC):

The purposes of this meeting are to ensure consistency in standards of nursing
practice.

i To assure nursing practice and standards are evidence-based and consistent
with current research and national standards of nursing practice.

iii. To integrate care delivery systems within the professional practice models to
promote and support dellvery of nursmg care

10



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient

Unit Staif Meetings
Page 3 of 3

4, Clinical Program Meetings:-

a.

c.

The Clinical Nurse Manager will facilitate a bi-annual (twice a year) meeting of senior
clinical staff including representatives from social work, recreational therapy, nursing,
psychiatric liaisons, marriage family therapists/interns and nursing education

The purposes of the meeting are:

i. To assess clinical programming and group schedule,

ii. To develop new program components.

ii. To share ideas for improving patient care.

iv. To encourage team-building among clinical staff.

Information discussed at the Clinical Leadership Meetings will be included on the
general staff meeting agenda.

o Psychiatric Liaison/Grisis-Stabilization-UnitCSU-BHU-Emergency-Bepartment- Meetings:

a.

The Psychiatric Liaison Supervisor will facilitate a monthly staff meeting. All CSU staff
and psychiatric liaison team memberss are expected to attend or access conference
telephone. The BHU Clinical Nurse Manager and EB-Manager/DiresterANMs will also
attend to provide leadership and support to the psychiatric liaison team.

The purposes of the meeting are:

i. To give the staff opportunity to discuss day-to-day operations.

ii. To provide information.

iil. To provide education updates and roll-outs.

fiiv.  To review clinical cases for the benefit of training and education.

tev.  To encourage team building, information sharing and communication.

11



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Utilization Management

POLICY NUMBER: 107

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/10, 03/13

Department Approval: 064460917
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: nla

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:

1. To provide a system and processes that enable qualified professionals to systematically review
medical records to ensure that quality of care standards are maintained and that the intensity of
care services available at the Inpatient and-outpatient-levelBehavioral Health Unit (BHU) are
to provided exclusively to those individuals who meet the accepted industry severity of iliness
criteria for those levels.

B. POLICY:
1. A systematic and routine review of medical record documentation will be conducted in the
Behavieral-Health-ServiceBHU on an ongoing basis to ensure that patients are receiving care at
the appropriate level of intensity in relation to the acuity of their symptoms.

C. PROCEDUREGUBELINES
1. Authorization to Perform Utilization Review:-willbe
4-:a. ILimited to assigned M-B-physician/Allied Health Professional (AHP), nurse
practitioner, registered nurse (RN), marriage and family therapist (MFT), case
manager, social worker or psychologist who have training in documentation review and
knowledge of the relationship between severity of illness and intensity of service criteria.
a-b. Bebhavioral Health Department Utilization Review:

i If a denial is received, the reviewer staff will immediately notify the attending
physician/AHP and will attempt to provide the attending physician/AHP with the
payer's contact person's name (preferably their physician advisor) and phone
number, should she/he choose to immediately appeal the denial.

i In all cases, the decision to discharge a patient is solely in the purview of the
attending physician/AHP.

c. Retrospective Review:
b-i. -mMay be performed in the following circumstances:
1)  Problem cases not identified by concurrent review mechanism,
#2) Random sampling of cases to pick up situations that are new,
liz3) To address cases of inappropriate utilization,
ivx4) Review of cases for which third-party payers question or deny care,

and/or
¥5)  When required by a third-party payer.
d. Focused Review:

11



Behavioral Health Unit ~Inpatient

Policy-Tille-Utilization Management
Page 2 of 4

i A focus review is review of known or suspected specific problems.

&ii.  The Utilization Review Committee may initiate focused review of records and
approve sampling the methods. The focused review will apply to all patients
regardless of payment source and may be based on diagnosis, procedure,
admission, duration of stay, physician/AHP or ancillary services furnished,
Diagnostic Related Groups, delay of services, and all professional services
performed on the hospital premises with respect to the medical necessity for
these services. Cases denied for payment by third-party payers are also
included. Activities as such will be reported to the Quality Assurance Committee.

de. The Utilization Review staff may identify cases that are associated with unusually high
costs or excessive services, or identify classes of admission wherein patterns of care are

found to be questionable. Patterns of resource utilization may be evaluated on a

retrospectlve bas:s asa part of the overall evaluation of the utlllzatlon

2. Conflict of Interest.

a. A physician/AHP may not participate in the review of any case in which he/she has been
or anticipates being professionally involved. Physicians/AHPs having either a direct or
indirect financial interest in the case(s) being reviewed may not participate except to
furnish additional information as may be requested by the Chairman.

3. Confidentiality:

a. The proceedings of the Utilization Review Committee-and, its derivative documents,
findings, and minutes are all confidential and are protected from discoverability under
Section 1157 of the California Evidence Code. Members of the Committee have a duty
to preserve this confidentiality.

b. To ensure confidentiality, patient references will be only as medical record numbers, and
the physician references will be only as an assigned code number.
c. The Utilization Review Committee must abide by the Confidentiality of Medical

Information Act in maintaining the confidentiality of the patient's medical information.

a-d. Documentation of Utilization Review Committee activities shall not be incorporated into
the patient's chart.

4 Review Activities:

a. The medical director of the Behavieral-Health-UnitBHU will be responsible for secondary
review of all cases referred by staff reviewers and will make a determination regarding
the appropriateness of the documentation of severity of illness criteria as they relate to
the intensity of services being provided.
ai.  When the medical director determines that documentation does not substantiate

continued care at the current level, he will contact the attending physician/AHP to
discuss the case further. In those instances where there exists a significant
divergence of opinion between the medical director and the attending
physician/AHP, the Hospital Utilization Review Committee Chairman may be
consulted so that resolution of the dispute may be mediated

b. The Utilization Review professional(s) within the Beparment-of-Behavieral-HeakhBHU
will perform the following activities:

i. Concurrent Review

1)  aReview at periodic intervals in accordance with provider requirements,
utilizing continued stay SI/1S criteria. Concurrent review includes
admission review and continued stay review, and focuses on the medical
necessity for admission and continued hospital stay for all patients. The
source of payment is not the sole determinant in identifying patients for
concurrent review. All patients are screened and case priority determined
by factors including the hospital's case load, identified problems, and

11



Behavioral Health Unit ~Inpatient
Pelisy-Title-Utilization Management

Page 3 of 4

V.

specific practitioners with known or suspected patterns of inappropriate
utilization.

Admission Review

1)  Pis-performed at time of the patient’s presentation for behavioral health
services to assure admission to the appropriate level of service. The
admission review must be completed and documented, in all cases,
within 48 hours of admission following admission. Admission review is an
assessment of the medical necessity for a patient's admission to the
program.

$Ha) If the admission meets criteria and is considered appropriate by
the psychiatric liaison, the reviewer will monitor the admission and
assign a continued stay review date based on the medical record
information.

2)b)  If the admission does not meet the screening criteria for medical
necessity, the reviewer will contact the attending physician to
discuss the case

Continued Stay Review-is-the

W-1) Assessment of the medical necessity of a patient's need for continued
stay at the designated level of care. The continued stay review date is
assigned by the admission reviewer based on the patient's principal
diagnosis, severity of illness, intensity of service, as established by-the

BepartmentBHU. Justification for continued stay is based on the

professional staff and attending physician's documentation in the medical

record. If a case meets criteria for continued stay, the reviewer will assign
the next review date.

4ja) Cases which do not meet the criteria for continued stay will be
referred to the physician advisor for review. The physician advisor

uses clinical judgment as well as screening criteria as the basis for

decision. If an adverse decision is considered, the attending
physician/AHP will be given an opportunity to present his/her
views before a determination is made.

2)b) In cases of a dispute between the attending physician and the
physician advisor, a second physician advisor in the same or
related specialty as the attending physician may be consulied
whenever possible.

3)c) If a decision is made that further stay is not medically necessary,
the attending physician/AHP is afforded an opportunity to appeal
the decision as set forth under Sectien>Xt-Appeals Process in the
Hospital Utilization Review Plan. Should the adverse
determination be upheld, the Hospital Utilization Review/DRG
Committee will provide written notification to the patient or his/her
representative, the attending physician, Business Office, peer
review organization {(PRO) and Medical Records Department

Periodic open chart review and notification of physician and other documenting
professionals when current documentation does not support continued stay in
relation to SIIS criteria.

Collaboration with social work staff to integrate discharge planning into the
treatment plan at time of admission to facilitate timely discharge.

5. Case Management-is-a

Methodology for moving a patient from admission to discharge with outcomes that are
determined by quality standards, within a designated time frame, with patient and family
participation and the control and careful use and coordination of systems and resources.
Case Management integrates the utilization review/management, discharge planning
and quality improvement functions.

112



Behavioral Health Unit —Inpatient
Relicy-Fitle-Utilization Management

Page 4 of 4

6.

b.

The scope of case management in the behavieral-health-pepulationBHU entails the
initial review and determination, based on SI/IS criteria, of appropriate placement,

ongoing review for continued stay, and discharge planning. The goals of case
management activities are to reduce length of stay, prevent barrier days, and improve
resource utilization with emphasis on cost-effective and cost-efficient strategies that
maximize quality delivery systems. The case management function, in Behavieral-Health
ServicesBHU is integrated into the professional duties of the psychiatric liaison and
social work staff and is overseen by the clinical nurse manager of the Inpatient-and

i ! = BHU.
Discharge planning is an integral part of case management process and must be
initiated as early as possible, including prior to admission, to facilitate timely discharge.
Departmental discharge planning activity shall include placement in alternative care
facilities, and arrangements for appropriate community resources to improve or maintain
the patient's health status on an outpatient basis. The members of the health care team
collaborate in an interdisciplinary approach to facilitate discharge planning. The patient
and his/her family or caregiver network are included in team membership.

Approval of Department Utilization Review Plan:
6.

The Behavieral-Health-PeparimentBHU Utilization Review Plan will be reviewed as
revised, in accordance with Hospital Standard for Plan reviews. Revisions will be
submitted to the Tri-City Medical-CenterHealthcare District Utilization Review for
approval.

114



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Visiting in Behavioral Health Services
POLICY NUMBER: 520

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/1609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A DEFINITION(S):

1.

To provide guidelines for patients to have access to visiting with family and significant others
during their hospitalization.

B. POLICY:

1.

C. PROCEDURE:

21.

The patient is entitled to visit with persons of his or her chaice during the hospital stay.

Visitors will be allowed to visit patients in the Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit {BHU) and the

Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU) with the following restrictions:

a. Family and significant others may visit patients during the times that are posted in the
Behavioral-Health-WUritBHU and the CSU.

i. Visiting hours are posted on entry o the unit and at other areas of the unit.

ki, Visiting hours are reviewed and outlined in daily community meeting.

iii.  Visiting outside of regularly posted hours may be arranged by the patient with the
physician/Allied Health Professional {AHP) and/or nursing staff.

b. The staff will ensure that visiting hours do not interfere with a patient’s treatment.

c. Visits will be limited to two (2) visitors per patient at any time in the BHU and one (1)
visitor per patient in the CSU. If there are more than two {2) visitors, it will be
explained to them that they may share the visiting time.

i. Clergy members are not counted as one of the two visitors permitted to each
patient.

ii. Visiting by clergy will be permitted outside of regular visiting hours if the patient
so0 wishes as long as it does not interfere with the patient’s treatment program

d. The units will have designated visiting areas. Visitors will not be permitted to visit in
patient rooms.
e. All packages and belongings intended for patients brought to the units by visitors will be

checked and inventoried by nursing personne! in the presence of the patient and/or
visitor prior to being given to the patient.
f. Visitors may not bring food or drinks onto the units.

"



Behavioral Health Unit Inpatient
Visiting in the Behavioral Health Unit
Page 2 of 3

g. Visitors will be encouraged to refrain from bringing personal items such as purses and
backpacks to the unit. When a visitor arrives with such items they will be instructed to
leave them in the provided lockers in the visitor's waiting room. Tri-City Healthcare
District (TCHD) is not responsible for lost or stolen valuables.

h. No cellular telephones, cameras, or video recording devices are permitted on the units.

In the event that a visitor exhibits inappropriate behavior (e.g. is under the influence of

drugs or alcohol, becomes verbally or physically abusive) staff will insist that the visit is

terminated. If the visitor refuses to leave the unit, security will be called to escort the
visitor out of the building.
j Visitors are asked to wear a “Visitor” identification badge upon entering the units.

i. Unauthorized visitors will be asked to leave the building without seeing the
patient.

ii. At all times staff will interact with visitors employing service excellence skills.

i Staff will identify all persons entering the building and will not permit any
individual to have access to either unit until the nature of their presence has been
clarified.

3:2. The patient will be informed of all rights and units’ rules related to visiting upon admission and

will be provided with a written copy of the rules that include the unit visiting hours and policy.

Problems observed during visiting will be directed to the Assistant Nurse Manager {ANM) for

disposition and reported to the patient’s attending psychiatrist.

54. Patients have the right to refuse visits from designated individuals.

&

a. Patients will be afforded an opportunity to indicate, in writing, those individuals they
would welcome as visitors and those they do not wish to visit.
b. The written list will be included in the patient's medical record.

6:5. Staff must be aware of the whereabouts of visitors at all times.

76. The patient’s right to visitation will not be limited except as authorized in the patient’s treatment
plan in accordance with the Behavioral Health Services Policy: Patient Rights.= A limitation
may be imposed:

a. To prevent violation of the law.
b. To prevent substantial and or serious physical or mental harm to the patient or others.

i. Mental harm may include a visit that, in the opinion of the clinical staff, would
substantially upset the patient and interfere with ongoing treatment. A visit may
be limited or prohibited to prevent mental harm only if the person and the
limitation are specifically identified in the plan of treatment.

ii. Physical harm may include a visit that, in the opinion of clinical staff, would pose
a risk to the patient, another visitor, or staff and interfere with ongoing treatment.
Examples include visitors with whom there is a recent history of domestic
violence, visitors against whom there is a restraining order, etc. A visit may be
limited or prohibited to prevent physical harm only if the person and the limitation
are specifically identified in the pian of treatment.

8.7. A patient will be promptly informed of any visitation limitation and a limitation of rights form will
be completed. In addition, the patient will be informed of the purpose that the limitation is
intended to achieve, the persons involved, and additional information as is deemed appropriate.

9:8. Limitations will be reviewed daily by the treatment team and when a limitation is removed it will
be noted in the patient record as the right having been restored.

18:9. Visits from a patient's private physician or a mental health professional, a court, a patient’s
attorney, or other person when communication involves matters which are or may be the subject
of legal inquiry will not be limited except that non-emergency visits of a private physical or a
mental health professional may be limited to reasonable times. A time is reasonable if a visit
does not seriously tax the effective functioning of the unit. A limitation upon visitation rights will
not apply between a patient and attorney or court;; or between a patient and other individuals if
the communication involves matters that are or may be the subject of legal inquiry. The
attending physician/AHP will be notified of a patient’s request to talk to an attorney or other
individual regarding a legal matter.

111



Behavicral Health Unit Inpatient
Visiting in the Behavioral Health Unit
Page 3 of 3

4-10. The patient may appeal any limitation to the patient advocate through the established grievance
procedure.

42:11. Children under the age of 16 will not be permitted to visit the Behavieral- Health-Urit-BHU.
Patients with young children may be permitted to visit in the unit lobby or front office if, in the
opinion of the clinical staff, it is deemed safe for them to do so.

a. Off unit visits will not be permitted if the patient is on a 1:1 or is high risk for elopement.
b. Off unit visits will not be permitted if the patient, as assessed by the clinical staff, is too ill
to manage the visit outside of the unit.

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
e-1. Behavioral Health Services Policy: Patient Rights

I



@ Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

SUBJECT: Vital Signs
POLICY NUMBER: 723
ISSUE DATE: 03/08
REVISION DATE(S): 08/09, 03/13

| Department Approval: 06/4609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:
] 1. Holistic care of patients in a Behavioral Health Unit {(BHU) requires attention to their physical
well-being as well as their illnesses requiring inpatient treatment. Therefore, routine vital signs
are done on all patients.

B. POLICY:

1. Vital signs are to be taken on admission, in the morning and in the evening, when a
patient has a change in health status (e.g. after a fall) or reports symptoms such as chest
pain, feeling hot, or faints, and any other time a physician/Allied Health Professional
(AHP) has ordered or the nurse belleves is cllnlcally approprlate Vltal—slgns-wm-be

2. Vltal S|gns :nclude temperature resplratlon heart rate blood pressure and pam ratlng
3, Any member of the nursmg staff Ilcensed or unllcensed may take vital 5|gns

1



@) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Washer/Dryer Use

POLICY NUMBER: 405

ISSUE DATE: 04/05

REVISION DATE(S): 04/10, 03/13

Department Approval: 06/1609/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A.

PURPOSE:

1.

To establish guidelines for safe usage of washer and dryer in the Behavioral Health Unit (BHU)
and Crisis Stabilization Unit {CSU).

POLICY:

1.

Any wet or soiled clothing or linen is considered to be potentially infectious. Therefore, Standard
Precautions are always used in handling of these items.

a. Contain patient's clothing at source of used in moisture proof bag.
b. Carry bagged laundry to the laundry room for washing/drying.
c. Launder one patient's clothing at a time. Do not mix clothing with other patient’s clothing.
2. The laundry room will remain locked at all times for safety and protection of patient property.
Staff will facilitate use of laundry room.
PROCEDURE:
1. Routine washing and drying of patient’s clothing:
a. Don gloves prior to handling patient’s clothing.
b. Place clothing into washer.
c. Select load size, i.e., small, medium, large.
d. Set water temperature. Hot water should be used for heavily soiled clothing.
e, Sort clothing accordingly.
f. Measure detergent (30 cc medium load, 60 cc large load).
a. Turn control knob to desired wash cycle.
h. Push appropriate button to start machine.
i Check inside washer for cleanliness, and if necessary, wipe with Super Sani-Cloth,
Germicidal Disinfectant Wipes (purple top container); hospital approved disinfectant.
i After wash cycle has finished, place laundered clothing into dryer.
2. Operation of dryer:

Clean lint filter before starting dryer for each use.

Select desired temperature.

Turn control knob clockwise to desired drying cycle.

Turn control knob clockwise to desired time of automatic shutoff.

Remove clothing promptly and return to patient promptly (use patient labels as
appropriate).

copoo



| Behavioral Health Services Inpatient
Washer/Dryer Use
| Page2of2

| 3. Washing and Drying of heavily soiled or stained clothing:

a. Disinfection of washing and drying machines in health-care facilities is not needed as
long as gross soil (e.g., feces) is removed before washing and proper washing and
drying procedures are used.

b. The physical removal of bulk solids before the wash/dry cycle, proper temperature, and
detergent shall be used for heavily soiled clothing items.

| D.  REFERENCE(S):

1. Guidelines for Environmental Infection Control in Health-Care Facilities: Recommendations of
CDC and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC),
Atlanta, GA 30333, 2003.

121



@Tri-City Health Care District
Oceanside, California

Infection Control Poliey-Manual

ISSUE DATE: 09/01 SUBJECT: Department Specific: Behavioral
Health UnitServices (BHS)

REVISION DATE: 07/03, 07/07, 07/10, 06/14 PRI NUMBER:—IC 1

Department Approval: 08/17

Infection Control Committee Approval: OFOLOF IGO0/ T

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: nia

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 07110, 06/1401/18

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:

Board of Directors Approval: 07/16,-06/14

A. POLICY:

1.

Patients with mental iliness may be at increased risk for infection because of impaired
judgement, poor impulse control, reduced self-care, irregular or poor medication
compliance, lack of personal hygiene or dental care. The unique practices of the various
treatment settings in the Behavioral Health UnitServices (BHS), as well as the behaviors
of the clients themselves, can lead to a heightened risk for transmission to other clients
and staff. Infection Prevention in behavioral-healthBHS requires application of
recommended prevention strategies to the extent possible. The unique behavioral traits
of some clients may pose an obstacle to traditional methods. The goal is to identify
mfections and utlllze strategles to prevent transmnssnon in thls at risk population Tl

B. PREVENTION STRATEGIES:

21.

3:2.

Standard Precautions are implemented for every patient in BHUBHS regardless of their
diagnosis. Hand hygiene and cough etiquette is encouraged among staff and patients. Hand
hygiene and personal hygiene reinforced daily during community meetings. Staff and patients
perform hand hygiene prior to eating meals.

The Behavioral-Health-UnitBHS does not have negative pressure rcoms. Patients requiring
Airborne Precautions for infectious tuberculosis, measles, or varicella (chickenpox or
disseminated herpes zoster) shall be transferred to an appropriate medical bed within the
hospital.

A patient requiring Contact Precautions for conditions other than multi-drug-resistant organisms
(e.g. MRSA and VRE) or Droplet Precautions may remain on the unit if the psychiatrist deems
this necessary. Patients requiring Droplet precautions will be asked to wear a surgical

12



Infection Control-Manual
Department Specific — Behavioral Health UnitServices, IC.7.1

Page 2 of 2

1.
12.

mask as tolerated (if patient presents as a danger to self, consideration of one-on-one
observation will be considered).

If a patient is diagnosed In-cases-sf-patients with a multi-drug-resistant organisms (e.g. MRSA
and VRE) the individual patient's clinical situation, hygiene practices and facility resources will
be considered in deciding whether to implement Contact Precautions with that patient.-

Clean linen is kept covered and stored inside a clean supply room. Dirty utility rooms are locked
The cleanllness of the kltchen is the responsnblllty of the staff Rahente—w#l—be—meh:ueted-

Each patlent WI|| be assugned a closet for personal clothes and belonglngs

Patients will be instructed on the use of laundry facilities. Patients are to wash only their own
clothes andwith direct staff superivision-will-assist-as-needed. Staff is responsible for the
cleanliness of the laundry area. Family members can be asked to take heavily soiled clothing
home for washing.

Housekeeping performs sanitizing, disinfecting, and general cleaning tasks such as but not
limited to trash/recycling removal, dusting, vacuuming, polishing, and mopping.

: Bat-htubShower area is to be cleaned by the envnronmental serwces staff assugned to the

Behawe;al—Heallh—Umt—BHs after each patlent use.

Sharps boxes will not be kept in patient rooms for safety reasons.

Staff to wipe off reusable equipment with hospital approved disinfectant wipes in
between patient use.

C. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

18.

Employee Health & Wellness Semeee Pollcy Injury Illness Preventlon Program
Infection Control: Aerosol Transmissible Diseases and Tuberculosis Control Plan IC.11
Infection Control: Cleaning and Disinfection iC.9

Infection Control: Hand Hygiene |C.8

Infection Control: Philosophy - IC 1:2

Infection Control: Standard and Transmission Based Precautions 1C.5

Parisipation-of-Staff-in-the-Infection-Control- Pregram-1G-+

8.D. REFERENCE(S):

1.

A

APIC Text of infection Control and Epidemiology 4th edition 2014-Chapter 49 Behavioral
l-lealth Larysa M. Fedonw. MPH

Management of Mult:drug-Resnstant Orgamsms In Healthcare Settings, Healthcare
Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC) 2006 Jane D. Siegel, MD; Emily
Rhinehart, RN MPH CIC; Marguerite Jackson, PhD; Linda Chiarello, RN MS; the
Healthcare Infection Control Practlces Ad\nsory Commlttee Maragementef Mullidrus-

12



)
@ Tri-City Medical Center

Distribution:

Women’s & Children's Services,

PROCEDURE:

BREAST MILK PUMPING HANDLING AND STORAGE OF

Purpeser

DELETE: replace wuth Elsewer Online
Skills: Breastmilk: Collection,
Storage and Administration

Pharmacy &

Raview/Revision Department of Medical Executive Professional Affairs
Date Pediatrics Therapautics Committes Commitiee Board of Directors
Committea
07/03, 05/06, 06/07,
05/08, 04/09, 06/11, 08/07, 06/15, 02/18 nfa 08/07, 08/15, 03/18 09/07, 06/09, 09/15 09/07, 06/09, 09/15

12/14, 09/15, 01/18

12



Women &Newbomn Services

Breast Milk, Pumping, Handling, and Storage of
Page 2 of 2

12¢



)
(G‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Distribution: WOMEN AND NEWBORN SERVICES

PROCEDURE: FORMULA FEEDING PROCEDURE
PH-FBBGB% o-outline-an-alternative-methed-efm iRg
Snpperlive-Datar  Hes-sicommersialh cooparad leop-lorilias

DELETE: Replace with Elsevier Online
Skills: Formula Feeding Education

Review/Revision Departmant of Department of Pharmacy and El::cd:;a‘: - Pi’mg"a' Board of
Date OBIGYN _ : Padiatrics Therapeutics Committee Committ Diractors
07/03, 07/09, 08/09, 03/15, 05/13, 04115,
01/18 nfa 02/18 nia 03118 06/13, 0515 06/13, 05/15

12



Women and Newborn Services (WNS)
Formula Feeding Procedure
Page 2 0of 2

121



@9 Tri-City Medical Center Tracked Changes

Oceanside, California

WOMEN'S AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES-ROLICY-MANUAL

ISSUE DATE:

10/94 SUBJECT: INFANT FEEDINGS

REVISION DATE(S): 01/00, 06/03, 12/09, 04/10, 06/14

Department Approval: 01/18
Department of Pediatrics Approval: 056/4302/18
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

| Medical Executive Committee Approval: 05/1403/18
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 06/14
Board of Directors Approval: 06114

A DEFINITION(S):
™ BELI: Baby-FriendivHospitallnitiat

Skin to Skin (STS): Direct physical contact between the newborn infant and mother. After birth,
the healthy term infant should be completely dried and placed naked against the mother's naked
chest. The infant may wear a diaper and/or hat, but no other clothing should be between the
mother's and infant’s bodies. The infant and mother are then covered with a warmed blanket,
keeping the infant's head uncovered. STS contact should continue, uninterrupted, until the
completion of the first feeding (or for at least 1 hour if the mother is not breastfeeding). STS
contact should be encouraged beyond the first hours and into the first days after birth. Another
adult may hold the infant STS if/when the mother is not available.

B.  POLICY:

1.
2.
3.

4-86.

To promote a philosophy of maternal infant care that advocates breastfeeding and supports the
normal physiological functions involved in the establishment of this matemal infant process.

To assist families choosing to breastfeed with initiating and developing a successful and
satisfying experience.

This policy is adapted from the Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine (AMB): AMB Clinical
Protocol # 7: Model Breastfeeding Policy (2010) which is based on recommendations from
the most recent breastfeeding policy statements published by the Office on Women's
Health of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the American Academy of
Pediatrics, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the American
Academy of Family Physicians, the World Health Organization (WHO), and the American

Breastfeeding; practices that have been shown to increase breastfeeding initiation and
duration.

TFri-City Medical Center complies with the WHO International Code of Marketing of
Breastmilk Substitutes.

12



| Women'is and Children's Services-Marual

Infant Feedings

Have a written breastfeeding policy that is routinely communicated to all health care staff.

Tri-City Medical Center staff will actively support breastfeeding as the preferred
method of providing nutrition to infants. A multidisciplinary team comprised of
physicians, midwives, nursing, lactation consultants, dietary, and outpatient
providers shall be established and maintained to identify and eliminate institutional
barriers to breastfeeding. This group will evaluate data relevant to breastfeeding
support services and formulate, along with administrators, a plan of action to
implement needed changes.

Tri-City Medical Center upholds the WHO International Code of Marketing of
Breastmilk Substitutes by offering education and materials that promote human
milk rather than other infant food or drink, and by refusing to accept or distribute
free or subsidized supplies of breastmilk substitutes, nipples, and other feeding
devices. Mothers will be protected from the promotion of breastmilk substitutes
and other efforts that undermine an informed feeding choice.

This written breastfeeding policy will be communicated to all health care staff
members. It will be reviewed and updated every 2 years (per medical center policy)
or as needed using current research as an evidence-based guide.

Al new Women and Newborn Services’ staff and care providers will be oriented to
the policy during their initial orientation. The orientation process is different for
type of hire and is detailed in the Women and Newborn Services Lactation
Education Checklist (see Attachment B). Staff and care providers will be expected
to read and sign the policy.

This policy will be readily available to all areas of Tri-City Medical Center that
potentially interact with childbearing women and infants so that they may promote,
protect, and support breastfeeding in all departments. Other department’s polices
will support, and will not countermand the medical center’s infant feeding policy.

Page 2 of 18
C. PROCEDURE:
1.
a.
b.
C.
d.
e.
2.

Train all health care staff in the skills necessary to implement this policy.

The nursing leadership team will ensure that all staff working in the Women and
Newborn Services department (excluding the NICU) will receive a minimum of 20
hours of education, including at least 5 hours of supervised clinical training, on the
topics specified by the BFHI (see Attachment A). For new employees, this training
will be completed within 6 months of hire. Details for the execution of the training
are specified in a separate training plan: Baby Friendly Training Requirements
(Attachment B).

Upon completion of training for new employees, the staff preceptor will supervise
and verify the clinical competency of the new staff member. This will be
documented in the orientation checklist and maintained in the employee file. Staff
will receive adequate training and mentorship to attain competence in:

i. Counseling the feeding decision

ii. Skin to skin (STS) in the immediate postpartum period

Iii. Comfortable and effective positioning and attachment at the breast

iv. Assessing and documenting a latch score

V. Maintenance of exclusive breastfeeding

vi. Feeding cues

vii. Rooming-in

viii. Hand expression

ix. Formula preparation and feeding when necessary

X. Finding support upon discharge

Documentation of all training will be maintained by the Lactation Supervisor and/or
appropriate CNS on the BFHI Staff Training Documentation Checklist.

Providers with privileges for labor, delivery, maternity, anesthesia, and/or newborn
care will have a minimum of 3 hours of breastfeeding management education
pertinent to their role. Education will be verified by successful completion of the
First Latch module and a certificate of completion will be verified and maintained by
a provider coordinator.

12



| Women';s and Children’s Services-Manua!

Infant Feedings
Page 3 of 18

h.

The content and number of hours of training for other staff will be developed based
on job description and workplace exposure to breastfeeding couplets.

3. Inform all pregnant women about the benefits and management of breastfeeding.

Physicians, midwives, and nurses providing prenatal services are responsible for
educating pregnant women and their support people about breastfeeding.
Education will cover the importance of exclusive breastfeeding, non-pharmacologic
pain relief methods for [abor, the importance of early STS contact, early initiation of
breastfeeding, rooming-in, feeding on demand, frequent feeding to help assure
optimal milk production, effective positioning and attachment, exclusive
breastfeeding for the first 6 months, and that breastfeeding continues to be
important after 6 months even after other foods are introduced. Contraindications
to breastfeeding and other special medical conditions will be discussed as
indicated. Education will be documented in the prenatal record.

Exclusive breastfeeding is defined as providing breastmilk as the sole source of
nutrition to infants. Exclusively breastfed infants receive no other liquids or solids
unless medically indicated. Mothers will be encouraged to exclusively breastfeed
unless medically contraindicated. The planned feeding method will be documented
in the prenatal record.

Tri-City Medical Center does not distribute educational materials in which the use
of formula or infant feeding bottles is discussed routinely.

Tri-City Medical Center offers no group education on the use of infant formula or
feeding bottles,

Breastfeeding classes are offered by Tri-City Medical Center. Pregnant women who
receive services at Tri-City Medical Center will receive written information regarding
the benefits of breastfeeding as well as an explanation of practices implemented in
the Women and Newborn Services department that support successful
breastfeeding.

Tri-City Medical Center fosters the development of community-based programs that
make available individual counseling or group education on breastfeeding and
collaborates with community-based programs to coordinate breastfeeding
messages.

Tri-City Medical Center provides organizations that offer prenatal services
curriculum that includes essential information to be taught to the pregnant woman
regarding breastfeeding.

Members of the staff at Tri-City Medical Center participate in the local breastfeeding
coalition.

4, Help mothers initiate breastfeeding within one hour of birth.

immediately after delivery, all term infants, regardless of feeding preference, will be
placed STS with the mother as long as the infant and mother are stable and it is not
medically contraindicated.

STS contact including any reasons for delaying STS will be documented in the
infant’s medical record.

Preterm or unstable infants or infants having required resuscitation will be placed
STS as soon as possible after medical stability has been established.

The nursing staff present at the delivery has the responsibility to create the optimal
environment for transition of the infant and initiation of the first breastfeeding. This
encompasses placing the infant STS with mother immediately after birth (including
cesarean deliveries if possible), assisting the mother in recognizing infant signs of
feeding readiness, and allowing the infant the opportunity to seif-attach to the
breast. Vaginal delivery mother/infant couplets will be given the opportunity to
initiate breastfeeding within 1 hour of birth. Cesarean delivery motherfinfant
couplets will be given the opportunity to initiate breastfeeding as soon as possible.
Time of initiation of STS contact as well as the time this contact ends will be
documented in the medical record.

During the initial period of STS contact, routine newborn procedures will be
postponed (up to 2 hours) until the first breastfeeding has been completed.

12¢



| Women'is and Children’s Services-Manual
Infant Feedings
Page 4 of 18

Assessments and procedures {including the administration of vitamin K and
erythromycin eye ointment) should be performed while the infant is still STS with
the mother.

g. After 24 hours of life, the stable infant may receive a bath upon parent’s request.

i. Earlier bathing may be considered in the instances of specific parental
request, meconium stained infant, or malodorous amniotic fluid.

iii. The infant whose mother is infected with a blood borne pathogen or current
STD should receive a bath as soon as possible after the delivery.

jiii Education is provided to parents about delayed bathing to include the
importance of initial bonding, STS, and establishment of breastfeeding.

h. STS contact will be encouraged throughout the hospital stay.

5. Show mothers how to breastfeed and how to maintain lactation even if separated from
their infants.

a. The nurse will assess the mother’s breastfeeding techniques and, if needed, will
demonstrate appropriate breastfeeding positioning and attachment, optimally
within 3 hours, and no later than 6 hours after birth.

b. Breastfeeding assessment, teaching, and documentation will be done on each shift
and whenever possible during each staff contact with the mother. After each
feeding, staff will document information about the feeding in the infant's medical
record. This documentation may include the latch, position, and any problems
encountered. For feedings not directly observed, maternal report may be used.
Every shift, a direct observation of the infant’s position and latch during feeding
will be performed and documented. If the LATCH score is < 7, the nurse will
document any interventions and the infant's response to those interventions. The
LATCH score will be repeated with the next feed.

C. Mothers will be encouraged to utilize available breastfeeding resources including
classes, written materials, and the newborn channel as appropriate. If clinically
indicated, the provider or nurse will make a referral to a lactation consulfant, The
mother will be given a breastfeeding log book and shown how to monitor feedings
and diapers, as well as information about breastfeeding support groups.

d. Parents will be taught that breastfeeding infants, including cesarean-birth infants,
should be put to breast at least 8 to 12 times in 24 hours. Infant feeding cues (such
as increased alertness, activity, mouthing, or rooting) will be used as indicators of
the infant's readiness for feeding. Breastfeeding mothers will be instructed about
breastfeeding and the following principles and skills reviewed before discharge;

i. Importance of exclusive breastfeeding

iii. How to maintain lactation for exclusive breastfeeding for up to 6 months
iii. Proper positioning and latch

iv. Nutritive sucking and swallowing

V. Milk production and release

vi, Frequency of feeding/feeding cues

vil, How to manually express, pump, handle, and store breastmilk

viil. How to assess if the infant is adequately nourished

ix. Reasons to contact the provider

X. How to sustain lactation if separated from the infant or if not exclusively
breastfeeding after discharge

e. Time limits for breastfeeding on each side will be avoided. Infants may be offered
both breasts at each feeding but may be interested in feeding on only one side
early on.

f. When a mother must be separated from her infant, the staff will instruct the mother
to begin expressing her breastmilk within 3 hours of the separation. The mother will
be taught how frequently to express her milk as well as proper storage and
handling. The EBM (expressed breastmilk) will be given to the infant as soon as the
infant is medically stable. The mother’s EBM will be used before any
supplementation with breastmilk substitutes unless otherwise contraindicated.

13(



| Women';s and Children's Services-Manual

Infant Feedings

Page 50of 18

A mother discharged home without her infant due to illness or prematurity will be
seen by a lactation consultant before discharge and will be given a discharge
pumping plan and appropriate education:

i. Instruction on hand expression and the electric breast pump:

1) Expression/pumping at least 8 times per day, approximately every 3
hours for 15 minutes or until milk flow stops.

2) The importance of continuing to pump throughout the night.

3) For mothers who will be separated from their infants for an extended
period of time, instruct to pump 6 times a day once milk supply is
established.

ii. Encouraged to breastfeed on demand as soon as the infant’s condition
permits.

iiti. Encouraged to practice daily STS when the infant is medically stable.

iv. Instruction on proper storage and {abeling of breastmilk.

V. Assistance in obtaining a double set up electric breast pump prior to going
home.

The mother who chooses to feed her infant a breastmilk substitute will be given

written and verbal information regarding appropriate hygiene, preparation, storage,

handling, and feeding of the substitute. This education will be documented in the

medical record.

i. Ready to feed formula or liquid concentrate is recommended for the first 2
months of life.

iil. Families with WIC or those who will be using powdered formula will be given
information regarding safe preparation. {see WHO Guidelines: How to

Prepare Formula for Bottie-Feeding at Home):

1) Powdered formula is not sterile.
2) Mix powder with hot water {158 degrees F/70 degrees C).
3) Allow formula to cool prior to feeding to the infant.

Give infants no food or drink other than breastmilk, unless medically indicated.

a,
b.

For healthy term infants, no supplemental water or glucose water will be given.
For healthy term infants, no breastmilk substitute will be given unless by a
provider’s order or standardized procedure. Note: Breastmilk substitutes should
not be used as a prophylactic measure for anticipated weight loss, jaundice, etc.
Infants who are receiving supplemental nutrition will be offered alternative feeding
methods to avoid the use of bottles and nipples if acceptable to the mother and
achievable according to staff. These methods include:

i. Supplemental Nursing System {(SNS)

il Finger Feeding

iiii. Cup feeding

EBM, if available, will be given prior to supplementation with a breastmilk substitute. If
EBM is not immediately available, it will be given as soon as it is available.

Each day the provider will be consulted regarding the volume and type of supplement.
If formula supplementation is medically indicated, an order is needed and the nurse
must document initial reason(s) and ongoing indications.

If a mother requests her infant be supplemented with a breastmilk substitute, staff will
explore and address the mother's concerns. The mother will be given the Risks of
Formula Supplementation handout for review. If the mother’s request for formula
persists, the provider will be called for an order for formula. The education to the risks
of formula and informed decision of the patient will be documented. The mother will be
given supplies and education (refer to Mosby’s Skills — Formula Feeding Education
Maternal Newborn).

Assessment for clinical signs of hypoglycemia and dehydration will be ongoing.
Routine glucose monitoring of full term (AGA, non IDM) infants is not indicated.

13



| Women';s and Children's Services-Manual
Infant Feedings
Page 6 of 18

a-i. Before 24 hours of life, if the infant has not latched on or fed effectively, the mother will
be instructed to begin breast massage and hand expression of colostrum into a spoon
or the infant’s mouth during feeding attempts. STS contact will be encouraged. Parents
will be instructed to watch closely for feeding cues, and when observed, to feed the
infant. If the infant continues to feed poorly, hand expression and/or an electric breast
pump (and pumping with breast massage) will be introduced and maintained
approximately every 3 hours, or a minimum of 8 times per day. Any expressed
colostrum or mother’s milk will be fed to the infant by SNS, finger feeding, or cup
feeding. The mother will be educated that it is normal not to obtain much milk or even
any milk the first few times she pumps her breasts. The lactation consultant or
specialist should also be consulted for these cases.

i-j. Breastfeeding is contraindicated for:

ik, Mothers who are HIV-positive.

jili. Mothers who abuse illicit drugs or alcohol.

iwiii. Mothers who are taking certain high risk medications. {Most prescribed and
over-the-counter medications are safe for the breastfeeding infant, however
some may be contraindicated while breastfeeding.)

wiv. Mothers who have active, untreated tuberculosis (infant may safely receive
EBM).

vizv. Infants who have galactosemia, maple syrup disease, or phenylketonuria.

viivi. Mothers with active herpetic lesions on the breast(s). (The Infectious
Disease Department should be consulted for any problematic infectious
disease issues regarding safety of STS, direct breastfeeding, and/or EBM.)

ivii. Mothers with varicella that is determined to be infectious to the infant.

iviii. Mothers with HTLV1 (human T-cell leukemia virus type 1)

7. Practice rooming-in — allow mothers and infants to remain together 24 hours a day.

a. Mother/infant couplets (regardless of maternal feeding preference) will begin
rooming-in immediately after delivery and will not be separated during
hospitalization as long as both are medically stable and mother/family are able to
care for infant.

b. Routine newborn procedures will be done at the mother’s bedside.

c. Infants can only be admitted to couplet care or the NICU.

d. If an infant needs to be separated from its mother, documentation of the location,
reason, and the expected time period will be recorded.

e. The infant will be reunited with the mother as soon as possible. If an infant and

mother are separated, the staff will support exclusivity of breastfeeding.

af. If a mother requests that her infant be taken out of the room, staff will explore the
mother’s reason for the request, will educate her on the benefits of continuing to
room in, and will document as appropriate.

8. Encourage breastfeeding on demand.

a. All mothers will be taught to feed their infant when the infant exhibits signs of
feeding readiness. Mothers will be taught to recognize these feeding cues in the
infant.

b. Mothers will be informed of normal newborn feeding behaviors such as cluster
feeding, feeding through the night, and a normal feeding schedule of at least 8-12
feedings in a 24 hour period.

c. No limitations will be taught to mothers regarding length or number of feedings.

5.d. Parents will be taught that both physical contact and nourishment are important
parts of the feeding process.

a:9. Give no pacifiers or artificial nipples to breastfeeding infants.

a. Pacifiers will not be given to healthy, full-term breastfeeding infants.

b. Preterm infants in the NICU or infants with specific medical conditions may be
given pacifiers for non-nutritive sucking.

c. Infants undergoing painful procedures may be given a pacifier as a method of pain
management during the procedure. The infant will not return to the mother with the
pacifier.

13



| Women'is and Children’s Services-Marual
Infant Feedings
Page 7 of 18

d. Pain management interventions during uncomfortable or distressing procedures
will be used whenever possible. This may include breastfeeding during a heel stick
procedure for infant blood tests.

e. If a parent requests a pacifier, artificial nipples, or feeding bottles they will be
educated regarding possible negative consequences as it relates to breastfeeding
and this education will be documented.

f. Any supplementation should be given by SNS, finger feeding, or cup feeding before
introduction of an artificial nipple or bottle.

6-g. A nipple shield may be given by the RN or lactation consultant to manage latch
problems, or sore or cracked nipples. The RN or lactation consultant will document
why the nipple shield was given and the infant’s response to the intervention.
Mothers using nipple shields will be followed by a lactation consultant.

10.  Foster the establishment of breastfeeding support groups and refer mothers to them on
discharge from the hospital or birth center.

a. Infants that are not feeding well should not be discharged home.

b. Before leaving the hospital breastfeeding mothers should be able to:

i Position and latch the infant correctly at the breast with no/minimal
discomfort during feeding.

it Recognize when the infant is swallowing milk.

iiii. State that the infant should be breastfed approximately 8 to 12 times in 24

hours.

iv. State an age-appropriate elimination pattern — at least 6 voids and 3 to 4
stools per day by the fourth day of life.

V. List indications for calling the provider,

avi. Manually express milk from her breasts.

b-c.  Prior to going home, mothers will be given the names and telephone numbers of
community resources to contact for help with breastfeeding including the Tri-City
Medical Center breastfeeding clinic and support group.

d. All infants should be seen for follow-up within the first few days after discharge.
This visit should be with a pediatrician or other qualified health care practitioner for
a formal evaluation of breastfeeding performance, a weight check, assessment of
jaundice, and age-appropriate elimination.

D. BREASTFED NEWBORN INPUT AND OUPUT NORMS

Age in hours Mllkf:glduir:ge per # feeds # voids # stools

0-24 0-5 mls / drops 6-8 21 =1
24-48 5-10 mis /1 tsp 28 22 22
48-72 10-20 mis / 1 tbsp 28 23 23
72-96 20-30 mis /1 0z 28 24 24
> 96 >30mis/>10z 28 2512 2512

1. Infant has 24 hours to void and 48 hours to stool after birth.

2, There may be a lull in stooling after meconium is cleared while baby waits for milk to come
in.

3. Infants may feed VERY frequently before the milk comes in; even hourly for the first few
nights.

E. MEDICAL INDICATIONS FOR SUPPLEMENTATION
1.  When making the decision to start supplementation, it is necessary to look at all the
factors involved. Weight loss alone does not imply the need for supplementation.
Breastfeeding assessment, assistance, and education should be done prior to starting
supplementation.

2. Possible medical indications for supplementation include:
a. Infant risk factors:
i. Asymptomatic Hypoglycemia unresponsive to appropriate, frequent

breastfeeding

13



| Women'is and Children's Services-Marual
Infant Feedings
Page 8 of 18

il. Inadequate intake as evidenced by:

1) Clinical or laboratory evidence of clinical dehydration (high sodium,
poor feeding, lethargy) that is not improved after skilled assessment
and proper management of breastfeeding.

2) Excessive weight loss (2 10%):

a) Note that excessive newborn weight loss is correlated with
positive maternal intravenous fluid balance and may not be
directly indicative of breastfeeding success or failure.

b) Number of voids and stools should be taken into
consideration.

3) Delayed bowel movements: < 4 stools on DOL 4, or continued
meconium stools on DOL 5.

iii. Hyperbilirubinemia
1) With ongoing weight Joss, limited stooling, and voiding with uric acid

crystals.
iv. Inborn errors of metabolism
b, Maternal risk factors:

i Delayed secretory activation.
il Primary glandular insufficiency as evidenced by:

1) Abnormal breast shape

2) Poor breast growth during pregnancy

3) Prior breast surgery resulting in poor milk production
Hil.  Intolerable pain during feedings unrelieved by interventions.

F. SUPPLEMENTAL NURSING SYSTEMS (SNS) AND NIPPLE SHIELDS
1. Supplemental Nursing System (SNS):
a. Assemble the SNS tubing with a syringe or container; considered a single-use
piece of equipment.
b. Gently tape the tubing to the mother’s breast with the end of the tubing extending
about % inch beyond the end of her nipple.
c. Assist the mother in latching the infant to the breast and tubing as needed.
i. Sucking from the infant creates a siphon effect and allows supplementation
from the reservoir of the syringe or SNS container kit.
d. Supplementation should be monitored accordingly.
i Amounts of EBM or breastmilk substitute should be measured to meet the
infant’s needs.
iii. 10-15 ml of EBM or breastmilk substitute is considered adequate intake for
the newborn infant. It is important not to overfeed. Cue-based infant feeding
should be utilized.

2. Nipple shield:
a. Application of the nipple shield:

i. Assess both mother and infant to choose the correct size nipple shield.
Sizing a nipple shield is dependent on both the size of the infant’s mouth
and the size of the mother's nipple.

ii. The nipple shield may be placed under very warm water to increase pliability
and enhance adherence to the breast. Colostrum or lanolin cream may also
be used to help with adherence.

iiii. Handle the shield by the rim. Place the shield over the breast with the nipple
centered inside the nipple portion of the shield. Support the breast with a
“C" hold. Place the thumb on both the top of the breast and the top part of
the shield and place the fingers below, underneath the areola.

b. Latching the infant to the breast with a nipple shield:

i Guide the mother to stroke the infant’s lower lip with the shield. When the
infant’s mouth opens wide, bring the infant directly onto the shield allowing
the infant to take as much of the areola as possible into the mouth.

13



| Women's and Chitdren's Services-Manual
Infant Feedings

Page 9 of 18
iii. Allow the infant to breastfeed on one breast as long s/he likes. Repeat on the
other breast if infant shows a desire to continue breastfeeding.

c. Cleaning and care of the nipple shield:

i Instruct the mother to wash her hands and the nipple shield in warm, soapy
water, rinsing well before each use.

il Store the shield with the nipple facing upward, and keep in a clean and dry
covered container.

d. Reportable conditions and referral to a lactation consuitant:

i. Continued inability to sustain latch.
ii. Absence of audible swallow after several minutes of sucking.
jii. infant weight loss greater than 7% below birth weight.
Ziv. Signs of dehydration or anemia.
3. Follow-up:

a. If a mother is still using a breastfeeding aid (SNS or nipple shield) at the time of
discharge, she will be referred to lactation services to schedule a follow-up
outpatient lactation clinic appointment within a few days of discharge.

b. It is not uncommon for a mother to use a breastfeeding aid for up to 6 months for
the following conditions:

i. Nipple abnormalities (e.g., flat, inverted, fibrous).
i, Premature infant.
G. SUPPLEMENTATION FREQUENCY AND QUANTITY

Frequency Quantity
Term Infant (2 » DOL 1: 8 attemnpts (usually 4-5 | > DOL 1: 5-10 ml per feeding
37.0 weeks) successful feedings) » DOL 2: 10-20 ml per feeding
> DOL 2: 8-12 times » DOL 3: 20-30 ml per feeding
> DOL 3 & 4: 8-12 times » DOL 4: 30-40 ml per feeding
> DOL 5: 40-50 ml per feeding
> DOL 6: 50-60 ml per feeding
» DOL 7 - 1* month: 60-80 ml

per feeding

*Volumes may vary depending
on infant’s weight

Late Preterm » At least every 3 hours, more » DOL 1: 5-10 ml per feeding
Infant (2 35.0 - often based on infant feeding | » DOL 2: 10-20 ml per feeding
36.6) cues. » DOL 3: 20-30 ml per feeding
> Limit total feeding time to 30 > DOL 4: 30-40 mi per feeding
minutes in order to minimize | > DOL 5: 40-50 ml per feeding
fatigue and conserve energy. | » DOL 6: 50-60 ml per feeding
> DOL 7 - 1* month: 60-90 ml
*Late preterm have immature per feeding
feeding capabilities, increased
calorie needs, low metabolic *May do better with smaller
stores, and are high risk for volumes

hyperbilirubinemia.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

1. Drugs to specifically suppress lactation will not be given to any postpartum mother.

2. It is recommended that mothers wait 6 weeks postpartum to receive Depo-Provera, unless
the OB team feels it is indicated earlier.

3. Prior to administration of any drugs that may inhibit milk production, mothers will be
counseled as to the risks.

4, Routine use of nipple creams, ointments, or other topical preparations will be avoided

unless such therapy has been indicated for a dermatological problem. Mothers with sore
nipples will be observed for latch technique and will be instructed to apply expressed

13!



| Women's and Children's Services-Manual
Infant Feedings
Page 10 of 18

colostrum or breast milk to the areola after each feeding. Lanolin cream may be used if
medically indicated.

l COMPLIANCE WITH THE INTERNATIONAL CODE OF MARKETING OF BREASTMILK

SUBSTITUTES

1. Employees of manufactures or distributers of breastmilk substitutes, bottles, nipples, or
pacifiers have no direct communication with pregnant women or delivered mothers.

2, Tri-City Medical Center does not receive free gifts, non-scientific literature, material,
equipment, money, or support for breastfeeding education or events from manufactures of
breastmilk substitutes, bottles, nipples, or pacifiers.

3. No pregnant women, delivered mothers, or families are given marketing materials,
samples, or gift packs by the facility that contain breastmilk substitutes, bottles, nipples,
pacifiers, or any other infant feeding equipment or coupons for the above items.

4. All educational materials distributed to breastfeeding mothers are free from messages that
promote or advertise infant food or drink other than breastmilk.

13t



| Women'is and Childran's Services-htanual
Infant Feedings
Page 11 of 18

137



| Women'is and Children's Services-Manusl
Infant Feedings
Fage 12 of 18

131



| Women';s and Children's Services-Manual

Infant Feedings
Page 13 of 18

B-K.

EL.

FORM(S):

Risks of Formula Supplementation
Lactation Education Handout
Delayed Newbom Bathing

1.
2.
3

EXTE
1.

RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1.
2

Women and Newborn Services: Standards of Care — Newborns
Formula Feeding Education Maternal Newborn (Mosby's Skills)

XTERNAL LINK(S):

www.newbornchannel.com

REFERENCE(S}):

1

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: HHS Blueprint for Action on
Breastfeeding. 1-31. Washington, DC, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,
Office on Women’s Health, 2000.

The American Academy of Pediatrics, Work Group on Breastfeeding: Breastfeeding and
the use of human milk. Pediatrics: March 2012, volume 129/issue 3.

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and Committees on Health Care for
Underserved Women and Obstetric Practice, Queenan, JT (ed): Breastfeeding: Maternal
and Infant Aspects. Washington, DC, The American College of Obstetricians and
Gynecologists. Number 361, February 2007.

The American Academy of Family Physicians. Family Physicians Supporting
Breastfeeding: Breastfeeding Position Paper 2008.
http://www.aafp.org/about/policies/all/breastfeeding-support.html

World Health Organization, United Nations Children’s Fund: Protecting, promoting and
supporting breastfeeding: The special role of maternity services (A joint WHO/UNICEF
statement). Int J Gynecol Obstet31:171-183, 1990.

Position of the American Dietetic Association: Supporting and Promoting Breastfeeding. J
Am Diet Assoc105, 5:810-818, 2005.

Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine Board of Directors. ABM Mission Statement.
www.bfmed.org.2003.

WHO/UNICEF Joint Statement. Meeting on Infant and Young Child Feedmg J Nurse-
Midwifery25:31-38, 1980.

13!



] Women';s and Children's Services-Marual

Infant Feedings
Page 14 of 18

9.

10.

1.

12,

13.

14.

15.

16.
17.
18.

19.

20.
21.
22,
23.
24,

25.
26.

27.

28.

429,

World Health Organization and United Nations Children’s Fund: Innocenti Declaration on
the Protection, Promotion and Support of Breastfeeding. New York UNICEF, 1990,
Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Cordes R, Howard CR: Clinical
Protocol #3: Hospital Guidelines for the Use of Supplementary Feedings in the Healthy
Term Breastfed Newborn. www.bfmed.org. Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, 2002.
Howard CR, Howard FM, Lanphear B, et al: Randomized clinical trial of pacifier use and
bottle-feeding or cupfeeding and their effect on breastfeeding. Pediatrics 111:511-518,
2003.

Howard CR, de Blieck EA, ten Hoopen CB, et al: Physiologic stability of newborns during
cup and bottle feeding. Pediatrics104:1-7, 1999.

Marinelli KA, Burke GS, Dodd VL: A comparison of the safety of cup feedings and bottle
feedings in premature infants whose mothers intend to breastfeed. J Perinatol 21:350-355,
2001.

Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Eidelman Al, Howard CR,
Schanler RJ, Wight NE: Clinical Protocol Number 1: Guidelines for Glucose Monitoring
and Treatment of Hypoglycemia in Breastfed Neonates. ABM News and Views 5:insert,
1999,

Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Gartner L, Howard C R: Clinical
Protocol #2: Guidelines for Hospital Discharge of the Breastfeeding Term Infant and
Mother, “The Going Home Protocol.” www.bfmed.org. Academy of Breastfeeding
Medicine, 2002.

Hale TW: Medications and Mother's Milk, 16th ed. Amarillo, TX, Pharmasoft Medical
Publishing, 2011.

Lawrence RA, Lawrence RM: Breastfeeding: A guide for the medical profession, 5th ed. St.

Louis, Mosby, 1999,
Committee on Drugs, The American Academy of Pediatrics: The transfer of drugs and
other chemicals into human milk. Pediatrics108:776-789, 2001.

Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Chantry C, Howard CR, McCoy
RC: Clinical Protocol #5: Peripartum Breastfeeding Management for the Healthy Mother
and Infant at Term. www.bfmed.org. Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, 2002.

Riordan JM, Auerbach KG: Breastfeeding and Human Lactation. Boston, Jones and
Bartlett Publishers, 1993,

American Academy of Pediatrics. Redbook: 2015 Report of the Committee on Infectious
Diseases, 30th ed. Elk Grove, lll, American Academy of Pediatrics, 2015.

Merewood A, Philipp BL: Breastfeeding: Conditions and Diseases. Amarillo, TX,
Pharmasoft Publishers, 2001.

Breastfeeding Medicine Vol 2,Number 1 2010, ABM Clinical Protocol #7: Model
Breastfeeding Policy

WHO Guidelines: Safe Preparation, Storage, and Handling of Powdered Infant

Formula: http://www.who.int/foodsafety/publications/micro/pif_guidelines.pdf

AAP, Wight, N.E. (2008). Best Medicine: “Human Milk in the NICU": Hale Publishing, L.P.
Hoag-Nann, M. (2009). Lactation Management: “Techniques, Tips, and Tools for the Health
Care Provider”:Serif- Buffalo, NY.

La Leche League International. {2006) “The Breastfeeding Answer Book: Latch on
problems”.

Manufacturer’s Guidelines (2009): Medela Inc. “Nipple Shield Usage, Cleaning and Care”
pamphlet.

WCS/NICU Policy # 6385-200: “LACTATION SERVICES”.

14



| Women";s and Childran's Services-Manual
Infant Feedings
Page 150f 18

14



| Women'is and Children's Services-Manual
Infant Feedings
Page 16 of 18

Objectives

Content

Method of Education

Discuss the rationale for
professional, government, and
international policies that
promote, protect, and support
breastfeeding in the United
States.

The BFHI: A Part of the Global Strategy
The Global Strategy for Infant and Young Child Feeding
and how it fits with other activities

» How the BFHI can assist health care facilities to
implement evidence-based practice, improve quality of
care, and deliver continuity of care

v First Latch Module

Demonstrate the ability to
communicate effectively about
breastfeeding.

Communication Skills

» Listening and learning

>  Skills to build confidence and give support

>  Arranging follow-up and support suitable to the mother's
situation

First Latch Module
1:1 time with lactation
consultant

AR

Describe the anatomy and
physiology of lactation and the
process of breastfeeding.

How Milk Gets from the Breast to the infant
The parts of the breast involved in lactation
Breastmilk production

The infant’s role in milk {ransfer

Breast care

VYVVVvVYyY

v First Latch Module

Identify teaching points

Promoting Breastfeading During Pregnancy

h > Discussing breastfeeding with pregnant women v" First Latch Module
:ggr;;:;n;t;if:;sp:&?:larleclz:i?s >  Why breastfeeding Is important ¥ 1:1 time with lactation
- preg >  Antenatal breast and nipple preparation consultant
womean, > ldentifying women who need exira attention
Birth Practices and Breastfeeding
. s . » Labor and birth practices to support early breastfeeding ¥ First Latch Module
g;?”fg‘cgi'::zllﬁ'aﬂzg poc;ltimes » The importance of early STS contact ¥ Review policies and
e >  Helping with initiation of breastfeeding procedures
“ 9. » Ways lo support breastfeeding after cesarean ¥ 11 time with lactation
»  BFHI practices for women who are not breastfeeding consultant
l-lalping the Mother Breastfeed
How to assess breastfeeding
Demonstrate the ability to > When to assist with breastfeeding v B
identify the halimarks of > ldentify optimal positioning and latch v f};s:irl;\?:::it}l\f c;dlla";atl -
mitk transfer and optimal ¥» Help mothers learn to position and latch her infant c;:nsullant
breastfeeding. »  Positioning for comfortable breastfeeding
» Identifying the infant who has difficulty attaching to the
breast
Practices that Promote Breastfeeding
Discuss hospital postpartum ); g_t’:_osmlng-m '; Eerﬁ:\:t;m:ﬂﬁ d
mrzzzgﬁgetrr‘llafglLIJCles:g:clusive » Recognizing feeding cues, feeding on demand procedures
Ereastfee din PPo » Management of sleepy or fussy infants ¥ 1:1 time with lactation
9- » Avoiding unnecessary supplementation consultant
> Avoiding artificial nipples and pacifiers
" Milk supply
ptscuss methads that may ¥» Addressing mother's concerns about "not enough milk” v Firsl_Latch. Module .
increase milk production in a > Normal growth pattems of infants ¥ 1:1 time with a lactation
variety of circumstances. >  Improving milk intake and milk production L L
Supporting the non-breastfeeding mother and infant
Identify teaching points to » Counseling the formula choice: a pediatric responsibility : s;;::tchlmgguali d
include when educating or » Teaching/assuring safe formula preparation in the roc edut?:s
counseling parents who are postpartum period 7 '1:'_1 lime with lactation
using bottles and/or formula. » Safe botile feeding; issues with overfeeding and cém sultant

underfeeding

14:



| Women'is and Children's Services-Manaual

Infant Feedings
Page 17 of 18
Infants and Mothers with Special Needs
>  Breastfeeding infants who are preterm, low birth weight,
. Cn and/or ill
Discuss contraindications to
> Breastfeeding more than one infant
G DT > Prevention and management of commoen clinical concerns v First Lalch_ el .
10 eI DG 7 » Medical reasons for breast milk substitutes A LW e 2
encountered areas of concern : consultant
7 Nutritional needs of breastfeeding women v F .
Izreilirii?as:'f;eding mothers and » Breastfesding and birth control er\gsgu?g:cies L
) » Breastfeeding management when the mother is ill P
» Medications and breastfeeding
> Contraindications to breastfeeding
Breast and Nipple Concerns
Describe interventions for breast | » Examination of the mother's breasts and nipples v
1 and nipple problems. » Engorgement, blocked ducts, and mastitis AL e
» Sore nipples
::degfg;‘;czﬂgs:fpr;ﬁﬁzﬁm If the Infant Cannot Feed at the Breast ¥ First Latch Module
v
12 | of breast fed infants according to : bzaerrt;lfndgol::o:l?‘:\itl:lkexpress Efi\:::Uf:: UL
23:::’;;1 2nd intemational >  Feeding EBM to the infant v 1:1 time with lactation
. consultant
v First Latch Module
: Ongoing Support for Mothers v Learn about breastfeeding
gf::"he nefsusrer:l‘i’?:é?sn:gonents »  Preparing a mother for discharge support group during
13 contissg breastfeeding bevond » Follow-up and support after discharge orientation
the early weeks 9 bey > Protecting breastfeeding for employed women v San Diego County
y ‘ » Sustained breastfeeding beyond one year Breastfeeding Coalition
resource guide
Protecting Breastfeeding
»  The effects of marketing on infant feeding practices
¥» The International Code of Marketing of Breastmilk
Describe strategies that protect Substitutes ¥ First Latch Module
14 | breastfeeding as a public health | » How health care workers can protect families from v Review policies and
goal. marketing procedures
7 How lo respond to marketing practices
» Donor milk in emergency situations
» The role of breastfeeding in emergencies
Making Your Hospital or Birth Center Baby Friendly
I%?":Ig:?;hlg:; :' ;:L?;s a‘r':c;the » The Ten Steps to Successful Breastfeeding
15 ?re: Steos 1o Succes s,:lg > What “Baby Friendly” practices are ¥ First Latch Module
Breastfelldin »  The process of becoming a “Baby Friendly” hospital or
9- birth center

14



Wamen';s and Children's Services-Manual
Infant Feedings
Page 18 of 18

Baby Friendly Training Requirements

Position

Training Required

Registered Nurses

First Latch Module — BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Lactation Consultants

First Latch Module — BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Dieticians

First Latch Module - BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Occupational Therapists

First Latch Module — BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Pediatricians

First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours

Neonatologists

First Latch Module — BFHI Provider 'T'raining: 3 hours

Obstetricians

First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours

Anesthesiologists

First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours

Midwives First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
PAs First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
NNPs First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
OB Techs First Latch Module — BFHI Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Advanced Care Technicians (ACT)

First Latch Module — BFHI! Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Hearing Screeners

First Latch Module — BFHI Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Social Workers

First Latch Module — BFHI Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Environmental Services (EVS)

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Unit Secretaries

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Peri Operative Aides

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Birth Clerks

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Respiratory Therapists

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Case Managers

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Newborn Photographers

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

14



o
@ Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California Clean Copy

WOMEN'S AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES

ISSUE DATE:

10/94 SUBJECT: INFANT FEEDINGS

REVISION DATE(S): 01/00, 06/03, 12/09, 04/10, 06/14

Department Approval: 01/18
Department of Pediatrics Approval: 02/18
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 03/18
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 06/14
Board of Directors Approval: 06/14

A. DEFINITION(S):

1.

Skin to Skin (STS): Direct physical contact between the newborn infant and mother. After birth,
the healthy term infant should be completely dried and placed naked against the mother’'s naked
chest. The infant may wear a diaper and/or hat, but no other clothing should be between the
mother’'s and infant’s bodies. The infant and mother are then covered with a warmed blanket,
keeping the infant's head uncovered. STS contact should continue, uninterrupted, until the
completion of the first feeding (or for at least 1 hour if the mother is not breastfeeding). STS
contact should be encouraged beyond the first hours and inte the first days after birth. Another
adult may hold the infant STS iffwhen the mother is not available.

B. POLICY:

1.

2.
3.

To promote a philosophy of maternal infant care that advocates breastfeeding and supports the
normal physiological functions involved in the establishment of this maternal infant process.

To assist families choosing to breastfeed with initiating and developing a successful and
satisfying experience.

This policy is adapted from the Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine (AMB): AMB Clinical Protocol
# 7: Model Breastfeeding Policy {2010) which is based on recommendations from the most recent
breastfeeding policy statements published by the Office on Women's Health of the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American
College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the American Academy of Family Physicians, the
World Health Organization (WHO), and the American Dietetic Association.

This policy encompasses the UNICEF/WHO evidence-based Ten Steps to Successful
Breastfeeding; practices that have been shown to increase breastfeeding initiation and duration.
Tri-City Medical Center complies with the WHO International Code of Marketing of Breastmilk
Substitutes.

C. PROCEDURE:

1.

Have a written breastfeeding policy that is routinely communicated to all health care staff.

a. Tri-City Medical Center staff will actively support breastfeeding as the preferred method of
providing nutrition to infants. A multidisciplinary team comprised of physicians, midwives,
nursing, lactation consultants, dietary, and outpatient providers shall be established and
maintained to identify and eliminate institutional barriers to breastfeeding. This group will
evaluate data relevant to breastfeeding support services and formulate, along with
administrators, a plan of action to implement needed changes.

b. Tri-City Medical Center upholds the WHO International Code of Marketing of Breastmilk
Substitutes by offering education and materials that promote human milk rather than other
infant food or drink, and by refusing to accept or distribute free or subsidized supplies of
breastmilk substitutes, nipples, and other feeding devices. Mothers will be protected from

14!



Women's and Children's Services

Infant Feedings
Page 2 of 13

the promotion of breastmilk substitutes and other efforts that undermine an informed
feeding choice.

This written breastfeeding policy will be communicated to all health care staff members. It
will be reviewed and updated every 2 years (per medical center policy) or as needed
using current research as an evidence-based guide.

All new Women and Newborn Services' staff and care providers will be oriented to the
policy during their initial orientation. The orientation process is different for type of hire and
is detailed in the Women and Newborn Services Lactation Education Checklist (see
Attachment B). Staff and care providers will be expected to read and sign the policy.

This policy will be readily available to all areas of Tri-City Medical Center that potentially
interact with childbearing women and infants so that they may promote, protect, and
support breastfeeding in all departments. Other department’s polices will support, and will
not countermand the medical center’s infant feeding policy.

2, Train all health care staff in the skills necessary to implement this policy.

a.

e.

The nursing leadership team will ensure that all staff working in the Women and Newborn
Services department (excluding the NICU) will receive a minimum of 20 hours of
education, including at least 5 hours of supervised clinical training, on the topics specified
by the BFHI {see Attachment A). For new employees, this training will be completed
within 6 months of hire. Details for the execution of the training are specified in a separate
training plan: Baby Friendly Training Requirements (Attachment B).

Upon completion of training for new employees, the staff preceptor will supervise and
verify the clinical competency of the new staff member. This will be documented in the
orientation checklist and maintained in the employee file. Staff will receive adequate
training and mentorship to attain competence in:

i Counseling the feeding decision

ii. Skin to skin (STS) in the immediate postpartum period

iii. Comfortable and effective positioning and attachment at the breast

iv. Assessing and documenting a latch score

V. Maintenance of exclusive breastfeeding

vi. Feeding cues

vii. Rooming-in

viii.  Hand expression

ix. Formula preparation and feeding when necessary

X. Finding support upon discharge

Documentation of all training will be maintained by the Lactation Supervisor and/or
appropriate CNS on the BFH! Staff Training Documentation Checklist.

Providers with privileges for labor, delivery, maternity, anesthesia, and/or newborn care
will have a minimum of 3 hours of breastfeeding management education pertinent to their
role. Education will be verified by successful completion of the First Latch module and a
certificate of completion will be verified and maintained by a provider coordinator.

The content and number of hours of training for other staff will be developed based on job
description and workplace exposure o breastfeeding couplets.

3. Inform all pregnant women about the benefits and management of breastfeeding.

a.

Physicians, midwives, and nurses providing prenatal services are responsible for
educating pregnant women and their support people about breastfeeding. Education will
cover the importance of exclusive breastfeeding, non-pharmacologic pain relief methods
for labor, the importance of early STS contact, early initiation of breastfeeding, rooming-in,
feeding on demand, frequent feeding to help assure optimal milk production, effective
positioning and attachment, exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months, and that
breastfeeding continues to be important after 6 months even after other foods are
introduced. Contraindications to breastfeeding and other special medical conditions will be
discussed as indicated. Education will be documented in the prenatal record.

Exclusive breastfeeding is defined as providing breastmilk as the sole source of nutrition
to infants. Exclusively breastfed infants receive no other liquids or solids unless medically
indicated. Mothers will be encouraged to exclusively breastfeed unless medically
contraindicated. The planned feeding method will be documented in the prenatal record. 14



Women's and Children’s Services
Infant Feedings
Page 30f 13

C. Tri-City Medical Center does not distribute educational materials in which the use of
formula or infant feeding bottles is discussed routinely.

d. Tri-City Medical Center offers no group education on the use of infant formula or feeding
bottles.

e. Breastfeeding classes are offered by Tri-City Medical Center. Pregnant women who
receive services at Tri-City Medical Center will receive written information regarding the
benefits of breastfeeding as well as an explanation of practices implemented in the
Women and Newborn Services department that support successful breastfeeding.

f. Tri-City Medical Center fosters the development of community-based programs that make
available individual counseling or group education on breastfeeding and collaborates with
community-based programs to coordinate breastfeeding messages.

g. Tri-City Medical Center provides organizations that offer prenatal services curriculum that
includes essential information to be taught to the pregnant woman regarding
breastfeeding.

h. Members of the staff at Tri-City Medical Center participate in the local breastfeeding
coalition.

4, Help mothers initiate breastfeeding within one hour of birth.

a. Immediately after delivery, all term infants, regardless of feeding preference, wili be
placed STS with the mother as long as the infant and mother are stable and it is not
medically contraindicated.

b. STS contact including any reasons for delaying STS will be documented in the infant’s
medical record.

C. Preterm or unstable infants or infants having required resuscitation will be placed STS as
soon as possible afier medical stability has been established.

d. The nursing staff present at the delivery has the responsibility to create the optimal
environment for transition of the infant and initiation of the first breastfeeding. This
encompasses placing the infant STS with mother immediately after birth (including
cesarean deliveries if possible), assisting the mother in recognizing infant signs of feeding
readiness, and allowing the infant the opportunity to self-attach to the breast. Vaginal
delivery mother/infant couplets will be given the opportunity to initiate breastfeeding within
1 hour of birth. Cesarean delivery mother/infant couplets will be given the opportunity to
initiate breastfeeding as soon as possible.

e. Time of initiation of STS contact as well as the time this contact ends will be documented
in the medical record.

f. During the initial period of STS contact, routine newborn procedures will be postponed (up
to 2 hours) until the first breastfeeding has been completed. Assessments and procedures
(including the administration of vitamin K and erythromycin eye ointment) should be
performed while the infant is still STS with the mother.

a. After 24 hours of life, the stable infant may receive a bath upon parent’s request.

i Earlier bathing may be considered in the instances of specific parental request,
meconium stained infant, or malodorous amniotic fluid.

ii. The infant whose mother is infected with a blood borne pathogen or current STD
should receive a bath as soon as possible after the delivery.

ii. Education is provided to parents about delayed bathing to include the importance
of initial bonding, STS, and establishment of breastfeeding.

h. STS contact will be encouraged throughout the hospital stay.

5. Show mothers how to breastfeed and how to maintain lactation even if separated from
their infants.

a. The nurse will assess the mother’s breastfeeding techniques and, if needed, will
demonstrate appropriate breastfeeding positioning and attachment, optimally within 3
hours, and no later than 6 hours after birth.

b. Breastfeeding assessment, teaching, and documentation will be done on each shift and
whenever possible during each staff contact with the mother. After each feeding, staff will
document information about the feeding in the infant's medical record. This documentation
may include the latch, position, and any problems encountered. For feedings not directly
observed, maternal report may be used. Every shift, a direct observation of the infant's 14



Women's and Children's Services

Infant Feedings
Page 4 of 13

position and latch during feeding will be performed and documented. If the LATCH score
is < 7, the nurse will document any interventions and the infant’s response to those
interventions. The LATCH score will be repeated with the next feed.

Mothers will be encouraged to utilize available breastfeeding resources including classes,
written materials, and the newborn channel as appropriate. If clinically indicated, the
provider or nurse will make a referral to a lactation consultant. The mother will be given a
breastfeeding log book and shown how to monitor feedings and diapers, as well as
information about breastfeeding support groups.

Parents will be taught that breastfeeding infants, including cesarean-birth infants, should
be put to breast at least 8 to 12 times in 24 hours. Infant feeding cues (such as increased
alertness, activity, mouthing, or rooting) will be used as indicators of the infant’s readiness
for feeding. Breastfeeding mothers will be instructed about breastfeeding and the following
principles and skills reviewed before discharge:

i Importance of exclusive breastfeeding

il How to maintain lactation for exclusive breastfeeding for up to 6 months

iii. Proper positioning and latch

iv. Nutritive sucking and swallowing

v. Milk production and release

vi. Frequency of feeding/feeding cues

vii. How to manually express, pump, handle, and store breastmilk

viii.  How to assess if the infant is adequately nourished

ix. Reasons to contact the provider

X. How to sustain lactation if separated from the infant or if not exclusively

breastfeeding after discharge

Time limits for breastfeeding on each side will be avoided. Infants may be offered both

breasts at each feeding but may be interested in feeding on only one side early on.

When a mother must be separated from her infant, the staff will instruct the mother to

begin expressing her breastmilk within 3 hours of the separation. The mother will be

taught how frequently to express her milk as well as proper storage and handling. The

EBM (expressed breastmilk) will be given to the infant as soon as the infant is medically

stable. The mother's EBM will be used before any supplementation with breastmilk

substitutes unless otherwise contraindicated.

A mother discharged home without her infant due to illness or prematurity will be seen by

a lactation consuitant before discharge and will be given a discharge pumping plan and

appropriate education:

i. Instruction on hand expression and the electric breast pump:

1) Expression/pumping at least 8 times per day, approximately every 3 hours
for 15 minutes or until milk flow stops.

2) The importance of continuing to pump throughout the night.

3) For mothers who will be separated from their infants for an extended period
of time, instruct to pump 6 times a day once milk supply is established.

ii. Encouraged to breastfeed on demand as soon as the infant's condition permits.

iii. Encouraged to practice daily STS when the infant is medically stable.

iv. Instruction on proper storage and labeling of breastmilk.

V. Assistance in obtaining a double set up electric breast pump prior to going home.

The mother who chooses to feed her infant a breastmilk substitute will be given written

and verbal information regarding appropriate hygiene, preparation, storage, handling, and

feeding of the substitute. This education will be documented in the medical record.

i Ready to feed formula or liquid concentrate is recommended for the first 2 months
of life.

. Families with WIC or those who will be using powdered formula will be given
information regarding safe preparation. {see WHO Guidelines: How to Prepare
Formula for Bottle-Feeding at Home):

1) Powdered formula is not sterile.
2) Mix powder with hot water (158 degrees F/70 degrees C).
3) Allow formula to cool prior to feeding to the infant. 144



Women's and Children's Services

Infant Feedings
Page 5 of 13
6. Give infants no food or drink other than breastmilk, unless medically indicated.

a. For healthy term infants, no supplemental water or glucose water will be given.

b. For healthy term infants, no breastmilk substitute will be given unless by a provider’s order
or standardized procedure. Note: Breastmilk substitutes should not be used as a
prophylactic measure for anticipated weight loss, jaundice, efc.

c. Infants who are receiving supplemental nutrition will be offered alternative feeding
methods to avoid the use of bottles and nipples if acceptable to the mother and
achievable according to staff. These methods include:

i Supplemental Nursing System (SNS)

i Finger Feeding

iii. Cup feeding

d. EBM, if available, will be given prior to supplementation with a breastmilk substitute. If EBM is
not immediately available, it will be given as soon as it is available.

e. Each day the provider will be consulted regarding the volume and type of supplement.

f. If formula supplementation is medically indicated, an order is needed and the nurse must
document initial reason(s) and ongoing indications.

g. If a mother requests her infant be supplemented with a breastmilk substitute, staff will explore
and address the mother's concerns. The mother will be given the Risks of Formula
Supplementation handout for review. if the mother’s request for formula persists, the provider
will be called for an order for formula. The education to the risks of formula and informed
decision of the patient will be documented. The mother will be given supplies and education
(refer to Mosby's Skills - Formula Feeding Education Maternal Newborn).

h. Assessment for clinical signs of hypoglycemia and dehydration will be ongoing. Routine
glucose monitoring of full term (AGA, non IDM) infants is not indicated.

i. Before 24 hours of life, if the infant has not latched on or fed effectively, the mother will be
instructed to begin breast massage and hand expression of colostrum into a spoon or the
infant's mouth during feeding attempts. STS contact will be encouraged. Parents will be
instructed to watch closely for feeding cues, and when observed, to feed the infant. If the
infant continues to feed poorly, hand expression and/or an electric breast pump (and pumping
with breast massage) will be introduced and maintained approximately every 3 hours, or a
minimum of 8 times per day. Any expressed colostrum or mother's milk will be fed to the
infant by SNS, finger feeding, or cup feeding. The mother will be educated that it is normal not
to obtain much milk or even any milk the first few times she pumps her breasts. The lactation
consuitant or specialist should also be consulted for these cases.

j. Breastfeeding is contraindicated for:

i. Mothers who are HIV-positive.

i, Mothers who abuse illicit drugs or alcohol.

iii. Mothers who are taking certain high risk medications. (Most prescribed and over-
the-counter medications are safe for the breastfeeding infant, however some may
be contraindicated while breastfeeding.)

iv. Mothers who have active, untreated tuberculosis (infant may safely receive EBM).

V. Infants who have galactosemia, maple syrup disease, or phenylketonuria.

Vi. Mothers with active herpetic lesions on the breast(s). (The Infectious Disease
Department should be consulted for any problematic infectious disease issues
regarding safety of STS, direct breastfeeding, and/for EBM.}

vil. Mothers with varicella that is determined to be infectious to the infant.

vili.  Mothers with HTLV1 {(human T-cell leukemia virus type 1)

7. Practice rooming-in — allow mothers and infants to remain together 24 hours a day.

a. Mother/infant couplets (regardless of maternal feeding preference) will begin rooming-in
immediately after delivery and will not be separated during hospitalization as long as both
are medically stable and mother/family are able to care for infant.

b. Routine newborn procedures will be done at the mother’s bedside.

c. Infants can only be admitted to couplet care or the NICU.

d. If an infant needs to be separated from its mother, documentation of the location, reason,

and the expected time period will be recorded.
14!



Women's and Children's Services

infant Feedings
Page 6 of 13

10.

The infant will be reunited with the mother as soon as possible. If an infant and mother are
separated, the staff will support exclusivity of breastfeeding.

If a mother requests that her infant be faken out of the room, staff will explore the mother’s
reason for the request, will educate her on the benefits of continuing to room in, and will
document as appropriate.

Encourage breastfeeding on demand.

a.

b.

c.
d.

All mothers will be taught to feed their infant when the infant exhibits signs of feeding
readiness. Mothers will be taught to recognize these feeding cues in the infant.

Mothers will be informed of normal newborn feeding behaviors such as cluster feeding,
feeding through the night, and a normal feeding schedule of at least 8-12 feedings in a 24
hour period.

No limitations will be taught to mothers regarding length or number of feedings.

Parents will be taught that both physical contact and nourishment are important parts of
the feeding process.

Give no pacifiers or artificial nipples to breastfeeding infants.

a.
b.

c.

Pacifiers will not be given to healthy, full-term breastfeeding infants.

Preterm infants in the NICU or infants with specific medical conditions may be given
pacifiers for non-nutritive sucking.

Infants undergoing painful procedures may be given a pacifier as a method of pain
management during the procedure. The infant will not return to the mother with the
pacifier.

Pain management interventions during uncomfortable or distressing procedures will be
used whenever possible. This may include breastfeeding during a heel stick procedure for
infant blood tests.

If a parent requests a pacifier, artificial nipples, or feeding bottles they will be educated
regarding possible negative consequences as it relates to breastfeeding and this
education will be documented.

Any supplementation should be given by SNS, finger feeding, or cup feeding before
introduction of an artificial nipple or bottle.

A nipple shield may be given by the RN or lactation consultant to manage latch problems,
or sore or cracked nipples. The RN or lactation consultant will document why the nipple
shield was given and the infant's response to the intervention. Mothers using nipple
shields will be followed by a lactation consultant.

Foster the establishment of breastfeeding support groups and refer mothers to them on
discharge from the hospital or birth center.

a.
b.

Infants that are not feeding well should not be discharged home.

Before leaving the hospital breastfeeding mothers should be able to:

i. Position and latch the infant correcily at the breast with no/minimal discomfort
during feeding.

i. Recognize when the infant is swallowing milk.

iii. State that the infant should be breastfed approximately 8 to 12 times in 24 hours.

iv. State an age-appropriate elimination patiern — at least 6 voids and 3 to 4 stools per
day by the fourth day of life.

V. List indications for calling the provider.

vi. Manually express milk from her breasts.

Prior to going home, mothers will be given the names and telephone numbers of
community resources to contact for help with breastfeeding including the Tri-City Medical
Center breastfeeding clinic and support group.

All infants should be seen for follow-up within the first few days after discharge. This visit
should be with a pediatrician or other qualified health care practitioner for a formal
evaluation of breastfeeding performance, a weight check, assessment of jaundice, and
age-appropriate elimination.

15



Women's and Children's Services

Infant Feedings
Page 7 of 13
D. BREASTFED NEWBORN INPUT AND OUPUT NORMS
Age in hours M'ka‘;z'duir:: per # feeds # voids # stools
0-24 0-5 mLs / drops 6-8 21 21
24-48 5-10 mLs / 1 tsp 28 22 22
48-72 10-20 mLs / 1 tbsp 28 23 23
72-96 20-30 mLs /1 0z 28 24 24
> 96 >30mLs/>10z 2 8 2 5-12 z 5-12
1. Infant has 24 hours to void and 48 hours to stool after birth.
2. There may be a lull in stooling after meconium is cleared while baby waits for milk to come in.
3 Infants may feed VERY frequently before the milk comes in; even hourly for the first few nights.

E. MEDICAL INDICATIONS FOR SUPPLEMENTATION
1. When making the decision to start suppiementation, it is necessary to look at all the factors
involved. Weight loss alone does not imply the need for supplementation. Breastfeeding
assessment, assistance, and education should be done prior to starting supplementation.
2. Possible medical indications for supplementation include:
a. Infant risk factors:
i Asymptomatic Hypoglycemia unresponsive to appropriate, frequent breastfeeding
ii. Inadequate intake as evidenced by:

1) Clinical or laboratory evidence of clinical dehydration (high sodium, poor
feeding, lethargy) that is not improved after skilled assessment and proper
management of breastfeeding.

2) Excessive weight loss {2 10%):

a) Note that excessive newborn weight loss is correlated with positive
maternal intravenous fluid balance and may not be directly
indicative of breastfeeding success or failure.

b) Number of voids and stools should be taken into consideration.

3) Delayed bowel movements: < 4 stools on DOL 4, or continued meconium
stools on DOL 5.

ifi. Hyperbilirubinemia
1) With ongoing weight loss, limited stooling, and voiding with uric acid

crystals.
iv. Inborn errors of metabolism
b. Maternal risk factors:

i. Delayed secretory activation.
ii. Primary glandular insufficiency as evidenced by:

1) Abnormal breast shape

2) Poor breast growth during pregnancy

3) Prior breast surgery resulting in poor milk production
iii. Intolerable pain during feedings unrelieved by interventions.

F. SUPPLEMENTAL NURSING SYSTEMS (SNS) AND NIPPLE SHIELDS
1. Supplemental Nursing System (SNS):

a. Assemble the SNS tubing with a syringe or container; considered a single-use piece of
equipment.
b. Gently tape the tubing to the mother’s breast with the end of the tubing extending about ¥4
inch beyond the end of her nipple.
c. Assist the mother in latching the infant to the breast and tubing as needed.
i Sucking from the infant creates a siphon effect and allows supplementation from
the reservoir of the syringe or SNS container kit.
d. Supplementation should be monitored accordingly.
i. Amounts of EBM or breastmilk substitute should be measured to meet the infant's
needs.

15



Women's and Children's Services
Infant Feedings
Page 8 of 13

ii. 10-15 ml of EBM or breastmilk substitute is considered adequate intake for the
newborn infant. It is important not to overfeed. Cue-based infant feeding should be
utilized.

2. Nipple shield:
a. Application of the nipple shield:

i. Assess both mother and infant to choose the correct size nipple shield. Slzmg a
nipple shield is dependent on both the size of the infant's mouth and the size of the
mother’s nipple.

ii. The nipple shield may be placed under very warm water to increase pliability and
enhance adherence to the breast. Colostrum or lanolin cream may also be used to
help with adherence.

ii. Handle the shield by the rim. Place the shield over the breast with the nipple
centered inside the nipple portion of the shield. Support the breast with a “C” hold.
Place the thumb on both the top of the breast and the top part of the shield and
place the fingers below, underneath the areola.

b. Latching the infant to the breast with a nipple shield:

i. Guide the mother to stroke the infant’s lower lip with the shield. When the infant's
mouth opens wide, bring the infant directly onto the shield allowing the infant to
take as much of the areola as possible into the mouth.

ii. Allow the infant to breastfeed on one breast as long s/he likes. Repeat on the other
breast if infant shows a desire to continue breastfeeding.

C. Cleaning and care of the nipple shield:

i. Instruct the mother to wash her hands and the nipple shield in warm, soapy water,
rinsing well before each use.

ii. Store the shield with the nipple facing upward, and keep in a clean and dry
covered container.

d. Reportable conditions and referral to a lactation consultant:

i. Continued inability to sustain latch.

ii. Absence of audible swallow after several minutes of sucking.

iii. infant weight loss greater than 7% below birth weight.

iv. Signs of dehydration or anemia.
3. Follow-up:
a. If a mother is still using a breastfeeding aid (SNS or nipple shield) at the time of discharge,

she will be referred to lactation services to schedule a follow-up outpatient lactation clinic
appointment within a few days of discharge.

b. It is not uncommon for a mother to use a breastfeeding aid for up to 6 months for the
following conditions:
I Nipple abnormalities (e.g., flat, inverted, fibrous).
i. Premature infant.

G. SUPPLEMENTATION FREQUENCY AND QUANTITY

Frequency Quantity
Term Infant (2 > DOL 1: 8 attempts {usually 4-5 » DOL 1: 5-10 ml per feeding
37.0 weeks) successful feedings) > DOL 2: 10-20 ml per feeding
> DOL 2: 8-12 times » DOL 3: 20-30 m! per feeding
» DOL 3 & 4: 8-12 times > DOL 4: 30-40 ml per feeding
> DOL 5: 40-50 ml per feeding
> DOL 6: 50-60 ml per feeding
» DOL 7 — 1% month: 60-90 m!

per feeding

*Volumes may vary depending on
infant’s weight

Late Preterm > At least every 3 hours, more > DOL 1: 5-10 m! per feeding
Infant (= 35.0 - often based on infant feeding » DOL 2: 10-20 ml per feeding
36.6) cues. > DOL 3: 20-30 ml per feeding _ 15




Women's and Children’s Services
Infant Feedings
Page 9 of 13

» Limit total feeding time to 30
minutes in order to minimize
fatigue and conserve energy.

DOL 4: 30-40 ml per feeding
DOL 5: 40-50 ml per feeding
DOL 6: 50-60 ml per feeding
DOL 7 — 1¥ month: 60-90 mI
*Late preterm have immature per feeding

feeding capabilities, increased
calorie needs, low metabolic stores, | *May do better with smaller
and are high risk for volumes
hyperbilirubinemia.

YVVY

H. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

1. Drugs to specifically suppress lactation will not be given to any postpartum mother.

2, It is recommended that mothers wait 6 weeks postpartum to receive Depo-Provera, unless the
OB team feels it is indicated earlier.

3. Prior to administration of any drugs that may inhibit milk production, mothers wili be counseled as
to the risks.

4, Routine use of nipple creams, ointments, or other topical preparations will be avoided unless

such therapy has been indicated for a dermatological problem. Mothers with sore nipples will be
observed for latch technique and will be instructed to apply expressed colostrum or breast milk to
the areola after each feeding. Lanolin cream may be used if medically indicated.

I COMPLIANCE WITH THE INTERNATIONAL CODE OF MARKETING OF BREASTMILK

SUBSTITUTES

1. Employees of manufactures or distributers of breastmilk substitutes, bottles, nipples, or pacifiers
have no direct communication with pregnant women or delivered mothers.

2. Tri-City Medical Center does not receive free gifts, non-scientific literature, material, equipment,

money, or support for breastfeeding education or events from manufactures of breastmilk
substitutes, boftles, nipples, or pacifiers.

3. No pregnant women, delivered mothers, or families are given marketing materials, samples, or
gift packs by the facility that contain breastmilk substitutes, bottles, nipples, pacifiers, or any other
infant feeding equipment or coupons for the above items.

4, All educational materials distributed to breastfeeding mothers are free from messages that
promote or advertise infant food or drink other than breastmilk.

J. FORM(S):

1. Risks of Formula Supplementation
2. Lactation Education Handout
3. Delayed Newborn Bathing

K. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
1 Women and Newborn Services: Standards of Care ~ Newborns

2. Formula Feeding Education Maternal Newborn (Mosby’s Skills)
L. EXTERNAL LINK(S):
1. www.newbornchannel.com
M. REFERENCE(S):
1. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: HHS Blueprint for Action on Breastfeeding. 1-
31. Washington, DC, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office on Women's
Health, 2000.
2. The American Academy of Pediatrics, Work Group on Breastfeeding: Breastfeeding and the use
of human milk. Pediatrics: March 2012, volume 129/issue 3.
3. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and Committees on Health Care for

Underserved Women and Obstetric Practice, Queenan, JT (ed): Breasifeeding: Maternal and
Infant Aspects. Washington, DC, The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists.
Number 361, February 2007. 15:



Women's and Children's Services

Infant Feedings
Page 10 of 13

4.

10.

1.
12
13.

14.

15.

16.
17.
18.

19.

20.
21.
22.
23.
24,

25.
26.

27.
28.

29,

The American Academy of Family Physicians. Family Physicians Supporting Breastfeeding:
Breastfeeding Position Paper 2008. http://www.aafp.org/about/policies/all/breastfeeding-
support.html

World Health Organization, United Nations Children’s Fund: Protecting, promoting and supporting
breastfeeding: The special role of maternity services (A joint WHO/UNICEF statement). Int J
Gynecol Obstet31:171-183, 1990.

Position of the American Dietetic Association: Supporting and Promoting Breastfeeding. J Am
Diet Assoc105, 5:810-818, 2005.

Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine Board of Directors. ABM Mission Statement.
www.bfmed.org.2003.

WHO/UNICEF Joint Statement. Meeting on Infant and Young Child Feeding. J Nurse-
Midwifery25:31-38, 1980.

World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund: Innocenti Declaration on the
Protection, Promotion and Support of Breastfeeding. New York UNICEF, 1990.

Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Cordes R, Howard CR: Clinical
Protoco! #3: Hospital Guidelines for the Use of Supplementary Feedings in the Healthy Term
Breastfed Newborn. www.bfmed.org. Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, 2002.

Howard CR, Howard FM, Lanphear B, et al: Randomized clinical trial of pacifier use and bottle-
feeding or cupfeeding and their effect on breastfeeding. Pediatrics 111:511-518, 2003.

Howard CR, de Blieck EA, ten Hoopen CB, et al: Physiologic stability of newborns during cup and
bottle feeding. Pediatrics104:1-7, 1899.

Marinelli KA, Burke GS, Dodd VL. A comparison of the safety of cup feedings and bottle feedings
in premature infants whose mothers intend to breastfeed. J Perinatol 21:350-355, 2001.

Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Eidelman Al, Howard CR, Schanler RJ,
Wight NE: Clinica! Protocol Number 1: Guidelines for Glucose Monitoring and Treatment of
Hypoglycemia in Breastfed Neonates. ABM News and Views 5:insert, 1999.

Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Gartner L, Howard C R: Clinical
Protocol #2: Guidelines for Hospital Discharge of the Breastfeeding Term Infant and Mother, “The
Going Home Protocol.” www.bfmed.org. Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, 2002.

Hale TW: Medications and Mother’'s Milk, 16th ed. Amarillo, TX, Pharmasoft Medical Publishing,
2011.

Lawrence RA, Lawrence RM: Breastfeeding: A guide for the medical profession, 5th ed. St. Louis,
Mosby, 1999.

Committee on Drugs, The American Academy of Pediatrics: The transfer of drugs and other
chemicals into human milk. Pediatrics108:776—789, 2001.

Protocol Committee Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, Chantry C, Howard CR, McCoy RC:
Clinical Protoco! #5: Peripartum Breastfeeding Management for the Healthy Mother and Infant at
Term. www.bfmed.org. Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine, 2002,

Riordan JM, Auerbach KG: Breastfeeding and Human Lactation. Boston, Jones and Bartlett
Publishers, 1993.

American Academy of Pediatrics. Redbook: 2015 Report of the Committee on Infectious
Diseases, 30th ed. Elk Grove, Ill, American Academy of Pediatrics, 2015.

Merewood A, Philipp BL: Breastfeeding: Conditions and Diseases. Amarillo, TX, Pharmasoft
Publishers, 2001.

Breastfeeding Medicine Vo! 2,Number 1 2010, ABM Clinical Protocol #7: Model Breastfeeding
Policy

WHO Guidelines: Safe Preparation, Storage, and Handling of Powdered Infant Formula:
http://iwww.who.int/foodsafety/publications/micro/pif guidelines.pdf

AAP, Wight, N.E. (2008). Best Medicine: “Human Milk in the NICU": Hale Publishing, L.P.
Hoag-Nann, M. (2009). Lactation Management: “Techniques, Tips, and Tools for the Health Care
Provider™:Serif- Buffalo, NY.

La Leche League International. (2006) “The Breastfeeding Answer Book: Latch on problems”.
Manufacturer's Guidelines (2009): Medela Inc. “Nipple Shield Usage, Cleaning and Care”
pamphlet.

WCS/NICU Policy # 6385-200: “LACTATION SERVICES™.

15.



Women's and Children's Services
Infant Feedings
Page 11 0f 13

Objectives

Content

Method of Education

Discuss the rationale for
professional, government, and
international policies that
promole, protect, and support
breastfeeding in the United
States.

The BFHI; A Part of the Global Strategy
The Global Strategy for Infant and Young Child Feeding
and how it fits with other activities

» How the BFHI can assist health care facilities to
implement evidence-based practice, improve quality of
care, and deliver continuity of care

¥ First Latch Module

Demonstrate the ability to
communicate effectively about
breastfeeding.

Communication Skills

» Listening and learning

»  Skills to build confidence and give support

¥»  Arranging follow-up and suppori suitable to the mother's
situation

v First Latch Module
¥ 1:1 time with lactalion
consultant

Describe the anatomy and
physiology of lactation and the
process of breastfeeding.

How Milk Gets framn the Breast to the Infant
» The parts of the breast involved in lactation
» Breastmilk production

» The infant's role in milk transfer

» Breast care

¥ First Latch Module

Identify teaching points
appropriate for prenatal classes
and interactions with pregnant

Promoting Breastfeeding During Pregnancy
Discussing breastfeeding with pregnant women
»  Why breastfeeding is important

» Antenatal breast and nipple preparation

»

v

v First Latch Module
v 1:1 time with lactation

breastfeeding.

Positioning for comfortable breastfeeding

women consultant
' Identifying women who need exira attention
Birth Practices and Breastfeeding
. e - » Labor and birth practices to support early breastleeding ¥ First Latch Module
g;sdcu?scg‘;i?ggl{ﬁg:rgﬂg %orlt!cles » The importance of early STS contact v Review policies and
" IEs'iJve breastieedin PR »  Helping with Initiation of breastfeeding procedures
exc 9. » Ways to support breastfeeding after cesarean ¥ 1:1 {ime with lactation
» BFHI practices for women who are not breasifeeding consultant
Helping the Mother Breastfeed
¥ How to assess breastfeeding
Demonstrate the ability to »  When to assist with breastfeeding v E
identify the halimarks of »  Identify optimal positioning and latch v fff:;ﬂﬂg;ﬁ:ﬁ stion
milk transfer and optimal » Help mothers learn to position and fatch her infant cbnsullant
>
»

ldentifying the infant who has difficulty attaching to the
breast

Practices that Promote Breastfeeding

Discuss hospital postpartum e Ll v First Latch Module
v . o
m;g:gﬁzﬁgg?gﬁcieg: :iclusive ; g:fognizing feeding cues, feeding on demand E;\g:\évueggcles and
E asteedin PP ¥ Management of sleepy or fussy infants v 1:1 time with lactation
re 9. »  Avoiding unnecessary supplementation consultant
»  Avoiding artificial nipples and pacifiers
Milk supply

Discuss methods that may
increase milk productionin a

» Addressing mather's concerns about “nol enough milk”
» Normal growth patterns of infanls

v First Latch Module
¥ 1:1 time with a lactation

variety of circumstances. »  Improving milk intake and milk production el
. . . Supporting the non-breastfeeding mother and infant v First Latch Module
!delrcltéfg ‘t::::lggu%::{i':‘s tgr » Counseling the formula choice: a pediatric responsibilily ¥ Review policies and
inc h 9 ¥ Teaching/assuring safe formula preparation in the procedures
counseling parents who are . e : .
using bottles and/or formula postpartum period ¥ 1:1 time with lactation
sing ’ » Safe botlle feeding; issues with overfeeding and consultant

underfeeding

(%))



Women's and Children’s Services
Infant Feedings
Page 12 of 13

Discuss contraindications io

Infants and Mothers with Special Needs
¥ Breasffeeding infants who are preterm, low birth weight,
and/for ill

AN : » Breastfeeding more than one infant v Fi
g:eastfeedlng WO > Prevention and management of common clinical concerns F!rst.La*ch_ Module :
ates as well as commonly 3 . g ¥ 1.1 time with a lactation
10 | crcountered areas of concern >  Medical reasons for breast milk substitutes consultant
for breastfeeding mothers and i g:’;;ggg:h?n?gz : L?r{ﬁfgﬁg:mg women ¥"  Review policies and
L UL LS » Breastfeeding management when the mother is ill procedures
» Medications and breastfeeding
» Contraindications to breastfeeding
Breast and Nipple Concerns
Describe interventions for breast | » Examination of the mother’s breasts and nipples s Ei
1" and nipple problems. » Engorgement, blocked ducts, and mastitis First Laich madule
»  Sore nipples
il :gir::%o?‘?g:l:zle :.gfncgﬁ?aiti o If the Infant Cannot Feed at the Breast v First Latch Module
12 | of breast fed i nfalgtps according to » Learning lo hand express ¥ Review policies and
- . : »  Use of donor milk procedures
gz:::’:;;::d international ¥» Feeding EBM to the infant v 11 time with lactation
’ consultant
v First Latch Module
. Ongoing Support for Mothers ¥ Learn about breastfeeding
Efe::"b: ﬂefs;e;iigr:sn:gonenls > Preparing a mother for discharge support group during
13 c.onti?ls o breastfeeding bevond » Follow-up and support after discharge orientation
the early weeks 9 bey » Protecling breastfeeding for employed women ¥ San Diego Counly
Y ’ ¥» Sustained breastfeeding beyond one year Breastfeeding Coalition
resource guide
Protecting Breastfeeding
»  The effects of markeling on infant feeding practices
» The International Code of Marketing of Breastmilk
Describe strategies that protect Substitutes ¥ First Latch Module
14 | breastfeeding as a public health | » How health care workers can protect families from ¥ Review policies and
goal. marketing procedures
» How to respond to marketing practices
»  Donor milk in emergency situations
» The role of breastfeeding in emergencies
. . Making Your Hospital or Birth Center Baby Friendly
Li?:t‘;g'lg?;hirt:el:;?rﬁﬁ atr;‘c;the » The Ten Steps to Successful Breastfeeding
15 p 9 » What "Baby Friendly” practices are v First Latch Module

Ten Steps to Successful
Breastfeeding.

» The process of becoming a “Baby Friendly” hospital or
birth center

15



Women's and Children’s Services
Infant Feedings
Page 13 of 13

Baby Friendly Training Requirements

Position

Training Required

Registered Nurses

First Latch Module — BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Lactation Consultants

First Latch Module — BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Dieticians

First Latch Module — BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Occupational Therapists

First Latch Module — BFHI General Healthcare: 15 hours

Pediatricians First Latch Module — BFHI Pravider Training: 3 hours
Neonatologists First Latch Module — BFH! Provider Training: 3 hours
Obstetricians First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
Anesthesiologists First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
Midwives First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
PAs First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
NNPs First Latch Module — BFHI Provider Training: 3 hours
OB Techs First Latch Module — BFHI Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Advanced Care Technicians (ACT)

First Latch Module — BFHI Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Hearing Screeners

First Latch Module — BFHI Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Social Workers

First Latch Module — BFHI Ancillary Training: 3 hours

Environmental Services (EVS)

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Unit Secretaries

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Peri Operative Aides

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Birth Clerks

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Respiratory Therapists

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Case Managers

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

Newborn Photographers

Review and sign Ten Steps for Successful Breastfeeding

15



o @')Trloty Medical Center -

Albuterol/lpratropium {Combivent Respimat): Recommendation for
formulary restriction

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Albutero! ipratropium (Combivent) is a combination long acting
antimuscarinic/beta agonist used for the chronic management of asthma and COPD

Background: Combivent is offered as a “respimat” inhaler device which administers a
fine mist that is inhaled twice daily. The medication may not be shared between patients
nor can it be sent home with the patient upon discharge.

Assessment:
o Each Combivent device costs $291

¢ A therapeutically equivalent medication, albuterol/ipratropium nebulized solution
costs $0.29 per dose

+ The Pharmacy Service has recommended a revision to the Automatic
Therapeutic interchange policy to permit the conversion of Combivent to an
equipotent dose of albuterol/fipratropium nebulized solution

¢ A conversion from Combivent fo albuterol/ipratropium nebulized solution would
save TCMC approximately $12,000 annually

Recommendation(s):

¢ P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that all orders
for Combivent be restricted to Pulmonologists only.

o Per this agreement, Pharmacy will not routinely stock this inhaler with the
understanding that therapy would be delayed until the next day when the
inhaler could be ordered and delivered. Nebulized albuterol/ipratropium
solution would be administered in the interim

» All other orders for Comibvent will be converted to an equivalent dose of
albuterol/ipratropium nebulized sclution as per the Automatic Therapeutic
Interchange Policy

» Both recommendations above were reviewed and agreed upon by Dr. Yamanaka
(Pulmonary) and Amy Waldrop (Manager, Respiratory Therapy)

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
15



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

V¢ Tri-City Medical Center ey

Bupropion SR {Wellbutrin SR): Recommendation for formulary
removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Bupropion is an antidepressant indicated for the treatment of major
depressive disorder and smoking cessation assistance

Background: Bupropion is available as an immediate release tablet, a sustained-
release tablet, and as an extended-release tablet.

Assessment:
» Having two long-acting formulations (XL and SR} is not cost-effective and has
resulted in medication errors at TCMC

» Bupropion SR is less expensive than bupropion XL

e There is no therapeutic advantage in using one long-acting agent over the other.
In the outpatient setting, using the once-daily XL formulation may assist with
compliance

¢ The Pharmacy Service has recommended an update to the Automatic
Therapeutic Interchange policy which includes an automatic conversion from
bupropion XL to an equivalent daily dosage of bupropion SR

Recommendation(s):

¢ The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that all
strengths of bupropion XL be removed from the TCMC formulary at this time
given automatic conversion process to a therapeutic equivalent

« All future orders for bupropion XL will be converted {o bupropion SR as per the
Automatic Therapeutic Interchange Policy

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
15¢



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

Tri-City Medmal Center = VOU

Combivir (lamivudine and zidovudine) tablet: Recommendation for
formulary removal

Requestor: Manuel Escobar, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Combivir (lamivudine and zidovudine) is a combination tablet that is no
longer commonly prescribed for the treatment of HIV-1 infection

Background: Combivir (lamivudine and zidovudine) is an oral HIV Nucleoside reverse
transcriptase inhibitor combination tablet used with other antiretroviral agents for the
treatment of HIV-1 infection. Other products in this class considered better tolerated are
available to replace Combivir (lamivudine and zidovudine).

Assessment: Combivir (lamivudine and zidovudine) is no longer commonly prescribed
for the treatment of HIV-1 infection given the availability of new options in this drug
class. TCMC formulary includes the individual components of this tablet if needed.

Recommendation(s):

+ P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy and |1D Service recommendation for
removal of Combivir (lamivudine and zidovudine) from the hospital formulary to
reduce drug costs and waste

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16l



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

V¢ TriCity Medical Center S5 VOU

Prezista (Darunavir): Recommendation for formulary addition

Requestor: Manuel Escobar, PharmD, Infectious Diseases Pharmacist
Declared conflicts of interest: None
Situation: Darunavir is an protease inhibitor

Background: Darunavir is FDA approved to be used in with other antiretroviral agents
for the treatment of HIV-1 infection in adults and pediatric patients 3 years of age or
oider

Dosing Recommendations: Treatment-naive and treatment-experienced adult patients
with no darunavir resistance associated substitution: 800 mg taken with ritonavir 160 mg
once daily

Treatment-experienced adult patients with at least one darunavir resistance associated
substitution: 600 mg taken with ritonavir 100 mg twice daily

Assessment:

« Darunavir is a commonly prescribed anti-retroviral in the outpatient setting. In
order to provide continuity of care, the drug has been purchased for use
frequently on a non-formulary basis

« Efficacy has been demonstrated in treatment-naive and treatment experienced
patients receiving darunavir plus ritonavir in combination with
tenofovir/emtricitabine.

« FDA Black Box warnings: None

« Costimpact: 600 mg & 800 mg tablets (31,377 per #30 count bottle)

Recommendation(s):

« The Pharmacy Service in cooperation with the 1D Service recommended addition
of darunavir to the formulary with the following criteria for use:
o Restricted to patients already taking darunavir for continuity of outpatient
care during admission

o Restricted to ID physicians for new starts

e The P&T Committee approved the above recommendations and criteria for use.
Per discussion by Committee members, including Dr. Smith (Infectious
Diseases), darunavir would not be routinely stocked but ordered when needed
for qualifying patients.

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

Y _qu-glty Medical Center R VOU

Droperidol Recommendation for formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Droperidol injection has been on continued shortage since 2015 and product
has never been available for purchase in that time. There are no plans from
manufacturers to resume production at this time

Background: Droperidol is an anesthetic adjunct and antiemetic.

Assessment:
* In 2015, Hospira cited lack of raw materials as the reason for the shortage

« Given the complete lack of product, even in small quantities it is unlikely that
droperidol will return to the market

¢ Due to its formulary status, droperidol is ordered with some regularity due to its
inclusion in Power Plans resulting in phone calls from Pharmacists to providers
requesting permission to discontinue the order. Nurses are also required io
conduct annual competency training on a droperidol standardized procedure for
which there is little benefit given the lack of drug availability.

Recommendation(s):

s The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that
droperidol be removed from the TCMC formulary due to current and anticipated
future unavailability. Formulary status may be reassessed at a future date if this
drug ever becomes avaitable on the market again

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

g TrlCltyMedlca|Center j R VOU

Exparel (liposomal bupivacaine): Expansion of approved indication
and ordering privileges

Requestor: Dr. Seif/Dr. Gandhi
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Exparel is liposomal formulation of bupivacaine which is an amide-type
anesthetic.

Background; Exparel is a long-acting formulation of bupivacaine. Exparel is not
recommended for epidural, intrathecal, intravascular, or intra-articular administration.
Use for regional nerve blocks is also not recommended.

Exparel was approved by the P&T Committee in 2017 for use by CT Surgery during
VATS procedures to eliminate the need for epidural placements. No other indications or
provider groups have been approved to order this drug to date.

The Anesthesia and Surgery Services requested that liposomal Exparel be approved for
the indication of TAP (transverse abdominis plane) blocks in the setting of minimally
invasive robotic colorectal procedures. The request is part of more comprehensive
approach to pain management and quicker post-operative recovery being put together
by a coliaborative group of physicians, nurses, and pharmacists (Peri-Surgical Home
Model).

Assessment:
 Exparel has established efficacy in a prospective randomized controlled trial and
a retrospective analysis when administered as a TAP block, reducing opioid use
and maintaining lower pain scores in the first 24-48 hours post-surgery

¢ Cost Impact
o Exparel 10 mL vial ($157), 20 mL vial ($315). Comparator arm is epidural
placement which is estimated at ~$400 per case

o Peri-Surgical Home Model pilot program estimates patients to be
discharged from the hospital 1-2 days earlier when compared against
current practice. A value estimated to $3,000 saved per admission-free
day

Recommendation(s):

» The P&T Committee approved the request to expand Exparel's approved
indications to include TAP biock placement during minimally-invasive cojorectal
surgery as part of the Peri-Surgical Home Model pilot program

 Per the requestors, ordering privileges for this indication are to be restricted to
Dr. Fierer, Dr. Gandhi, and Dr. Hannah

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16



ADVANCED HEALTH CAR

-\ TriCity Medical Center =Y OU

Fluticasone Inhaler (Flovent): Recommendation for formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Inhaled corticosteroids are used for the chronic management of asthma and
COPD

Background: Several inhaled corticosteroids are currently on the TCMC formulary
including beclomethasone (QVAR) and two strengths of fluticasone (Flovent).

Assessment:
¢ It is not cost effective to carry multiple inhaled corticosteroids on the formulary as
they are equally effective at equipotent doses

¢ Beclomethasone (QVAR) is currently the lowest cost option at $191 per inhaler

o Fluticasone 110 mcg is $217 per inhaler

» The Pharmacy Service has recommended a revision to the Automatic
Therapeutic Interchange policy to permit the conversion of alf ordered inhaled
corticosteroids to an equipotent dose of inhaled beclomethasone

Recommendation(s):

¢ The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that
fluticasone inhalers be removed from the TCMC formulary at this time and that
beclomethasone remain as the formulary preferred product

e All future inpatient orders for fluticasone inhalers will be converted {o an
equivalent dose of inhaled beclomethasone 40 mcg as per the Automatic
Therapeutic Interchange Policy

« All recommendations were reviewed and agreed upon by Dr. Yamanaka
(Pulmonary) and Amy Waldrop (Manager, Respiratory Therapy)

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

S TI‘ICIty MEdKaI _Center | FOR Y@U

Fluticasone/Salmeterol (Advair Diskus): Recommendation for
formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Fluticasone/salmeterol is a combination beta-agonist/inhaled corticosteroid
used for the chronic management of COPD and asthma.

Background: Fluticasone/salmeterol is supplied as a “diskus” device which dispenses
a dry powder that is inhaled twice daily. Devices may not be shared between patients
and may not be sent home with the patient upon discharge.

Assessment:
« Each fluticasone/salmetero! device costs approximately $130

e The Pharmacy Service has recommended an update to the Automatic
Therapeutic Interchange policy which includes an automatic conversion from
fluticasone/salmeterol to an equivalent daily dosage of budesonide/formoterot
(Symbicort)

+ The estimated cost savings associated with a conversion of all
fluticasone/salmeterol patients to budesonide/formoterol is approximately
$49,000 annually

Recommendation(s):

o The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that all
strengths of fluticasone/salmeterol (100 mecg/50 mcg, 250 meg/50 meg, 500
mcg/50 mcg) be removed from the TCMC formulary at this time

¢ All future orders for fluticasone/salmeterol will be converted to
budesonide/formoterol as per the Automatic Therapeutic Interchange Policy

» All recommendations were reviewed and agreed upon by Dr. Yamanaka
(Pulmonary) and Amy Waldrop (Manager, Respiratory Therapy)

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760} 724-8411

16



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

- V¢ TriCity Medical Center. N OU

Genvoya (emtricitabine, tenofovir, elvitegravir, cobicistat)
Recommendation for formulary addition

Requestor: Manuel Escobar, PharmD, Infectious Diseases Pharmacist
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Genvoya is a combination antiretroviral product consisting of 2 HIV
nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, a HIV integrase inhibitor, and a cytochrome
P450 inhibitor.

Background: Genvoya is a complete regimen for treatment of HIV-1 infection for adults
and pediatric patients (at least 25 kg) who are treatment-naive or to replace a current,
stable (meaning the patient had been taking the regimen for at least 6 months)
antiretroviral regimen in a virologically-suppressed patient (HIV-1 RNA less than 50
copies per milliliter) without a history of treatment failure or mutations that confer
resistance to any of the individual agents of Genvoya.

Dose: 1 tablet PO daily with food

Assessment:

« Combination HIV anti-retroviral treatment has become a more standardized
approach to treatment in the community. When patients prescribed these
medications are admitted to the hospital, it is not possible to substitute with
alternative agents

« FDA Black Box warnings: Genvoya has a boxed warning for severe, acute
exacerbations of hepatitis B. This risk is for patients co-infected with both HIV
and hepatitis B and applies if they discontinue products containing emtricitabine
and tenofovir (either tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) or tenofovir
alafenamide).

e Costimpact: $2,591 for #30 count bottle

Recommendation(s):

» The Pharmacy Service in cooperation with the ID Service recommended addition
of Genvoya to the formulary with the following criteria for use:
o Restricted to patients aiready taking Genvoya (or comparable agent
Stribild) for continuity of outpatient care during admission

o Restricted to ID physicians for new starts

« The P&T Committee approved the above recommendations and criteria for use.
Per discussion by Committee members, including Dr. Smith (Infectious
Diseases), Genvoya would not be routinely stocked but ordered when needed for
qualifying patients.

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
161



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

D tricity Medical Center SNOU

Ipratropium Metered Dose Inhaler (Atrovent): Recommendation for
formulary restriction

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Ipratropium is a short-acting antimuscarinic used for the chronic
management of COPD and asthma exacerbations

Background: Ipratropium is offered as a metered dose inhaler (MDI) device which
administers a fine mist that is inhaled up to 12 times daily. The medication may not be
shared between patients nor can it be sent home with the patient upon discharge.

Assessment.
¢ Each ipratropium MDI costs $338

» A therapeutically equivalent medication, ipratropium 0.02% nebulized solution
costs $0.13 per dose

» The Pharmacy Service has recommended a revision to the Automatic

Therapeutic Interchange policy to permit the conversion of ipratropium MDI to an
equipotent dose of ipratropium 0.02% nebulized solution

« A conversion from ipratropium MDI to ipratropium nebulized solution would save
TCMC approximately $9,400 annually

Recommendation(s):

e The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that all
orders for Atrovent be restricied to Puimonologists only.

o Per this agreement, Pharmacy will not routinely stock this inhaler with the
understanding that therapy would be delayed until the next day when the
inhaler could be ordered and delivered. Nebulized ipratropium solution
would be administered in the interim

s All other orders for Atrovent will be converted to an eguivalent dose of
ipratropium nebulized solution as per the Automatic Therapeutic Interchange
Policy

e Both recommendations above were reviewed and agreed upon by Dr. Yamanaka
(Pulmonary) and Amy Waldrop (Manager, Respiratory Therapy)

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

Irl-clty:l\_/_ledlcal Center R VOU

Lansoprazole solu-tab: Recommendation for formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Lansoprazole solu-tabs are no longer on contract through the hospital GPO
Vizient and now costs $130 per tablet

Background: Lansoprazole is a proton pump inhibitor (PP!). The solu-tab formulation
was added to the formulary in an effort to reduce drug costs by converting patients on
intravenous pantoprazole to an oral formulation which could be administered via gastric
tube. Oral pantoprazole is not an option for gastric tube administration as it cannot be
crushed.

Assessment:
¢ Intravenous pantoprazole costs $3 for a standard 40 mg dose. The conversion
from IV pantoprazole to lansoprazole solu-tab via gastric tube is no longer a cost
effective process

¢ There is no therapeutic advantage to converting patients from IV pantoprazole to
an oral PPI. The only benefit was cost, therefore it is appropriate to delay any
conversion until the patient can tolerate oral pantoprazole given PPI therapy is
still warranted

» >00% of orders for lansoprazole were placed by Pharmacists as part of the
Automatic IV to PO policy in an effort to reduce drug costs in qualifying patients

Recommendation(s):

¢ The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that
lansoprazole solu-tabs be removed from the TCMC formulary due to current and
anticipated future unavailability

» The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation to work
on amending the Pharmacy Automatic {V to PO protocol to remove the
recommended conversion from |V pantoprazole or PO lansoprazole solu-tabs

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

| @ Tri-City Medical Center =N OU

Medium Chain Triglycerides: Recommendation for formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Medium chain triglyceride (MCT) oil is a nutritional supplement. It has not
been ordered/dispensed in over 3 years

Background: MCT oil was primarily utilized by neonatologists as a nutritional
supplement in the NICU population

Assessment:

« Dr. Movahhedian (Chief, Neonatology) has indicated that this supplement is not
currently needed given other nutritional supplements on formulary

» Current supply currently expires on the shelf on a routine basis ($65/bottle)

Recommendation(s):

o The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that MCT
oil be removed from the TCMC formulary at this time

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
16



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

¢ Tri-City Medical Center __ SRYVOU

Mepivacaine Recommendation for formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None
Situation: A substantial supply of mepivacaine expired in late 2017.

Background: Mepivacaine is an amide anesthetic used as a nerve block for pain
procedures

Assessment:
* Mepivacaine 1.5% (30 mL) vials and mepivacine 3% (1.7 mL cartridges) are on
the TCMC formulary

= Neither product has been dispensed for at least 2 years and were stocked only in
the Surgery department

¢ The Anesthesia Service acknowledged that the product is not necessary for daily
patient care and feels that it could be removed from the formulary

Recommendation(s):

e The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that
mepivacaine in all strengths and formulations be removed from the TCMC
formulary due to lack of use and agreement from the Anesthesia Service

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
17



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

- W/ Tri-City Medical Center R NVOU

Nitroglycerin 0.3 mg/0.6 mg tablets: Recommendation for formulary
removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Nitroglycerin sublingual tablets are currently stocked in three strengths: 0.3
mg, 0.4 mg, 0.6 mg

Background: When nitroglycerin was historically added to the TCMC formulary, no
stipulation was made on the specific doses that would be stocked

Assessment:
¢ Nitroglycerin 0.4 mg is the gold standard dose for this medication when
administered sublingually

« Nitroglycerin 0.3 mg and 0.6 mg tablets routinely expire on the shelf due to non-
use

Recommendation(s):

e The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that
nitroglycerin 0.3 mg and 0.6 mg sublingual tablets be removed from the TCMC
formulary at this time

¢ Sublingual nitroglycerin 0.4 mg tablets remain available for use on the formulary

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
17



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

Gl S
:TI'I-_CIty M_edlcal Center o NVOU

Nitroglycerin 0.4 mg Spray: Recommendation for formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Nitroglycerin spray has increased in price to $100 per bottle. For regulatory
reasons, bottles cannot be shared between patients

Background: Nitroglycerin spray is stocked in STEMI kits, ED, and Cath Lab

Assessment:
« Nitroglycerin when administered as a spray has no documented clinical
advantage when compared to the standard sublingual tablet

o The use of sublingual tablets is the gold standard in ambulatory and emergency
settings and is often the only formutation carried by most hospitals

» Nitroglycerin 0.4 mg tablets cost $0.28 each

« The Cardiology Service and Emergency Department where this formulation is
used supported this formulary recommendation

Recommendation(s):

¢ The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that
nitroglycerin 0.4 mg spray be removed from the TCMC formulary at this time

 Sublingual nitroglycerin 0.4 mg tabiets remain available for use on the formulary

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411

17



(’3,) , ,. _ .- . _ " ADVANCED HEALTH CARE
¢ Tri-City Medical Center R YOU

Raltegravir (Isentress) tablet: Recommendation for formulary removal

Requestor: Manuel Escobar, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Dolutegravir (Tivicay) has been recommended for addition to the formulary
as the preferred integrase inhibitor and in place of raltegravir (Isentress).

Background: Raltegravir is an oral HIV integrase inhibitor used in combination with
other antiretroviral agents for the treatment of HIV-1 infection.

Assessment: Dolutegravir has demonstrated non inferiority to raltegravir and is
increasingly being used as the preferred integrase inhibitor in the outpatient setting.

Recommendation(s):

o Given the recommendation to add dolutegravir {Tivicay) as the preferred
integrase inhibitor, the P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service
recommendation to remove raltegravir (Isentress) from the hospital formulary

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
17.



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

\ ¢ TriCity Medical Center R VOU

Salmeterol (Serevent) Recommendation for formulary restriction

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Salmeterol is a long acting beta agonist indicated for the chronic
management of COPD and asthma

Background: Salmeterol is offered as a “diskus” device which administers a powder
that is inhaled twice daily. The medication may not be shared between patients nor can
it be sent home with the patient upon discharge.

Assessment:

e Each salmeterol device costs $206

» A therapeutically equivalent medication, formoterol nebulized solution costs $4
each

+ The Pharmacy Service has recommended a revision to the Automatic
Therapeutic Interchange policy to permit the conversion of salmeterol to an
equipotent dose of formoterol nebulized solution

« A conversion from salmeterol to formoterol nebulized solution would save TCMC
approximately $1000 annually

Recommendation(s):

o The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that all
orders for salmeterol inhalers be restricted to Pulmonologists only.

o Per this agreement, Pharmacy will not routinely stock this inhaler with the
understanding that therapy would be delayed until the next day when the
inhaler could be ordered and delivered. Nebulized formoterol solution
would be administered in the interim

» All other orders for salmeterol inhalers will be converted to an equivalent dose of
formoterol nebulized solution as per the Automatic Therapeutic Interchange
policy pending P&T approval

« Both recommendations above were reviewed and agreed upon by Dr. Yamanaka
(Pulmonary) and Amy Waldrop (Manager, Respiratory Therapy)

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
17



ADVANCED HEALTH CARE

el Qlyileoica Centers ~VOU

Tivicay (dolutegravir): Recommendation for formulary addition

Requestor: Manuel Escobar, PharmD, Infectious Diseases Pharmacist
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Tivicay is an HIV integrase inhibitor

Background: Tivicay is approved to be used in combination with other antiretroviral

agents for the treatment of HIV-1 infection in adults and pediatric patients weighing at
least 30 kg

Dose: Treatment-naive or treatment-experienced but integrase strand inhibitor-naive: 50
mg orally once daily

Integrase strand inhibitor (INSTI)-experienced with known or suspected INSTI-
associated resistance: 50 mg orally twice daily

Assessment:

e In clinical trials, Tivicay has demonstrated efficacy in combination with an
effective background regimen in treatment naive and antiretroviral-experienced
HIV infection

* FDA Biack Box wamings: None

¢ Cost impact: $1,444 for #30 count bottle

Recommendation(s):

e The Pharmacy Service in cooperation with the ID Service recommended addition
of Tivicay to the formulary with the following criteria for use:
o Restricted to patients already taking Tivicay for continuity of outpatient
care during admission

¢ Restricted to ID physicians for new starts

» The P&T Committee approved the above recommendations and criteria for use.
Per discussion by Committee members, including Dr. Smith (infectious
Diseases), Tivicay would not be routinely stocked but ordered when needed for
qualifying patients.

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > {760) 724-8411
17



ADVANCED HEALTH CARH

0 mricity edical Center

Verapamil Sustained Release (Calan SR): Recommendation for
formulary removal

Requestor: Oska Lawrence, PharmbD
Declared conflicts of interest: None

Situation: Verapamil is a non-dihydropyridine type calcium channel blocker with
vasodilating and negative chronotropic effects. It is used for the management of
hypertension, PSVT, and atrial fibrillation/flutter.

Background: Verapamil is offered as an immediate release, sustained-release, and
extended release product. Currently all three formulations are on the TCMC formulary.

Assessment:
¢ The availability of multiple long-acting preparations of verapamil is not cost
efficient and has resulted in medication errors

e The various long-acting verapamil preparations are considered clinically identical
in efficacy

¢ The Pharmacy Service is recommending a revision to the Automatic Therapeutic
Interchange policy in which orders for verapamil sustained-release (Calan
SR/Isoptin SR) would be converted to an equivalent dose of verapamil extended
release (Verelan ER)

Recommendation(s):

* The P&T Committee approved the Pharmacy Service recommendation that all
strengths of verapamil sustained-release (Calan SR/Isoptin SR) be removed from
the TCMC formulary at this time given conversion to therapeutically equivalent
product is possible

e All future orders for verapamil sustained-release {Calan SR/Isoptin SR) will be
converted to an equivalent dose of verapamil extended release (Verelan ER)
as per the Automatic Therapeutic Interchange Policy

4002 Vista Way, Oceanside, CA 92056 > (760) 724-8411
17



	PAC April.2018.1
	PAC April.2018.2

